The Pennsylvania State University The Graduate School Eberly College of Science

#### GRAVITATIONAL RADIATION WITH A POSITIVE

#### COSMOLOGICAL CONSTANT

A Dissertation in Physics by Béatrice Bonga

© 2017 Béatrice Bonga

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

August 2017

The dissertation of Béatrice Bonga was reviewed and approved<sup>\*</sup> by the following:

Abhay Ashtekar Eberly Professor of Physics Dissertation Advisor, Chair of Committee

Eugenio Bianchi Assistant Professor of Physics

Sarah Shandera Assistant Professor of Physics

Ping Xu Professor of Mathematics

Richard Robinett Professor of Physics Director of Graduate Studies

\*Signatures are on file in the Graduate School.

## Abstract

Gravitational radiation is well-understood in spacetimes that are asymptotically flat. However, our Universe is currently expanding at an accelerated rate, which is best described by including a positive cosmological constant,  $\Lambda$ , in Einstein's equations. Consequently, no matter how far one recedes from sources generating gravitational waves, spacetime curvature never dies and is not asymptotically flat. This dissertation provides first steps to incorporate  $\Lambda$  in the study of gravitational radiation by analyzing linearized gravitational waves on a de Sitter background.

Since the asymptotic structure of de Sitter is very different from that of Minkowski spacetime, many conceptual and technical difficulties arise. The limit  $\Lambda \rightarrow 0$  can be discontinuous: Although energy carried by gravitational waves is always positive in Minkowski spacetime, it can be arbitrarily negative in de Sitter spacetime. Additionally, many of the standard techniques, including 1/r expansions, are no longer applicable.

We generalize Einstein's celebrated quadrupole formula describing the power radiated on a flat background to de Sitter spacetime. Even a tiny  $\Lambda$  brings in qualitatively new features such as contributions from pressure quadrupole moments. Nonetheless, corrections induced by  $\Lambda$  are  $\mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda}t_c)$  with  $t_c$  the characteristic time scale of the source and are negligible for current gravitational wave observatories. We demonstrate this explicitly for a binary system in a circular orbit.

Radiative modes are encoded in the transverse-traceless part of the spatial components of a gravitational perturbation. When  $\Lambda = 0$ , one typically extracts these modes in the wave zone by projecting the gravitational perturbation onto the two-sphere orthogonal to the radial direction. We show that this method for waves emitted by spatially compact sources on Minkowski spacetime generically does not yield the transverse-traceless modes; not even infinitely far away. However, the difference between the transverse-traceless and projected modes is non-dynamical and disappears from all physical observables. When one is interested in 'Coulombic' information not captured by the radiative modes, the projection method does not suffice. This is, for example, important for angular momentum carried by gravitational waves. This result relies on Bondi-type expansions for asymptotically flat spacetimes.

# **Table of Contents**

List of	f Figures	vi
Prean	nble	vii
Ackno	wledgments	viii
<b>Chapt</b> Int 1.1 1.2	Ger 1roductionGravitational waves in our expanding Universe	<b>1</b> 1 6 10
Chapt	er 2	
Ge	neral formula for power emitted in de Sitter spacetimes	17
2.1	Introduction	17
2.2	Preliminaries	20
2.3	The retarded solution and quadrupole moments	26
	<ul><li>2.3.1 The late time and post-Newtonian approximations</li><li>2.3.2 Expressing the approximate solutions in terms of quadrupole</li></ul>	27
	moments	32
	2.3.3 The tail term and its properties	35
2.4	Time-varying quadrupole moment and energy flux	40
	2.4.1 $\mathcal{I}^+$ and the perturbed electric part $\mathcal{E}_{ab}$ of Weyl curvature	40
	2.4.2 Fluxes across $\mathcal{I}^+$	43
	2.4.3 Properties of fluxes across $\mathcal{I}^+$	47
2.5	Discussion	54
Chapt	er 3	
Po	wer radiated by a binary system in a de Sitter Universe	60
3.1	Introduction	60
3.2	Preliminaries: Physical set-up	62

3.3 Powe 3.4 Disci	r radiated	$\begin{array}{c} 65 \\ 70 \end{array}$
Chapter 4		
On the c	onceptual confusion in the notion of transversality	<b>72</b>
4.1 Intro	duction	72
4.2 Null	infinity and the Peeling behavior	76
4.2.1	Future null infinity $\mathcal{I}^+$	77
4.2.2	Peeling	78
4.3 Asyn	ptotic conditions on potentials	80
4.4 $A_a^{\perp}$ v	ersus $A_a^t$	86
4.4.1	The two notions $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$	86
4.4.2	Comparison	88
4.4.3	Fluxes of energy-momentum and angular momentum	89
4.4.4	Soft charges and electromagnetic memory	91
4.4.5	Summary	92
Conclusie 5.1 Sum 5.2 Look	on and outlook nary	<b>97</b> 98 101
ppendix A Transver A.1 Gene A.2 Tran	se-traceless decomposition of the quadrupole moment ral properties TT decomposition	<b>105</b> 105 108
Appendix B Point cha	arges and dipoles	112
Appendix C		
Various i	nvestigations in early Universe cosmology	116
C.1 Spat	ally closed Universe	118
C.2 Robu	stness of predictions of a quantum gravity extension to inflation	121
C.3 Cosn	nic variance in quasi-single field inflation	125

# **List of Figures**

1.1	Contrasting the conformal diagram of an asymptotically flat space- time with an asymptotically de Sitter spacetime	11
1.2	Illustration of the time-like and space-like character of the de Sitter time translation	14
2.1	A time changing quadrupole emitting gravitational waves in de Sitter spacetime	21
3.1	Physical set-up of a binary system in a circular orbit with fixed	
<u>२</u>	physical distance	66
0.2	Minkowski spacetime	67
3.3	Relation between power on $\mathcal{I}$ and the cosmological horizon in a de Sitter spacetime	71
C.1	Ratio of the power spectrum of primordial fluctuations in the closed	190
$C_{2}$	FLRW model with $M_k = -0.005$ to that in the flat model Deviation from the consistency relation $(r + 8n - 0)$ for a spatially	120
0.2	closed Universe with $\Omega_{\rm k} = -0.005$	121
C.3	Comparison of LQC corrections to the tensor-to-scalar ratio between	
	the Starobinsky and quadratic potential	124

## Preamble

"At this point we must say a few words about the famous *lambda*. The field-equations, in their most general form, contain a term multiplied by a constant, which is denoted by the Greek letter  $\lambda$  (lambda), and which is sometimes called the "cosmological constant". This is a name without any meaning, which was only conferred upon because it was thought appropriate that it should have a name, and because it appeared to have something to do with the constitution of the universe; but it must not be inferred that, since we have given it a name, we know what it means. We have, in fact, not the slightest inkling of what its real significance is. It is put in the equations in order to give the greatest possible degree of mathematical generality, but, so far as its mathematical function is concerned, it is entirely undetermined: it may be positive or negative, it might also be zero. Purely mathematical symbols have no meaning by themselves; its is the privilege of pure mathematician, to quote Bertrand Russell, not to know what they are talking about. They — the symbols — only get a meaning by the interpretation that is put on the equations when they are applied to the solution of physical problems. It is the physicist, and not the mathematician, who must know what he is talking about."

Willem de Sitter, in Kosmos, a course of six lectures on the development of our insight into the structure of the Universe delivered for the Lowell Institute in Boston in November 1931 [1]

## Acknowledgments

My dissertation would not be complete without thanking all the wonderful people who made this venture possible. They did not only contribute to the completion of this dissertation, but they made the process and my years at Penn State more instructive, inspiring and enjoyable than I could have ever imagined.

First and foremost, I would like to thank my advisor Abhay Ashtekar. As a researcher, his broad knowledge of physics is admirable while his enthusiasm and passion for the field have been nothing short of infectious. As a supervisor, he has guided me through this journey with incredibly valuable feedback combined with exceptional kindness and patience. His academic professionalism has provided me with a great example: for I cannot help but aspire to continuously push myself to become a better researcher.

I would also like to thank the other members of my committee, consisting of Eugenio Bianchi, Ping Xu and Sarah Shandera. Eugenio often informed me about the latest arXiv papers or interesting facts through regular chats during lunch and social events, while Ping served as a valuable outside member. Sarah broadened my horizon through our collaboration on cosmic variance in quasi-single field inflation. Her cosmological point of view added to my overall understanding of physics.

Another collaborator whom I ought to thank is Aruna Kesavan. I have had the good fortune of working with her extensively and I fondly look back at the great team we formed. Aruna was dearly missed during the final year of my PhD. In the first year of my PhD, I connected with Brajesh Gupt during a conference in Warsaw. Initially we were merely acquaintances, but due to a twist in fate he became my next-door-office member and as result of many enticing discussions one of my collaborators. I am not only thankful for the many physics discussions we had, but I am also grateful for the times we spend talking about travel, food, culture and brewing beer. In a later stage, we were joined by Nelson Yokomizo whose broad knowledge helped to a better understanding of many physics concepts. Yet, my time at Penn State most certainly would not have been the same without the interesting interactions with my dear colleagues Anne-Sylvie Deutsch and Suddho Brahma. Other amazing people I have met at the Institute of Gravitation & the Cosmos include Alejandro Satz, Anuradha Gupta, Bekir Baytas, Cody Messick, Elliot Nelson, George Paily, Javier Olmedo, Lucas Hackl, Marc Geiller, Miguel Fernandez, Monica Rincon-Ramirez, Norbert Bodendorfer, Saroj Adhikari, Ssohrab Borhanian, Sydney Chamberlin, Yasha Neiman and Wolfgang Wieland. Thank you for all your conversations, both academically and otherwise, as well as the many international cooking evenings and wine & cheese nights. Plus of course, the other faculty members at IGC Bangalore Sathyaprakash, Chad Hanna, Donghui Jeong and Martin Bojowald,. I cannot help but give a special thanks to Randi Neshteruk, my 'Penn State mommy', for making my life so much easier with her helping hand in administrative matters and her lovely chit-chat.

I also would like to thank the Physics department at Penn State for the many opportunities provided for academic and personal growth for me and my fellow graduate students.

During the final year of my PhD, I got to visit the Perimeter Institute in Canada and the Horace Hearne Jr. Institute for Theoretical Physics at Louisiana State University, each for two months. The people at both institutions deserve a shoutout for their hospitality. In addition, I would like to extend my gratitude to the general relativity, cosmology and quantum gravity communities. They made me feel welcome from the very first instant and the intellectually stimulating environment they created through discussions and conferences has been one of a kind.

Last but not least, I would like to thank those who are closest to me for their unconditional love and support. My parents have always given me the freedom to choose my own path and I can only say that I am eternally grateful for that. These last two months of my PhD were made even more special by my sister Caroline visiting, whom brought more color (and desserts :)) into my life in her own wonderfully chaotic and lively manner. I would also like to thank my brother Rutger for 'dropping me off' at the start of my PhD and sharing many fun facts about the antiquities. It goes without saying that I will forever cherish the weekly Sunday Skype sessions with my grandmothers. They always brightened my day with their anecdotes, love and genuine interest. On a final note, I would like to thank Makoto-chan for supporting me to pursue my dreams. You have been my rock from the other side of the ocean and I will forever cherish all the travel we undertook together during my PhD.

# Chapter 1 | Introduction

#### 1.1 Gravitational waves in our expanding Universe

We live in exciting times: the recent gravitational wave detections by LIGO mark the beginning of the era of gravitational wave astronomy [2-4]. LIGO's first observation of gravitational waves took place on September 14, 2015. The observed gravitational waves are believed to have been emitted during the coalescence of two back holes that took place 1.34 billion years ago. This observation was not just the first direct detection of gravitational waves, but was also the first observation of two black holes orbiting each other, the first observation of the merger of two black holes and the first observation of a black hole with a mass of  $62M_{\odot}$  (which is much heavier than the masses of stellar-mass black holes determined using X-ray observations, which all fall in the range  $5 - 30 M_{\odot}$  [5]). The second and third events LIGO detected were also a result of the coalescence of two stellar-mass black holes. As the number of gravitational wave observations resulting from the merger of two black holes increases, we will gain valuable insights about the astrophysical formation process of black holes, the progenitors of (stellar-mass) black hole binaries and their abundance in our Universe [6,7]. The expectation is that gravitational wave observations are not limited to those produced during a black hole binary coalescence. The merger of two neutron stars or a neutron star with a black hole also fall within the observable range of LIGO and future gravitational wave detectors. Once these events are observed, they will likely inform us about various interesting properties of neutron stars such as its equation of state [8-12]. This in turn will provide insight on how matter behaves under extreme densities and pressures. Furthermore, other events such as supernovae and events not yet known

to us may potentially be observed with gravitational waves. Thus, gravitational wave observations will contribute to our understanding of the Universe we inhabit.

Given the recent detections, it is difficult to believe that the reality of gravitational waves was debated over several decades! A year after Einstein published the equations of general relativity [13], he provided the first relativistic description of gravitational waves by linearizing these equations off a Minkowski background in the presence of an external, time-changing source [14].<sup>1</sup> However, about twenty years later, Einstein wrote to Max Born that gravitational waves are artifacts of the linear approximation and do not exist in full, non-linear general relativity:

"Together with a young collaborator [Nathan Rosen], I arrived at the interesting result that gravitational waves do not exist, though they had been assumed a certainty to the first approximation. This shows that the non-linear general relativistic field equations can tell us more or, rather, limit us more than we have believed up to now." [16]

Einstein came to this conclusion based on work he had done with Rosen in which they thought that they had shown that for some gravitational waves that are exact solutions in general relativity, one was always faced with singularities. However, Einstein and Rosen had made a mistake. The 'singularities' they found were coordinate artifacts and disappeared once the appropriate coordinates were used. Although this mistake was pointed out by a referee and the claim that gravitational waves do not exist did not appear in the final published version of the paper, confusion persisted. Indeed Rosen continued to believe that gravitational waves do not exist for several more decades. This confusion was finally removed by the work of Bondi and Sachs in the early 1960s and the community reached a consensus on the reality of gravitational waves [17–21]. Bondi, Sachs and others developed rigorous mathematical methods to show that gravitational wave are indeed physical as they radiate energy out to infinity. Their key insight was to use an expansion along null directions. Some fifteen years after their seminal work, gravitational waves were observed, albeit indirectly. Hulse and Taylor measured the orbital decay rate of the period of a binary system composed of a pulsar (i.e., a highly magnetized neutron star) and a neutron star orbiting a common center of mass [22]. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The idea of gravitational waves was explored before by Lagrange and Poincaré among others (for a review, see [15]).

observed orbital decay rate matched very accurately the prediction from general relativity based on the emission of gravitational radiation (today the agreement is to an accuracy of 0.3 %! [23]). The recent *direct* detections by LIGO completely settles the issue and unequivocally shows that gravitational waves are physical.

This is not just an exciting time for gravitational wave science. In the last century, many revolutionary ideas replaced incorrect preconceptions about our Universe as technology advanced and cosmological observations became possible. Until the early 1950s, the steady state model – in which the observable Universe remains unchanged – was popular among many leading physicists. However, observations of quasars, abundances of light elements and the cosmic microwave background refuted the steady state model and instead favored the hot Big Bang model, which describes the Universe as continuously expanding. In fact, in 1998, supernovae measurements showed that today the Universe is even expanding in an accelerated fashion [24,25]. The current accelerated expansion has now also been supported by cosmic microwave background observations [26]. The simplest and most successful explanation of this acceleration is to assume that there is a positive but small cosmological constant  $\Lambda$ , which in geometrized units is given by  $\Lambda \sim 10^{-52} \text{ m}^{-2}$ . This is potentially problematic for gravitational wave science as current gravitational wave theory is based on a framework with  $\Lambda = 0$ . Given the smallness of  $\Lambda$ , one may expect that the  $\Lambda = 0$  framework should suffice and that  $\Lambda$  only introduces small corrections. However, the rich structure of the  $\Lambda = 0$  framework is lost when  $\Lambda$  is no longer zero, *irrespective of how small*  $\Lambda$  *is!* For instance, there is no analog of the Bondi news tensor [27–29] that describes gravitational radiation in a gauge invariant way in full, non-linear general relativity with  $\Lambda = 0$  [30, 31]. Additionally, the radiation field  $\Psi_4^0$  that is heavily used in both analytical discussions of gravitational radiation and numerical simulations in the  $\Lambda = 0$  context acquires an ambiguity in the  $\Lambda > 0$  case, called the 'origin dependence' by Penrose [32, 33] and 'direction-dependence' by Krtouš and Podolský [34]. Furthermore, the peeling theorem that describes the asymptotic behavior of the Weyl tensor for a large class of solutions to Einstein's equations with  $\Lambda = 0$  does not apply when  $\Lambda > 0$ . Thus, a new theoretical platform to study gravitational radiation in spacetimes with  $\Lambda > 0$ is needed.

The extension of the framework to study gravitational radiation with  $\Lambda = 0$ to  $\Lambda > 0$  is the main theme of this dissertation. In view of the smallness of the

observed value of  $\Lambda$  – despite the dramatic conceptual differences and the lack of the rich structure of the  $\Lambda = 0$  framework – the effect of  $\Lambda$  is expected to be small for gravitational wave observations. For instance, the expectation is that  $\Lambda$ does not significantly alter the radiation emitted by the Hulse-Taylor system and thereby its orbital decay rate because of a natural separation of scales: Its orbital period is small (7.75 hours) compared to the time scale associated with  $\Lambda$  (10<sup>21</sup> hours) and at a luminosity distance of 6.4 kpc, it is nearby from a cosmological perspective. But a clean framework is needed to say with confidence how small the corrections are that  $\Lambda$  introduces, especially, when the sources are at cosmological separations and gravitational waves have been traveling distances of the order of a Gpc before reaching us. Much of the work that addresses the inclusion of  $\Lambda > 0$  in the study of gravitational radiation has already been published in a series of papers with my advisor, Professor Abhay Ashtekar, and Dr. Aruna Kesavan [31,35–37] as well as in Dr. Kesavan's dissertation [38]. In this dissertation, we only discuss the third paper of this series in detail.<sup>2</sup> The main results from the first two papers will be summarized in the remaining part of this introduction. The third paper appears in Chapter 2 and describes at the linearized level gravitational radiation generated by a time-varying source using a multipole expansion for  $\Lambda > 0$ . Various new techniques are needed: the standard 1/r expansion does not apply when  $\Lambda$  is no longer zero nor can one extract the radiative degrees of freedom by projecting the gravitational wave onto the two-sphere orthogonal to the radial direction, as is typically done in gravitational wave theory. Using newly developed methods, we also derive a general formula for power radiated by an arbitrary source. This general formula for power radiated is applied to a concrete physical example in Chapter 3, where we study the power radiated by a binary system in a circular orbit. The power radiated by this system on a de Sitter background is the same in the high-frequency limit as the power radiated in Minkowski spacetime, despite the fact that the two notions of power refer to different Killing vector fields. This chapter is based on work in collaboration with Dr. Jeffrey Hazboun [39]. In Chapter 4, we discuss why in the context of linearized perturbations on a Minkowski background one *is* able to extract the radiative degrees of freedom very far away from the source by projecting the gravitational perturbation onto the two-sphere. A priori, there

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>One extra section, Section 2.3.3, has been added to the published version that includes additional insights regarding the tail term that have not been published before.

is no reason why this method should work: The radiative degrees of freedom are encoded in the gauge-invariant part of the gravitational perturbation, which is the transverse-traceless part of the spatial components of the gravitational perturbation and not just the components on the spatial two-sphere. This is easily understood by realizing that taking the transverse-traceless part of any spatial tensor is a local operation in momentum space, but *global* in real space. Projecting the gravitational perturbation on the two-sphere orthogonal to the radial direction, on the other hand, is a *local* operation in real space. Nonetheless, this method has been used in the literature repeatedly while a proof of the validity of this method existed only for plane waves. Waves emitted by astrophysical sources such as neutron stars or binary systems composed of two black holes, are not plane waves. Thus, this specific equivalence of the two notions of transversality is not physically relevant. For waves emitted by compact sources, we show in fact that the two notions of transversality in general do not agree – not even very far away from the sources! In particular, this is true for the radiative modes extracted by both methods. However, these radiative modes only differ by a function on the 2-sphere far away from the sources and thus they contain the same dynamical information. As a result, all physical quantities extracted from only the radiative modes using either notion of transversality agree in the limit that one is infinitely far away from the sources. Yet there is one surprising feature that arises due to the presence of sources. Angular momentum carried by gravitational waves *cannot* be expressed using merely the radiative modes; additional 'Coulombic information' is needed. Since projecting the gravitational perturbation onto the two-sphere only captures the two radiative degrees of freedom, this projection method is not sufficient to determine angular momentum radiated. On the other hand, the transverse-traceless part of the spatial components of the gravitational perturbation provides additional fields that carry the relevant information needed to determine angular momentum radiated. We will also comment why the two notions of transversality do not agree for spacetimes with a positive  $\Lambda$ . This is based on joint work with Prof. Ashtekar [40]. This dissertation concludes with a summary and outlook in Chapter 5. In Appendix A and B, some of the details of the calculations are provided.

During my PhD, I have also worked on several issues in early Universe cosmology. The publications that resulted from these projects address an entirely different class of issues and are not included in this dissertation. A summary of these papers is provided in Appendix C. For a list of all publications during my PhD, see the vita attached at the end of this dissertation.

We use the following conventions. Throughout we assume that the underlying spacetime is 4-dimensional and set c=1. The spacetime metric has signature -,+,+,+. The curvature tensors are defined via:  $2\nabla_{[a}\nabla_{b]}k_c = R_{abc}{}^dk_d$ ,  $R_{ac} = R_{abc}{}^b$  and  $R = g^{ab}R_{ab}$ . We use Penrose's abstract index notation [33, 41]:  $a, b, \ldots$  will be the abstract indices labeling tensors while indices  $\bar{a}, \bar{b}, \ldots$  will be numerical indices. In particular, components of a tensor field  $T_{ab}$  (in a specified chart) are denoted by  $T_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}$ .

#### **1.2** Even a tiny $\Lambda$ can cast a long shadow

The influential work by Bondi, Sachs and collaborators used a systematic expansion of the metric as one moves in null directions away from the sources generating gravitational waves [17–21]. The idea being that as one moves far away spacetime becomes approximately flat and one can disentangle gravitational radiation from the background curvature. One cannot make this distinction between radiation and background curvature *near* the source(s), as general relativity does not provide a canonical decomposition of spacetime into a background and a dynamical perturbation. This interplay between geometry and the gravitational field makes general relativity both the challenging and interesting theory that it is. It is also one of the main reasons for the long standing confusion on whether gravitational waves are true physical phenomena or mere coordinate artifacts that can be gotten rid off by a coordinate transformation.

For a large class of spacetimes with  $\Lambda = 0$  satisfying boundary conditions that capture the idea that sources decay, the metric  $g_{ab}$  approaches a flat Minkowski metric  $\eta_{ab}$  as one recedes from the sources along null directions:

$$g_{ab} = \eta_{ab} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{r}\right) \tag{1.1}$$

where the fall-off behavior is with respect to the Cartesian chart of the flat metric  $\eta_{ab}$ . However, this  $\eta_{ab}$  is not canonical in the presence of gravitational waves. In fact, there are *infinitely* many Minkowskian metrics that  $g_{ab}$  approaches to. For instance, instead of eq. (1.1), as one moves far away from the sources along a null

direction,  $g_{ab}$  could also be written as

$$g_{ab} = \eta'_{ab} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{r'}\right) \tag{1.2}$$

where  $\eta'_{ab} \neq \eta_{ab}$ . The two Minkowski metrics are not the same, but differ only by  $\mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{r})$  (or equivalently,  $\mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{r'})$ ). To make this explicit, let us label the Cartesian coordinates of  $\eta_{ab}$  by (t, x, y, z) and those of  $\eta'_{ab}$  by (t', x', y', z'). A possible relation between the two coordinate systems is:  $t' = t + a(\theta, \varphi)$  with  $a(\theta, \varphi)$  an arbitrary function on the two-sphere and x' = x, y' = y and z' = z. For instance, take  $a(\theta,\varphi) = \cos\theta$ . Then a straightforward calculation shows that  $\eta_{ab} = \eta'_{ab} + \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{r'})$ . Spacetimes with this fall-off behavior are called asymptotically flat spacetimes. When  $\Lambda$  is no longer zero, but positive, no matter how far one moves away from the source, the spacetime curvature never dies off. Ergo, the metric does not approach a Minkowski metric. Instead it seems natural to assume that far away from the source the metric approaches a de Sitter metric (which is the maximally symmetric vacuum solution of Einstein's equations when  $\Lambda > 0$ , just as the Minkowski metric is the maximally symmetric vacuum solution when  $\Lambda = 0$ ). However, using a Bondi-type expansion for axi-symmetric solutions to Einstein's equations, it was shown in [42] that the metric only approaches the de Sitter metric in the absence of gravitational radiation. Thus, if we allow gravitational waves, the metric differs from the de Sitter metric far away from the sources already at leading order in the Bondi-type expansion! This illustrates how drastically different the study of gravitational radiation in the presence of a positive  $\Lambda$  is in comparison to when  $\Lambda = 0.$ 

Penrose removed the coordinate dependent description of Bondi et al by reformulating the metric expansions along null directions in more geometrical terms using conformal techniques [43]. He showed that by rescaling the physical metric  $g_{ab}$  by a conformal factor  $\Omega$  such that the rescaled metric is  $\tilde{g}_{ab} = \Omega^2 g_{ab}$ , one can attach a boundary to spacetime. This boundary is the surface on which  $\Omega = 0$ and is denoted by  $\mathcal{I}$  (pronounced as 'scri'). Physically, it is the place where all null geodesics end and it is the natural arena to study gravitational radiation. On  $\mathcal{I}$ , gravitational radiation can be extracted unambiguously in a gauge-invariant manner and one cannot confuse the 'background' with gravitational waves. For asymptotically flat spacetimes, Einstein's equations tell us that the normal vector to  $\mathcal{I}$ , given by  $n_a := \nabla_a \Omega$ , has a vanishing norm. Hence,  $\mathcal{I}$  is a null surface in this scenario. However, for asymptotically de Sitter spacetimes (the analog of asymptotically flat spacetimes but with  $\Lambda > 0$ ), one finds that  $\mathcal{I}$  is not a null boundary, but a spatial boundary. This changes the standard framework of gravitational radiation with  $\Lambda = 0$  drastically when incorporating a positive cosmological constant.

Most importantly, since  $\mathcal{I}$  of asymptotically de Sitter spacetimes is space-like, its normal vector is time-like and does not induce any structure on this surface. This is in contrast to asymptotically flat spacetimes for which  $\mathcal{I}$  is ruled by its normal vector  $n^a$  that endows  $\mathcal{I}$  with additional structure (for null surfaces, its normal vector is also tangential to the surface). The null normal is one of the two key players in the universal structure of asymptotically flat spacetimes. The other being the induced metric on  $\mathcal{I}$ . To be precise, the universal structure of any asymptotically flat spacetime is given by a conformal class of 3-dimensional, null metrics on  $\mathcal{I}$ ,  $q_{ab}$ , and its normal:  $\{q_{ab}, n^a\} = \{\omega^2 q_{ab}, \omega^{-1} n^a\}$ . A transformation that preserves this universal structure is considered an asymptotic symmetry. The group of all these transformations is the asymptotic symmetry group. In other words, the asymptotic symmetry group is the quotient of the group of diffeomorphisms on the physical spacetime that preserve the boundary conditions by its subgroup of diffeomorphisms that are asymptotically identity. If  $\mathcal{I}$  had no special structure, this group would simply be the infinite-dimensional group of all diffeomorphisms on  $\mathcal{I}$ , Diff $(\mathcal{I})$ . Due to the structure induced by the normal vector  $n^a$  for asymptotically flat spacetimes, its asymptotic symmetry group is not  $\text{Diff}(\mathcal{I})$  but the Bondi-Metzner-Sachs (BMS) group.<sup>3</sup> The BMS group mimics the structure of the Poincaré group: The Poincaré group is the semi-direct product of the group of translations with the Lorentz group and the BMS group is the semi-direct product of the group of supertranslations with the Lorentz group. Supertranslations can be thought of as angle dependent translations. Thus, the BMS group is larger than the Poincaré group. This enlargement of the group is due to the non-linearities of Einstein's equations and does not appear if one would work with the linearized approximation. This is closely related to the fact that there is no canonical flat metric  $\eta_{ab}$  on  $\mathcal{I}$ . The BMS group has a four-dimensional normal subgroup and therefore admits a unique translation subgroup [21]. Asymptotic symmetries play a crucial role in general relativity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>If a spacetime possesses a Killing vector field, this Killing vector field naturally extends to a BMS vector field on  $\mathcal{I}$ .

because they give a physical interpretation to certain conserved quantities on  $\mathcal{I}$ . For instance, the conserved quantities associated with the translation subgroup of the BMS group correspond to energy and momentum radiated by gravitational waves. An application of the calculation of momentum radiated, for instance, is black hole kicks that have been studied in detail in numerical relativity and are of astrophysical interest [44, 45].

When considering asymptotically de Sitter spacetimes, the loss of the additional structure provided by the normal to  $\mathcal{I}$  is severe. The asymptotic symmetry group is no longer reduced from  $\text{Diff}(\mathcal{I})$  to a smaller group like the BMS group. Instead, the asymptotic symmetry group remains the infinite-dimensional group of all diffeomorphisms on  $\mathcal{I}$ . Consequently, one cannot extract physics from the asymptotic behavior of the gravitational field at  $\mathcal{I}$  in the same way as for asymptotically flat spacetimes. It is unclear which fluxes to interpret as energy (or momentum or angular momentum) as there are no special vector fields. A natural solution to this problem would be to strengthen the boundary conditions to remedy this lack of structure. This approach has been applied successfully for asymptotically anti-de Sitter spacetimes (for which  $\Lambda < 0$ ). For asymptotically anti-de Sitter spacetimes, in addition to the standard boundary conditions that mimic those for asymptotically flat spacetimes, one also requires the intrinsic metric on  $\mathcal{I}$  to be conformally flat. This reduces the asymptotic symmetry group from  $\text{Diff}(\mathcal{I})$  to the anti-de Sitter group. Implementing the same condition for asymptotically de Sitter spacetimes, seems promising at first as this nicely reduces the asymptotic symmetry group to the de Sitter group SO(1,4).<sup>4</sup> In addition, various exact solutions with a positive  $\Lambda$  satisfy this condition such as Kerr-de Sitter and Friedmann-Lemaître-Robertson-Walker (FLRW) spacetimes. However, this strengthening of the boundary condition throws out the baby with the bath water. If the intrinsic metric on  $\mathcal{I}$  is conformally flat, then the leading order part of the magnetic part of the Weyl tensor,  $\mathcal{B}_{ab}$ , vanishes on  $\mathcal{I}$ . We showed that the vanishing of  $\mathcal{B}_{ab}$  implies that all fluxes across  $\mathcal{I}$ vanish as well. Thus, this extra boundary condition does not rule out gravitational radiation entirely, but severely restricts it as the radiation that reaches  $\mathcal{I}$  does not carry any flux of energy, momentum or angular momentum.<sup>5</sup> Thus, this condition

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Or a subgroup of SO(1,4) depending on the topology of  $\mathcal{I}$ . For details on this technical point, see Section 4.3 in [31].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>This is explicitly illustrated by studying the solutions homogeneous perturbations on a de Sitter background. These solutions have two independent modes that are, in the cosmology

is not viable as it does not allow one to study properties of the gravitational field on  $\mathcal{I}$ .

Why is this condition that is so advantageous for asymptotically anti-de Sitter spacetimes not useful for asymptotically de Sitter spacetimes? The answer has (again) to do with the nature of  $\mathcal{I}$ . Asymptotically anti-de Sitter spacetimes have a time-like  $\mathcal{I}$ . Therefore, to make the evolution well-defined additional input on  $\mathcal{I}$  is needed. Requiring the intrinsic metric on  $\mathcal{I}$  to be conformally flat, or equivalently  $\mathcal{B}_{ab}$  to be zero on  $\mathcal{I}$ , makes the evolution well-defined. It can be regarded as a reflective boundary condition. (Gravitational waves in this case also do not carry away energy-momentum or angular momentum across  $\mathcal{I}$ , which is not surprising given the reflective nature of this boundary condition.) Thus, the space-like nature of  $\mathcal{I}$  is what makes asymptotically de Sitter spacetimes so unique. This point is also illustrated by evolving Maxwell's equations on a de Sitter background. Requiring that the magnetic field  $B_a$  vanishes on any arbitrary space-like slice (including  $\mathcal{I}$ ) is a severe restriction on the set of solutions: It cuts the set of allowable solutions in half. In contrast, setting  $B_a$  to zero on a time-like slice is a mild condition.

In summary, at this point, the study of gravitational radiation with a positive  $\Lambda$ in full, non-linear general relativity is at an impasse. Not imposing any additional structure on  $\mathcal{I}$  leaves one with an asymptotic symmetry group that is so large that one cannot extract any physics from it. Whereas imposing a natural extra boundary condition, which also has successfully been used for asymptotically anti-de Sitter spacetimes, is so strong that it rules out any fluxes across  $\mathcal{I}$ . A new framework is being constructed to overcome this difficulty and an overview of the main ideas can be found in [46]. Especially given the past controversy regarding the physical reality of gravitational waves, a thorough understanding of gravitational radiation when  $\Lambda > 0$  in non-linear general relativity is important.

#### 1.2.1 Linearized gravity off de Sitter spacetime

The issue regarding the lack of a special group on  $\mathcal{I}$  is naturally circumvented in the linearized approximation. In this case, one can use the isometries of the de Sitter background metric and introduce gravitational waves as perturbations

literature, often referred to as the 'decaying' and 'growing' mode. The decaying mode vanishes on  $\mathcal{I}$ , while the growing mode is non-zero on  $\mathcal{I}$ . The magnetic part of the Weyl tensor vanishes on  $\mathcal{I}$  only if the growing mode is set to zero. This demonstrates the gravity of this condition: half the degrees of freedom of the gravitational perturbation are killed by fiat!



**Figure 1.1.** On the left, the conformal diagram representing a star when  $\Lambda = 0$  is illustrated. The right diagram shows a spacetime with a star when  $\Lambda > 0$ . It is immediate from these diagrams that when  $\Lambda = 0$ ,  $\mathcal{I}$  is null and when  $\Lambda > 0$ ,  $\mathcal{I}$  is space-like.

on this background metric. Therefore, we have analyzed linearized fields on a de Sitter background in detail. The lessons learned from this analysis serve as important checks in the final construction of the framework that allows the study of gravitational radiation when  $\Lambda > 0$ . This is a similar approach to the development of the framework of asymptotically flat spacetimes that was only built after one had a strong intuition from working with linearized fields on a Minkowski background. Here, I will summarize the results from our study of linearized *homogeneous* gravitational perturbations on a de Sitter background. The rest of this dissertation is (mainly) dedicated to the study of gravitational waves generated by a source.

First, before studying perturbations on a de Sitter background, let us contrast the causal structure of Minkowski with de Sitter spacetime. The ultimate aim is to develop a framework to study gravitational radiation emitted by an isolated system such as a single star or binary system. Therefore, let us focus on contrasting an isolated system, confined to a spatially bounded world tube for all time, in spacetimes with  $\Lambda = 0$  and  $\Lambda > 0$ . The conformal diagram of both these spacetimes is depicted in Figure 1.1. The matter world tube has future and past end-points in both situations, denoted by  $i^{\pm}$ . However, while the future of  $i^{-}$  in the  $\Lambda = 0$  case is the entire Minkowski spacetime, for  $\Lambda > 0$ , it is only the future Poincaré patch of de Sitter. Thus, the causal future of this source covers only the future Poincaré patch,  $M_{\rm P}^+$ . No observer whose world line is confined to the past Poincaré patch can see the isolated system or detect the radiation it emits. Therefore, to study this system, it suffices to restrict oneself to the future Poincaré patch  $M_{\rm P}^+$  rather than the full de Sitter spacetime. In conformal coordinates  $(\eta, x, y, z)$  adapted to this patch, the de Sitter metric  $\bar{g}_{ab}$  takes the form

$$\bar{g}_{ab} = a^2(\eta) \mathring{g}_{ab} \quad \text{with} \quad \mathring{g}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}} \mathrm{d}x^{\bar{a}} \mathrm{d}x^b = (-\mathrm{d}\eta^2 + \mathrm{d}\vec{x}^2),$$
(1.3)

where the scale factor is  $a(\eta) = -(H\eta)^{-1}$  and the Hubble parameter H is related to the cosmological constant  $\Lambda$  by  $H := \sqrt{\Lambda/3}$ . The comoving spatial coordinates span the entire real line  $(-\infty, \infty)$ , while the conformal time coordinate  $\eta$  takes values in  $(-\infty, 0)$ . From this form, it is obvious that the de Sitter spacetime is *locally* conformally related to Minkowski spacetime with the scale factor playing the role of the conformal factor. Hence, locally the null cone structure is in the same in both spacetimes. *Globally*, the two spacetimes are very different as is evident from their conformal diagrams.

One of the important lessons from our study of gravitational perturbations is that the limit  $\Lambda \to 0$  is subtle. This subtlety can already be illustrated by examining the de Sitter background metric: Taking  $\Lambda \to 0$  of the metric in (1.3) is not well-defined. One needs to use the differential structure induced on the Poincaré patch  $M_{\rm P}^+$  by the  $(t, \vec{x})$  coordinates rather than the  $(\eta, \vec{x})$  coordinates, where the proper time t is related to the conformal time  $\eta$  via  $H\eta = -e^{-Ht}$ .<sup>6</sup> In the  $(t, \vec{x})$  chart, we obtain in the limit  $\Lambda \to 0$ 

$$\bar{g}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}\mathrm{d}x^{\bar{a}}\mathrm{d}x^{\bar{b}} = -\mathrm{d}t^2 + e^{2Ht}\,\mathrm{d}\vec{x}^2 \quad \rightarrow \quad -\mathrm{d}t^2 + \mathrm{d}\vec{x}^2 =: \mathring{\eta}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}\mathrm{d}x^{\bar{a}}\mathrm{d}x^{\bar{b}}\,. \tag{1.4}$$

Note that the Minkowski metric  $\mathring{\eta}_{ab}$  is distinct from  $\mathring{g}_{ab}$  in (1.3), which is also flat, because each of the Cartesian coordinates of  $\mathring{\eta}_{ab}$  takes the full range of values, while  $\eta$  in  $\mathring{g}_{ab}$  is restricted to the (negative) half plane.

In addition, gravitational perturbations on a de Sitter background acquire a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The  $(t, \vec{x})$  chart is not the only chart in which the limit  $\Lambda \to 0$  is well-defined. In fact, any de Sitter coordinate system that is smoothly related to the  $(t, \vec{x})$  chart in the limit  $\Lambda \to 0$  is a valid chart to take the limit. The differentiable structure of the coordinates determines whether the limit is well-defined. For instance, the well-known static coordinate chart is another example in which the limit  $\Lambda \to 0$  is well-defined.

hereditary term and propagate not only sharply along the null cone but also inside the null cone. This is different from linearized perturbations on a Minkowski background, which propagate strictly along the null cone. How does this come about? Although the de Sitter metric is conformally flat, the equation satisfied by the metric perturbation is *not* conformally invariant. As a result, the expression for gravitational perturbations obtains a tail term due to the backscattering off the de Sitter curvature.<sup>7</sup>

Furthermore, we derived formulas for energy-momentum and angular momentum carried by gravitational waves on a de Sitter background. Conserved quantities for test matter, such as scalar, Maxwell or Yang-Mills fields, can be readily constructed using their stress-energy tensor. Linearized gravitational fields, on the other hand, do not have a gauge invariant, local stress-energy tensor because in general relativity gravity is absorbed into spacetime geometry. Therefore, a new strategy is needed. A convenient route is provided by the covariant Hamiltonian framework. The Hamiltonian framework has also been used effectively for gravitational waves in full, non-linear general relativity with  $\Lambda = 0$ , where it leads to flux integrals associated with the BMS asymptotic symmetries [47]. Here, the covariant phase space  $\Gamma_{\rm Cov}$  – that forms the foundation of this framework – consists of the gauge fixed solutions  $\gamma_{ab}$  to the linearized Einstein's equations in the presence of a positive  $\Lambda$ . Each Killing vector field K on  $M_{\rm P}^+$  naturally defines a vector field  $\mathcal{K}$  on  $\Gamma_{\rm Cov}$  via  $\mathcal{K} := \mathcal{L}_K \gamma_{ab}$ .<sup>8</sup> The flow generated by the vector field  $\mathcal{K}$  preserves the natural symplectic structure  $\omega$  of  $\Gamma_{\rm Cov}$  and thus generates a one-parameter family of canonical transformations on  $(\Gamma_{\text{Cov}}, \omega)$ . The associated Hamiltonian is given by

$$\mathcal{H}_K := -\frac{1}{2}\omega(\gamma, \mathcal{L}_K \gamma) \tag{1.5}$$

where the overall factor  $-\frac{1}{2}$  is a normalization constant (chosen such that the Hamiltonian generated by a de Sitter time translation reduces to the flat space result in the limit  $\Lambda \to 0$ ). The Hamiltonian can be evaluated on any constant time slice, including  $\mathcal{I}$ . When K is a translation or rotation Killing vector field, respectively,  $\mathcal{H}_K$  is interpreted as the flux of energy-momentum or angular momentum carried

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>The linearized Weyl tensor, on the other hand, satisfies conformally invariant equations and consequently its propagation is sharp.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Since  $\gamma_{ab}$  satisfies the linearized Einstein's equations and gauge conditions that all only refer to the background de Sitter metric  $\bar{g}_{ab}$ ,  $\mathcal{L}_K \gamma_{ab}$  is also in  $\Gamma_{\text{Cov}}$ .



Figure 1.2. The red vectors in this conformal diagram show the integral curves of the time translation Killing field  $T^a$  in the Poincaré patch.  $T^a$  is future directed and time-like in static patch (region I) and space-like near  $\mathcal{I}$  (region II). It is future directed and null on the portion of the event horizon  $E^-(i^+)$  to the future of the cross-over 2-sphere (bifurcate horizon) C and on the portion of the null event horizon  $E^+(i^-)$  to the past of C. It is past directed and null on the portion of  $E^+(i^-)$  to the future of C.

by gravitational waves. These expressions are particularly useful to ask physical questions such as how much energy-momentum and angular momentum in the form of gravitational waves is radiated in a given process. These expressions form the foundation for Chapter 2 and 3. We also showed that all fluxes vanish on  $\mathcal{I}$  if the magnetic part of the linearized Weyl tensor is set to zero on  $\mathcal{I}$  (which is the linearized analog of the condition  $\mathcal{B}_{ab}=0$ ). This explicitly illustrates that the strengthening of the boundary conditions by requiring conformal flatness of the metric on  $\mathcal{I}$  is not practicable in the study of gravitational radiation.

Finally, the de Sitter metric admits 10 Killing vector fields. However, since the Poincaré patch is only part of de Sitter spacetime, only those isometries are permissible that map this patch to itself. The subgroup of the 10-dimensional de Sitter group that leaves the Poincaré patch invariant is 7-dimensional, consisting of 4 (de Sitter) translations and 3 rotations. All these de Sitter Killing vector fields are space-like on  $\mathcal{I}$ . One can check this explicitly for each vector field individually, but it also follows from the following, more general statement: If  $K^a$  is a Killing vector field on any asymptotically de Sitter spacetime  $(M, g_{ab})$ , then  $K^a$  must admit an extension to  $\mathcal{I}$  which makes it tangential. The proof is simple. Rewriting the defining property of the Killing vector field,  $\mathcal{L}_K g_{ab} = 0$ , in terms of quantities that have a well-defined limit to  $\mathcal{I}$ , we obtain

$$\mathcal{L}_{K}g_{ab} = \mathcal{L}_{\tilde{K}}\left(\Omega^{-2}\tilde{g}_{ab}\right) = -2\Omega^{-3}\left(\mathcal{L}_{\tilde{K}}\Omega\right)\,\tilde{g}_{ab} + \Omega^{-2}\mathcal{L}_{\tilde{K}}\tilde{g}_{ab} = 0\,,\qquad(1.6)$$

where we used that the Killing vector field on M is identified with the vector field  $\tilde{K}^a$  on  $\mathcal{I}$ , that is,  $K^a = \tilde{K}^a$ . Multiplying both sides by  $\Omega^3$  and evaluating this equation on  $\mathcal{I}$  yields  $K^a \nabla_a \Omega = 0$ . Consequently,  $K^a$  is tangential to  $\mathcal{I}$  as it is orthogonal to its normal  $\nabla_a \Omega$ . Thus, any Killing vector field of an asymptotically de Sitter spacetime yields an asymptotic symmetry vector field on  $\mathcal{I}$  that is space-like. This also means that the vector generating time translations in de Sitter spacetime is space-like on  $\mathcal{I}$  (even though it is time-like in the static patch, see region I in Figure 1.2). Nonetheless, we will refer to this vector as a 'time translation' because (i) it is the limit of the time translation Killing field of the Schwarzschild-de Sitter spacetime as the Schwarzschild mass goes to zero, and (ii) it reduces to a time translation of Minkowski spacetime in the limit  $\Lambda \to 0$ . In conformal and proper time coordinates, respectively, the time translation vector field  $T^a$  is

$$T = T^a \partial_a = -H \left[ \eta \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta} + x \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + y \frac{\partial}{\partial y} + z \frac{\partial}{\partial z} \right]$$
(1.7)

$$= \frac{\partial}{\partial t} - H\left(x\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + y\frac{\partial}{\partial y} + z\frac{\partial}{\partial z}\right). \tag{1.8}$$

Recall, the limit  $\Lambda \to 0$  should not be taken in conformal coordinates (in which T would vanish), but one should use the proper time coordinates. Using the latter set of coordinates, it is immediate that in this limit  $T^a$  goes to the Minkowski time translation Killing vector field  $\mathring{t}^a = \mathring{\eta}^{ab} \mathring{\nabla}_b t$ . Given that  $T^a$  is space-like on  $\mathcal{I}$ , in principle, the energy can be negative on  $\mathcal{I}$ . In fact, the energy obtained from the Hamiltonian defined by  $T^a$ ,  $\mathcal{H}_T$ , is unbounded below. (Unboundedness from below of  $\mathcal{H}_T$  is not limited to linearized gravitational fields, but is also true for matter fields in de Sitter spacetime.) Thus, there exist gravitational waves on de Sitter spacetime which carry arbitrarily negative energy, no matter how small the positive  $\Lambda$  is! This is in striking contrast with the  $\Lambda = 0$  situation, where the corresponding waves carry strictly positive energy. This yields the following conundrum: if gravitational waves can carry arbitrarily negative energy in Minkowski

spacetime? In other words, what happens to the infinitely many solutions with negative energy in the limit  $\Lambda \to 0$ ? A careful analysis shows that the limit is onto: the solutions with negative energy all get mapped to zero. Geometrically, this occurs because while the Killing field  $T^a$  of de Sitter metric for every  $\Lambda > 0$ is space-like near  $\mathcal{I}$  (region II in Figure 1.2), its limit is the time-like Killing field  $\mathring{t}^a$  of  $\mathring{\eta}_{ab}$ . This comes about as follows. The cosmological horizon  $E^-(i^+)$ , which bounds the static patch, is at  $r = H^{-1}e^{-Ht}$  (with  $r^2 = \vec{x} \cdot \vec{x}$ ). In the limit  $\Lambda \to 0$ , the static patch in which  $T^a$  is time-like fills out the whole Minkowski space. Thus, although  $\mathcal{H}_T$  is unbounded below – no matter how small the positive  $\Lambda$  is, the limiting  $\mathring{\mathcal{H}}_t$  is strictly positive. This is another nice illustration of the subtlety of the  $\Lambda \to 0$  limit and illuminates that even for physical observable quantities the limit can be discontinuous. Thus, it is a priori not necessarily obvious that the effects of positive  $\Lambda$  will be negligible for all gravitational wave observations.

## Chapter 2 General formula for power emitted in de Sitter spacetimes

#### 2.1 Introduction

One of the first predictions of general relativity came from Einstein's calculations that demonstrated the existence of gravitational waves in the weak field approximation. Although the idea of gravitational waves was already explored by others including Lagrange and Poincaré (see [15] for a review), Einstein's 1916 paper provided a relativistic description by linearizing field equations of general relativity off Minkowski background, in the presence of an external, time-changing source [14]. Two years later, he also calculated the energy carried by these waves far away from the source. He found that the leading order contribution to the emitted power is proportional to the square of the third time derivative of the mass quadrupole moment [48].

This prediction was first confirmed by the high precision measurements of the orbital period of the Hulse-Taylor binary [22]. These measurements allowed a direct comparison between the loss of orbital energy and the energy emitted by gravitational waves. Today, observational evidence yields a confirmation of the existence of gravitational quadrupolar radiation to an accuracy of 3 parts in 10<sup>3</sup> [23]. Einstein's calculations and its subsequent refinements and generalizations (due to Eddington [49], Landau and Lifshitz [50], Fock [51], Blanchet and Damour [52] and others), as well as the Bondi-Sachs framework in full general relativity [27, 43], use field equations with a vanishing cosmological constant,  $\Lambda$ . Since the value of  $\Lambda$  is so small, at a practical level it seems natural to just ignore it and use the well-developed  $\Lambda = 0$  framework. However, as we discussed in Chapter 1, there are

some qualitative differences between the  $\Lambda = 0$  and  $\Lambda > 0$  cases, making the limit  $\Lambda \to 0$  quite subtle.<sup>1</sup> In particular, the limit of observable quantities associated with gravitational waves can be *discontinuous*, whence smallness of  $\Lambda$  does not always translate to smallness of corrections to the  $\Lambda = 0$  results. The question then is whether one can reliably justify one's first instinct that Einstein's  $\Lambda = 0$  quadrupole formula can receive only negligible corrections, given the smallness of  $\Lambda$ .

To make this concern concrete, let us consider a few illustrations of the qualitative differences. First, while wavelengths of linear fields are constant in Minkowski spacetime, they increase as waves propagate on de Sitter spacetime, and exceed the curvature radius in the asymptotic region of interest. Therefore, the commonly used high-frequency approximation also known as the geometric optics approximation fails in the asymptotic region. Also, one cannot carry over the standard techniques to specify 'near and far wave zones' from the  $\Lambda = 0$  case. Second, in Minkowski spacetime one can approach  $\mathcal{I}^+$  – the arena on which properties of gravitational waves can be analyzed unambiguously – using  $r = r_0$  surfaces with larger and larger values of  $r_0$ . Therefore, it is standard practice to use 1/r expansions of fields in the analysis of gravitational waves (see, e.g., [53–55]). By contrast, in de Sitter spacetime, such time-like surfaces approach a past cosmological horizon across which there is no flux of energy or momentum for retarded solutions.  $\mathcal{I}^+$  is now approached by a family of space-like surfaces (on which *time* is constant) whence one cannot use the 1/r expansions that dominate the literature on gravitational waves. Third, while  $\mathcal{I}^+$  is null in the asymptotically flat case, it is space-like if  $\Lambda$  is positive [43]. Consequently, unfamiliar features can arise as we move from  $\Lambda = 0$ to a tiny positive value both in full general relativity and in the linearized limit. In particular, as we saw in Section 1.2.1, energy carried by electromagnetic and linearized gravitational waves can be *negative and of arbitrarily large magnitude* if  $\Lambda > 0$  [35]. Since this holds for every  $\Lambda > 0$ , however tiny, the lower bound on energy carried by these waves has an *infinite* discontinuity at  $\Lambda = 0$ . Now, if electromagnetic or gravitational waves produced in realistic physical processes

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The origin of these subtleties lies in the fact that the observed accelerated expansion makes the asymptotic spacetime geometry in the distant future drastically different from that of asymptotically Minkowski spacetimes. Therefore, although for concreteness and simplicity we will refer to a cosmological constant, as in [31,35], our main results will not change if instead one has an unknown form of 'dark energy'.

could carry negative energy, we would be faced with a fundamental instability: the source could gain arbitrarily high energy simply by letting the emitted waves carry away negative energy. Thus a positive  $\Lambda$ , however small, opens up an unforeseen possibility, with potential to drastically change gravitational dynamics.<sup>2</sup> Finally, yet another difference is that in the transverse (i.e., Lorenz) traceless gauge the linearized 4-metric field satisfies the massive Klein-Gordon equation where the mass is proportional to  $\sqrt{\Lambda}$ . While the mass is tiny, a priori it is possible that over cosmological distances the difference from the propagation in the  $\Lambda = 0$  case could accumulate, creating an  $\mathcal{O}(1)$  difference in the linearized metric in the asymptotic region, far way from sources. Since Einstein's quadrupole formula is based on the form of the metric perturbation in this asymptotic region, secular accumulation could then lead to  $\mathcal{O}(1)$  departures from that formula, even when  $\Lambda$  is tiny.

These considerations bring out the necessity of a systematic analysis to determine whether the Einstein's quadrupole formula continues to be valid even though many of the key intermediate steps cannot be repeated for the de Sitter background. The goal of this chapter is to complete this task for linearized gravitational waves created by time changing (first order) sources on de Sitter background.

As in the  $\Lambda = 0$  case, the calculation involves two steps:

(i) expressing metric perturbations far away from the source in terms of the quadrupole moments of the source, and,

(ii) finding the energy and power radiated by this source in the form of gravitational waves.

However, the extension of the  $\Lambda = 0$  analysis introduces unforeseen issues in both steps. In step (i), since the background spacetime is no longer flat, the meaning of 'quadrupole moment' is not immediately clear. The second subtlety concerns both steps. Specifically, due to the curvature of the de Sitter spacetime, the gravitational waves back-scatter. This backscattering introduces a tail term in the solutions to the linearized Einstein's equation already in the first post-Newtonian order. That in and of itself is not problematic. However, if a tail term persisted in the formula for energy loss, one would need to know the history of the source throughout its

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>As discussed in Chapter 1, we suggested that this possibility will not be realized for realistic sources because the fields they induce on  $\mathcal{I}^+$  would be constrained just in the right way for the waves to carry positive energy. However, that argument was meant only as an indication, based on properties of source-free gravitational waves. A detailed analysis of the quadrupole formula for  $\Lambda > 0$  is needed to settle this issue in the weak field limit.

evolution in order to determine the flux of energy emitted at any given retarded instant of time.<sup>3</sup> Third, as discussed above, the energy calculated in step (ii) could, in principle, be arbitrarily negative, in which case self-gravitating systems would be drastically unstable to emission of gravitational waves.

Thus, from a conceptual standpoint, the generalization of the quadrupole formula to include a positive  $\Lambda$  is both interesting and subtle. For example, the presence of the tail term opens a door to a new contribution to the 'memory effects' associated with gravitational waves [29,56,57]. In addition, as in the asymptotically flat case, it offers guidance in the development of the full, nonlinear framework. Finally, as we will see, this generalization also provides detailed control on the approximations involved in setting  $\Lambda$  to zero.

This chapter is organized as follows. In Section 2.2, we introduce our notation and recall the linearized Einstein's equation on de Sitter background as well as their retarded solutions sourced by a (first order) stress-energy tensor. In Section 2.3, we introduce the late time and post-Newtonian approximations and express the leading terms of solutions in terms of the quadrupole moments of sources. We also discuss in detail the tail term and some of its properties. In Section 2.4, we use these expressions to calculate the energy emitted by the source using Hamiltonian methods on the covariant phase space of the linearized solutions introduced in [35], and then discuss in some detail the novel features that arise because of the presence of a positive  $\Lambda$ . We find that the energy carried away by the gravitational waves produced by a time changing source is necessarily positive. Detailed expressions bear out the expectation that, for sources of gravitational radiation currently under consideration by gravitational wave observatories, the primary modification to Einstein's formula can be incorporated by taking into account the expansion of the Universe and the resulting gravitational redshift. Section 2.5 contains a summary.

#### 2.2 Preliminaries

The isolated system of interest is depicted in the left panel of Figure 2.1 (and specified in greater detail at the beginning of Section 2.3). It represents a matter

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>In the  $\Lambda = 0$  case, backscattering occurs only at higher post-Newtonian orders. These higher order corrections to the quadrupole formula are not needed to compare theory with observations for the Hulse-Taylor pulsar so far because the current observational accuracy is at the  $10^{-3}$  level rather than  $10^{-4}$ .



Figure 2.1. Left Panel: A time changing quadrupole emitting gravitational waves whose spatial size is uniformly bounded in time. The causal future of such a source covers only the future Poincaré patch  $M_{\rm P}^+$  (the upper, red triangle of the figure). There is no incoming radiation across the past boundary  $E^+(i^-)$  of  $M_{\rm P}^+$  because we use retarded solutions. The light gray shaded region represents a convenient neighborhood of  $\mathcal{I}^+$  in which perturbations satisfy a homogeneous equation and the approximation, discussed below, holds everywhere. Right Panel: The rate of change of the quadrupole moment at the point  $(-|\vec{x}|, \vec{0})$  on the source creates the retarded field at the point  $(0, \vec{x})$  on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . The figure also shows the cosmological foliation  $\eta = \text{const}$  and the time-like surfaces  $r := |\vec{x}| = \text{const}$ . As r goes to infinity, the r = const surfaces approach  $E^+(i^-)$ . Therefore, in contrast with the situation in Minkowski spacetime, for sufficiently large values of r, there is no flux of energy across the r = const surfaces.

source in de Sitter spacetime whose spatial size is uniformly bounded in time. Such a source intersects  $\mathcal{I}^{\pm}$  at single points  $i^{\pm}$ . Examples are provided by isolated stars and coalescing binary systems. As discussed in Chapter 1, the causal future of such a source covers only the future Poincaré patch,  $M_{\rm P}^+$ . Therefore, we restrict ourselves to  $M_{\rm P}^+$ , which can be coordinatized by the conformal coordinates  $(\eta, x, y, z)$ . To study the gravitational radiation emitted by this isolated system in the presence of positive  $\Lambda$ , we consider first order perturbations off the de Sitter background metric  $\bar{g}_{ab}$ . The perturbed metric is denoted by  $g_{ab}$ ,

$$g_{ab} = \bar{g}_{ab} + \epsilon \gamma_{ab} =: a^2(\eta)(\mathring{g}_{ab} + \epsilon h_{ab}), \qquad (2.1)$$

where  $\epsilon$  is a smallness parameter,  $a(\eta) = -(H\eta)^{-1}$  the scale factor and  $\mathring{g}_{ab}$  the flat metric. While  $\gamma_{ab}$  are the physical first order perturbations off de Sitter spacetime, it is convenient – as will be clear shortly – to use the conformally related mathematical field while solving the linearized Einstein's equation.

In terms of the trace-reversed metric perturbation  $\overline{\gamma}_{ab} := \gamma_{ab} - \frac{1}{2}\overline{g}_{ab}\gamma$ , the linearized Einstein's equation in the presence of a (first order) linearized source  $T_{ab}$  can be written as

$$\overline{\Box}\overline{\gamma}_{ab} - 2\overline{\nabla}_{(a}\overline{\nabla}^{c}\overline{\gamma}_{b)c} + \bar{g}_{ab}\overline{\nabla}^{c}\overline{\nabla}^{d}\overline{\gamma}_{cd} - \frac{2}{3}\Lambda(\overline{\gamma}_{ab} - \bar{g}_{ab}\overline{\gamma}) = -16\pi G T_{ab}$$
(2.2)

where  $\overline{\nabla}$  and  $\overline{\Box}$  denote the derivative operator and the d'Alembertian defined by the de Sitter metric  $\bar{g}_{ab}$ . The solutions to the linearized equation above with sources on the future Poincaré patch  $(M_{\rm P}^+, \bar{g}_{ab})$  are discussed in detail by de Vega et al. in [58] (see also [59] for a recent discussion). Here we will summarize their results, comment on the physical interpretation, and discuss the limit  $\Lambda \to 0$ .

Denote by  $\eta^a$  the vector field normal to the cosmological slices  $\eta = \text{const}$ satisfying  $\eta^a \nabla_a \eta = 1$  and let  $n^a := -H\eta \eta^a$  denote the future pointing unit normal to these slices. Then, it is convenient to solve (2.2) using the following gauge condition:

$$\overline{\nabla}^a \overline{\gamma}_{ab} = 2H \, n^a \, \overline{\gamma}_{ab} \,. \tag{2.3}$$

This is a generalization of the more familiar Lorenz gauge condition and, as with the Lorenz condition, it does not exhaust the gauge freedom. Nonetheless, in this gauge the linearized Einstein's equation (2.2) simplifies significantly when it is rewritten in terms of the field  $\bar{\chi}_{ab}$  which is related to the trace-reversed metric perturbations  $\bar{\gamma}_{ab}$  via  $\bar{\chi}_{ab} := a^{-2} \bar{\gamma}_{ab} = h_{ab} - \frac{1}{2} \mathring{g}_{ab} \mathring{g}^{cd} h_{cd}$ . Finally, it is easiest to obtain solutions to (2.2) by performing a decomposition of  $\bar{\chi}_{ab}$  and  $T_{ab}$ , adapted to the cosmological  $\eta = \text{const slices}$ :

$$\tilde{\chi} := (\eta^a \eta^b + \mathring{q}^{ab}) \, \bar{\chi}_{ab}, \qquad \chi_a := \eta^c \, \mathring{q}_a{}^b \, \bar{\chi}_{bc}, \qquad \chi_{ab} := \mathring{q}_a{}^m \, \mathring{q}_b{}^n \, \bar{\chi}_{mn}, \qquad (2.4)$$

$$\tilde{\mathcal{T}} := (\eta^a \eta^b + \mathring{q}^{ab}) T_{ab}, \qquad \mathcal{T}_a := \eta^c \, \mathring{q}_a{}^b T_{bc}, \qquad \mathcal{T}_{ab} := \mathring{q}_a{}^m \, \mathring{q}_b{}^n T_{mn}, \qquad (2.5)$$

where  $\mathring{q}^{ab}$  is the (contravariant) spatial metric on a  $\eta = \text{const}$  slice induced by the flat metric  $\mathring{g}_{ab}$ , i.e.,  $\mathring{q}^{ab} = \mathring{g}^{ab} + \eta^a \eta^b$ . (Note that unlike  $\bar{\chi}_{ab}$  in (2.4), the stress energy tensor  $T_{ab}$  in (2.5) has neither been rescaled by  $a^{-2}$  nor has it been trace-reversed.)

In the chart  $(\eta, \vec{x})$ ,  $-(1/4H\eta)\tilde{\chi}$  is the perturbed lapse function and  $(H\eta)^{-2} \mathring{q}^{ab}\chi_b$  is the perturbed shift field. Thus, as in the linearized theory off Minkowski spacetime, the physical degrees of freedom associated with radiation are encoded in the totally spatial projection  $\chi_{ab}$ .

It is convenient to regard the fields  $\tilde{\chi}, \chi_a$  and  $\chi_{ab}$ , as living in the flat spacetime  $(M_{\rm P}^+, \mathring{g}_{ab})$  because: (i) the gauge condition and field equations have a simple form in terms of the derivative operators defined by  $\mathring{g}_{ab}$ ; and (ii) these gauge conditions and field equations are well-defined also at  $\mathcal{I}^+$  because, as we will see in Section 2.4, the metric  $\mathring{g}_{ab}$  turns out to provide a viable conformal rescaling of  $\bar{g}_{ab}$  that is well-defined at  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . The gauge conditions (2.3) become

$$\mathring{D}^a \chi_{ab} = \partial_\eta \chi_b - \frac{2}{\eta} \chi_b$$
, and  $\mathring{D}^a \chi_a = \partial_\eta (\tilde{\chi} - \chi) - \frac{1}{\eta} \tilde{\chi}$ , (2.6)

where  $\mathring{D}$  is the derivative operator of the spatial metric  $\mathring{q}_{ab}$  and  $\chi = \mathring{q}^{ab}\chi_{ab}$ . In this gauge, the linearized Einstein's equation (2.2) is split into three as follows

$$\mathring{\Box} \quad \left(\frac{1}{\eta}\tilde{\chi}\right) = -\frac{16\pi G}{\eta}\tilde{\mathcal{T}},\tag{2.7}$$

$$\mathring{\Box} \quad \left(\frac{1}{\eta}\chi_a\right) = -\frac{16\pi G}{\eta}\,\mathcal{T}_a,\tag{2.8}$$

$$(\mathring{\square} + \frac{2}{\eta} \partial_{\eta}) \chi_{ab} = -16\pi G \mathcal{T}_{ab}.$$
(2.9)

where  $\Box$  is the d'Alembertian operator of the flat metric  $\mathring{g}_{ab}$ . Using the conservation of the first order stress-energy tensor,  $\bar{\nabla}^a T_{ab} = 0$ , it is easy to directly verify that the gauge conditions and the field equations are consistent, as they must be.

Since we wish to impose the 'no incoming radiation' boundary conditions, we will seek retarded solutions to these equations. The first two equations, (2.7) and (2.8), can be solved using the scalar retarded Green's function of  $\square$ :

$$G_R^{(M)}(x, x') = \frac{1}{4\pi |\vec{x} - \vec{x'}|} \ \delta(\eta - \eta' - |\vec{x} - \vec{x'}|)$$
(2.10)

to yield

$$\tilde{\chi}(\eta, \vec{x}) = 4G \eta \int \frac{d^3 \vec{x}'}{|\vec{x} - \vec{x}'|} \frac{1}{\eta_{\text{Ret}}} \tilde{T}(\eta_{\text{Ret}}, \vec{x}'), \text{ and}$$

$$\chi_{\bar{a}}(\eta, \, \vec{x}) = 4G \, \eta \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 \vec{x}'}{|\vec{x} - \vec{x}'|} \, \frac{1}{\eta_{\mathrm{Ret}}} \, \mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}}(\eta_{\mathrm{Ret}}, \, \vec{x}'), \qquad (2.11)$$

where  $\eta_{\text{Ret}}$  is the retarded time related to  $\eta$  and  $\vec{x}$  by  $\eta_{\text{Ret}} := \eta - |\vec{x} - \vec{x}'|$ . We could use the scalar Green's function of  $\square$  also in the second equation because  $\chi_{\bar{a}}$  refers to the Cartesian components of the vector perturbation. While we will use the solutions (2.11) in an intermediate step, the fluxes of energy, momentum and angular momentum turn out to depend only on  $\chi_{ab}$  because, as we noted above, the other components correspond to linearized lapse and shift fields.

One can use a *scalar* Green's function also for the Cartesian components of the spatial tensor field  $\chi_{ab}$ . However, since the operator on the left hand side of (2.9) has the extra term,  $(2/\eta)\partial_{\eta}$ , we cannot use the Green's function of the flat space wave operator  $\square$ . Instead, [58] provides the retarded Green's function satisfying

$$(\mathring{\Box} + \frac{2}{\eta} \partial_{\eta}) G_R(x, x') = -(H^2 \eta^2) \,\delta(x, x').$$
(2.12)

In contrast to the flat space scalar Green's function, the solution to this equation has an additional term that extends its support to the region in which x, x' are time-like related:

$$G_R(x,x') = \frac{H^2 \eta \eta'}{4\pi |\vec{x} - \vec{x'}|} \,\delta(\eta - \eta' - |\vec{x} - \vec{x'}|) + \frac{H^2}{4\pi} \,\theta(\eta - \eta' - |\vec{x} - \vec{x'}|) \quad (2.13)$$

where  $\theta(x)$  is the step function which is 1 when  $x \ge 0$  and 0 otherwise. Therefore, the solution  $\chi_{ab}$  is given by

$$\chi_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta,\vec{x}) = 16\pi G \int d^3\vec{x}' \int d\eta' \ G_R(x,x') \left(\frac{1}{H^2 {\eta'}^2}\right) \mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(x') \,.$$
(2.14)

To simplify the solution, one uses the identity

$$\left( \frac{1}{|\vec{x} - \vec{x}'|} \frac{\eta}{\eta'} \right) \, \delta(\eta - \eta' - |\vec{x} - \vec{x}') + \frac{1}{\eta'^2} \, \theta(\eta - \eta' - |\vec{x} - \vec{x}'|)$$

$$= \frac{1}{|\vec{x} - \vec{x}'|} \, \delta(\eta - \eta' - |\vec{x} - \vec{x}'|) - \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta'} \left( \frac{1}{\eta'} \, \theta(\eta - \eta' - |\vec{x} - \vec{x}'|) \right), \qquad (2.15)$$

in (2.14), integrates by parts with respect to  $\eta'$ , and shows that the boundary terms do not contribute for any given  $(\eta, \vec{x})$ . Then everywhere on  $M_{\rm P}^+$  the solution is given by

$$\chi_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta, \vec{x}) = 4G \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3}\vec{x}'}{|\vec{x} - \vec{x}'|} \mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta_{\mathrm{Ret}}, \vec{x}') + 4G \int \mathrm{d}^{3}\vec{x}' \int_{-\infty}^{\eta_{\mathrm{Ret}}} \mathrm{d}\eta' \frac{1}{\eta'} \partial_{\eta'} \mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta', \vec{x}')$$
(2.16)

$$\equiv \quad \sharp_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}\left(\eta,\vec{x}\right) + \flat_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}\left(\eta,\vec{x}\right),\tag{2.17}$$

where  $\sharp_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta, \vec{x})$  denotes the *sharp* propagation term and  $\flat_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta, \vec{x})$  the hereditary term also known as the *tail* term. Note that this solution relates the Cartesian components of  $\chi_{ab}$  to those of  $\mathcal{T}_{ab}$ . Therefore, throughout the rest of the chapter, whenever we use this solution, we will restrict ourselves to components in the Cartesian chart.

The retarded solution (2.16) has an interesting feature. The first term  $\sharp_{ab}$  in this expression is identical to the solution for the trace-reversed perturbations which satisfy the linearized Einstein equation (with a first order source  $\mathcal{T}_{ab}$ ) w.r.t. the Minkowski metric  $\mathring{g}_{ab}$ . The second term  $\flat_{ab}$ , which is absent in the Minkowski case, depends on the entire history of the behavior of the source up to time  $\eta_{\text{Ret}}$ . It results from the backscattering of the perturbation by curvature in the de Sitter background. Thus, in contrast to the  $\Lambda = 0$  case, the propagation of the metric perturbation fails to be sharp already at this order.<sup>4</sup> (Although as we shall explicitly show in Section 2.3.3, at first post-Newtonian order, the dynamical part of this tail term does propagate along the null cone.) The retarded solutions (2.11) and (2.16) satisfy the equations of motion (2.7) - (2.9) by construction. However, to obtain a solution to the physical problem at hand, we need to make sure that they also satisfy the gauge conditions (2.6). One can verify that this is the case using conservation of the stress-energy tensor.

Finally, let us discuss the limit  $\Lambda \to 0$ . From the solution (2.16) it is not obvious that the tail term will disappear in this limit. However, as discussed in Chapter 1, to study this limit one needs to use the differential structure given not by the  $(\eta, \vec{x})$ chart, but by the  $(t, \vec{x})$  chart in which the de Sitter metric  $\bar{g}_{ab}$  admits a well-defined

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Since the propagation of the linearized Weyl curvature is sharp, one might wonder if the tail term in the retarded solution (2.16) is a gauge artifact. It is not. Since the gauge invariant part  $\chi_{ab}^{\rm TT}$  of the metric perturbation satisfies  $(\Box + (2/\eta)\partial_{\eta})\chi_{ab}^{\rm TT} = 16\pi G \mathcal{T}_{ab}^{\rm TT}$  – i.e., the same equation as  $\chi_{ab}$  but with  $T_{ab}$  on the right hand side replaced by its TT-part – it follows that  $\chi_{ab}^{\rm TT}$  is given by replacing  $\mathcal{T}_{ab}$  with  $\mathcal{T}_{ab}^{\rm TT}$  in (2.16). Therefore it also has a non-trivial tail term.

limit to the Minkowski metric  $\mathring{\eta}_{ab}$  as  $\Lambda \to 0$ . Using the  $(t, \vec{x})$  chart, it is easy to show that the gauge condition (2.3) and the linearized Einstein's equation (2.2) reduce to the familiar Lorenz gauge condition and linearized Einstein's equation in Minkowski spacetime, respectively,

$$\mathring{\nabla}^b \mathring{\gamma}_{ab} = 0, \quad \text{and} \quad \mathring{\Box} \mathring{\gamma}_{ab} = -16\pi G T_{ab}, \tag{2.18}$$

where for notational coherence the metric perturbations off the Minkowski spacetime metric  $\mathring{\eta}_{ab}$  are denoted by  $\mathring{\gamma}_{ab}$ . Note that, while in the de Sitter case different components of the perturbation satisfy different equations, (2.7)-(2.9), in the  $\Lambda \to 0$ limit these distinct equations collapse to a single flat space scalar wave equation for all Cartesian components of  $\mathring{\gamma}_{ab}$ . Consequently, the Green's functions (2.10) and (2.13) used to solve for various components of the de Sitter perturbations, reduce to the scalar Green's function of the flat d'Alembertian operator  $\Box \circ \mathring{\eta}_{ab}$ ,

$$G_R^{(M)}(x,x') = \frac{1}{4\pi |\vec{x} - \vec{x'}|} \ \delta(t - t' - |\vec{x} - \vec{x'}|).$$
(2.19)

Therefore in the  $(t, \vec{x})$  chart the retarded solutions of (2.18) are given by

$$\mathring{\gamma}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(t,\,\vec{x}) = 4G \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 \vec{x}'}{|\vec{x} - \vec{x}'|} \, T_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(t - |\vec{x} - \vec{x}'|,\,\vec{x}').$$
(2.20)

This also follows directly by first expressing the final solutions (2.11) and (2.16) in the  $(t, \vec{x})$  chart and then taking the  $\Lambda \to 0$  limit, as it must. Thus, our expectation that the tail term should disappear in the limit  $\Lambda \to 0$  is explicitly borne out.

#### 2.3 The retarded solution and quadrupole moments

In full general relativity with positive  $\Lambda$ , spacetimes describing isolated gravitating systems are asymptotically de Sitter. To compute the energy emitted in the form of gravitational waves, one would (numerically) solve Einstein's equations by imposing an appropriate 'no-incoming radiation' boundary condition, find the gravitational fields on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , and extract the energy radiated by gravitational waves from these fields. Since at the moment it is unclear how to extract energy in full, non-linear general relativity when  $\Lambda > 0$ , this dissertation restricts itself to a simplified version of this problem using the first post-de Sitter approximation. This is the same approach Einstein took before gravitational waves were understood in full general relativity in the  $\Lambda = 0$  case. We have already incorporated the 'no incoming radiation' boundary condition through retarded Green's functions and our task now is to extract physical information from the emitted gravitational waves by examining these solutions at  $\mathcal{I}^+$ .

As explained in Section 2.1, the calculation will be performed in two steps. In the first, carried out in this section, we use physically motivated approximations to simplify the retarded solution (2.16) in the asymptotic region near  $\mathcal{I}^+$  and relate the leading term to the time variation of the source quadrupole moment. The second step in which we calculate the energy and power will be carried out in Section 2.4.

#### 2.3.1 The late time and post-Newtonian approximations

To extract physical information from eq. (2.16), we need to examine this solution in the asymptotic region near  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . In linearized gravity off Minkowski spacetime, one can approach  $\mathring{\mathcal{I}}^+$  using a family of time-like tubes  $r = r_o$ , with ever increasing values of the constant  $r_o$ . Therefore, one focuses on the form of the retarded solutions at large distances from the source, keeping the leading order 1/r contribution, and ignoring terms that fall-off as  $1/r^2$ . Since the conformal factor used to complete Minkowski spacetime in order to attach the null boundary  $\mathcal{I}^+$  falls-off as 1/r, this approximation is sufficient to recover the asymptotic perturbation on  $\mathcal{I}^+$  and extract energy, momentum and angular momentum carried by gravitational waves. In de Sitter spacetime, by contrast, as mentioned in Section 2.1, the  $r = r_o$  time-like surfaces approach the cosmological horizon  $E^+(i^-)$ , rather than  $\mathcal{I}^+$  (see the right panel of Figure 2.1). And the flux of energy, momentum or angular momentum across  $E^+(i^-)$  vanishes identically for retarded solutions! Indeed, this is precisely the 'no incoming radiation condition'. Thus,  $E^+(i^-)$  is analogous to  $\mathring{\mathcal{I}}^-$  rather than  $\check{\mathcal{I}}^+$  in Minkowski spacetime. Therefore, contrary to the strong intuition derived from Minkowski spacetime [53–55], the 1/r-expansions are now ill-suited to study gravitational waves. In particular, one cannot blindly take over well-understood notions such as the 'wave zone' and the approximation schemes associated with this region. (All these differences occur also for test electromagnetic fields on de Sitter spacetime.)

As explained in [31],  $\mathcal{I}^+$  of de Sitter spacetime is space-like and corresponds
to the surface  $\eta = 0$  (see also Section 2.4.1). Therefore, it can be approached by a family of *space-like* surfaces. The first natural candidate is provided by the cosmological slices  $\eta = \text{const}$  used in Section 2.2. Another possibility is to use the family of space-like 3-surfaces which lie in the shaded region of the left panel of Figure 2.1 to which  $T^a$  and the three rotational Killing fields of  $(M_{\rm P}^+, \bar{g}_{ab})$  are everywhere tangential. In this section we will use the cosmological slices and in the next section, the 3-surfaces in the shaded region. To summarize, to approach  $\mathcal{I}^+$  and extract the radiative part of the solution, we now need a *late time* approximation in place of the Minkowskian 'far field' approximation.

To introduce this approximation, we first need to sharpen our restrictions on the spatial support of the matter source. These conditions will capture the idea that the system under consideration is isolated, e.g., an oscillating star or a compact binary. First, we will assume that the physical size  $D(\eta)$  of the system is uniformly bounded by  $D_o$  on all  $\eta = \text{const slices}$ . A particular consequence of this requirement is that the source punctures  $\mathcal{I}^+$  at a single point  $i^+$ , and  $\mathcal{I}^-$  at a single point  $i^-$ , as depicted in Figure 2.1. Physically, this assumption will ensure that a binary, for example, remains compact in spite of the expansion of the Universe. We further sharpen the 'compactness' restriction through a second requirement:  $D_o \ll \ell_{\Lambda}$ , where  $\ell_{\Lambda}(=1/H)$  is the cosmological radius.<sup>5</sup> Finally, for simplicity, we assume that the system is stationary in the distant past and distant future, i.e.,  $\mathcal{L}_T T_{ab} = 0$ outside a finite  $\eta$ -interval. Such a system is dynamically active only for a finite time interval  $(\eta_1, \eta_2)$ . This simplifying assumption can be weakened substantially to allow  $\mathcal{L}_T T_{ab}$  to fall-off at a suitable rate in the approach to  $i^{\pm}$ . We use the stronger assumption just to ensure finiteness of various integrals without having to consider the fall-off conditions in detail at each intermediate step. Furthermore, given that we are primarily interested in calculating radiated power at a retarded instant of time, the assumption is not really restrictive.

With these restrictions, we can now obtain an approximate form of the solution (2.16) which is valid near  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . Consider, then, a cosmological slice,  $\eta = \text{const}$ , and choose the Cartesian coordinates  $\vec{x}$  such that the center of mass of the source lies at the origin. The right side of (2.17) expresses  $\chi_{ab}$  as a sum of a sharp term and tail term. Let us first simplify the sharp term. As in the standard linearized theory

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Given that  $\ell_{\Lambda}$  is about 5 Gpc, the condition is easily met by sources of physical interest, such as an isolated oscillating star or a compact binary.

off Minkowski spacetime [53], we first write it as

$$\sharp_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta,\vec{x}) = 4G \int d^3x' \int d^3y' \frac{\mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta_{\text{Ret}},\vec{y'})}{|\vec{x}-\vec{x'}|} \,\,\delta(\vec{x'},\vec{y'})\,,\tag{2.21}$$

and Taylor expand the  $|\vec{x} - \vec{x}'|$  dependence of the integrand around  $\vec{x}' = 0$  (recall that the integral over  $\vec{x}'$  is over a compact region around the origin, the support of  $\mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}$ ). In the Taylor expansion, each derivative  $\partial/\partial x'^{\bar{a}}$  can be replaced by  $-\partial/\partial x^{\bar{a}}$  because the  $\vec{x}'$ -dependence of the integrand of the last integral comes entirely from  $|\vec{x}' - \vec{x}|$ . The first few terms then become

$$\begin{aligned} \sharp_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}\left(\eta,\vec{x}\right) &= 4G \, \int \mathrm{d}^{3}x' \int \mathrm{d}^{3}y \, \delta(\vec{x}',\vec{y}) \left[ \frac{\mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta_{\mathrm{ret}},\vec{y})}{r} - \vec{x}'^{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i}} \, \frac{\mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta_{\mathrm{Ret}},\vec{y})}{|\vec{x} - \vec{x}'|} \right|_{\vec{x}'=0} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \vec{x}'^{i} \vec{x}'^{j} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{j}} \, \frac{\mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta_{\mathrm{Ret}},\vec{y})}{|\vec{x} - \vec{x}'|} \Big|_{\vec{x}'=0} + \dots \Big] \\ &= 4G \, \int \mathrm{d}^{3}x' \int \mathrm{d}^{3}y \, \delta(\vec{x}',\vec{y}) \left[ \frac{\mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta_{\mathrm{ret}},\vec{y})}{r} - \vec{x}'^{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i}} \frac{\mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta_{\mathrm{ret}},\vec{y})}{r} \right. \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \vec{x}'^{i} \vec{x}'^{j} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{j}} \frac{\mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta_{\mathrm{ret}},\vec{y})}{r} + \dots \Big], \end{aligned}$$

where the ... denote higher order terms in the Taylor expansion. Note that in the second line we have replaced

$$\eta_{\text{Ret}} = \eta - |\vec{x} - \vec{x}'| \qquad \text{by} \qquad \eta_{\text{ret}} = \eta - r \tag{2.22}$$

because the coefficients of the Taylor expansion are evaluated at  $\vec{x}' = 0$ . Next, we carry out the integral over  $\vec{y}'$  and focus only on the first order terms in the Taylor expansion

$$\begin{aligned}
\sharp_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta,\vec{x}) &= \frac{4G}{r} \left[ \int d^3x' \left( \mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta_{\rm ret},\vec{x}') + \frac{x'^c \hat{r}_c}{r} \mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta_{\rm ret},\vec{x}') \right. \\ &+ \left. (x'^c \hat{r}_c) \,\partial_{\eta_{\rm ret}} \mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta_{\rm ret},\vec{x}') + \dots \right) \right] \\
&= \frac{4G}{r} \left[ \int d^3x' \mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta_{\rm ret},\vec{x}') + \left(\frac{x'_1 \hat{r}_c}{r}\right) \int d^3x' \mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta_{\rm ret},\vec{x}') \right. \\ &+ \left. (x'_2 \hat{r}_c) \int d^3x' \,\partial_{\eta_{\rm ret}} \mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta_{\rm ret},\vec{x}') + \dots \right]. \end{aligned}$$
(2.23)

In the second step we have used the mean value theorem where  $\vec{x}_1'$  and  $\vec{x}_2'$  are the

points in the support of  $\mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}$  determined by this theorem. Next, using the fact that each of  $|x_1'^c \hat{r}_c/r|$  and  $|x_2'^c \hat{r}_c/r|$  is bounded by the coordinate radius of the source at  $\eta = \eta_{\text{ret}}$ ,

$$d(\eta_{\rm ret}) := D(\eta_{\rm ret})/a(\eta_{\rm ret}), \qquad (2.25)$$

we conclude

$$\sharp_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta,\vec{x}) = \frac{4G}{r} \int d^3x' \,\mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta_{\rm ret},\,\vec{x}') \left[1 + \frac{\mathcal{O}(d(\eta_{\rm ret}))}{r} + \frac{\mathcal{O}(d(\eta_{\rm ret}))}{\Delta\eta_{\rm ret}}\right],\qquad(2.26)$$

where  $\Delta \eta_{\text{ret}}$  is the dynamical time scale (measured in the  $\eta$  coordinate) in which the change in the source is of  $\mathcal{O}(1)$ . It will be clear from Section 2.3.2 that this is the time scale in which the change in the quadrupole moments of the source is  $\mathcal{O}(1)$ .

Up to this point, the mathematical manipulations are essentially the same as those in the linear theory off Minkowski spacetime [53]. The difference lies in the underlying assumptions and the physical meaning of the approximation scheme. A straightforward calculation relates the second and third terms in the square brackets in (2.26) to physical properties of the source. First, we have

$$\frac{d(\eta_{\rm ret})}{r} = \frac{D(\eta_{\rm ret})}{\ell_{\Lambda}} \frac{(-\eta_{\rm ret})}{r} \le \frac{D_o}{\ell_{\Lambda}} \left(1 - \frac{\eta}{r}\right).$$
(2.27)

Note that to study the asymptotic form of the solution on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , unlike in the calculation off Minkowski spacetime, we cannot use a large r approximation. Indeed, in the calculation of the radiated energy in Section 2.4, we will need to integrate over a finite range of r.<sup>6</sup> While  $(1 - \eta/r)$  can be large, given any  $r_o \neq 0$ , we can choose a cosmological slice  $\eta = \text{const}$  sufficiently close to  $\mathcal{I}^+$  such that for all  $r > r_o$ ,  $(1 - \eta/r)$  is arbitrarily close to 1, whence  $d(\eta_{\text{ret}})/r$  is negligible. This is the late-time approximation.<sup>7</sup> In particular, on  $\mathcal{I}^+$  (where  $\eta = 0$ ) we can ignore the second term

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>On  $\mathcal{I}^+$  the energy flux will be non-zero in the interval  $-\eta_2 < r < -\eta_1$ , where  $(\eta_1, \eta_2)$  is the interval where the source is dynamical, i.e.,  $\mathcal{L}_T \mathcal{T}_{ab} \neq 0$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>The term 'late-time' approximation should not be confused to mean 'only valid at late times'. On *any* constant time slice one can find a radius  $r_o$  such that for  $r > r_o$  the approximations used to calculate  $\chi_{ab}$  are valid. However, at early times this region of validity can be very restricted. At later times, the approximation automatically becomes valid for larger parts of the constant time slice under consideration. Hence, the name 'late-time' approximation.

in the square bracket in (2.26) for all r > 0. The third term can be re-expressed as

$$\frac{d(\eta_{\rm ret})}{\Delta\eta_{\rm ret}} = \frac{D(\eta_{\rm ret})}{\Delta t_{\rm ret}} \approx v \tag{2.28}$$

where D is the physical length scale of the source and  $\Delta t$  the interval in proper time in which the source changes by  $\mathcal{O}(1)$ , and where we have used the standard reasoning from Minkowski spacetime to conclude that the ratio  $D(\eta_{\rm ret})/\Delta t_{\rm ret}$  can be identified with the velocity v of the source. We now use the slow motion approximation in which  $v \ll 1$  (in our c = 1 units). Thus, within our assumptions the sharp term is given by

$$\sharp_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta,\vec{x}) = \frac{4G}{r} \int \mathrm{d}^3 x' \,\mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta_{\mathrm{ret}},\,\vec{x}')\,. \tag{2.29}$$

For the tail term  $\flat_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta,\vec{x})$  in (2.17), this procedure only replaces  $\eta_{\text{Ret}}$  by  $\eta_{\text{ret}}$ .

By adding the two contributions  $\sharp_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}$  and  $\flat_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}$ , we can express  $\chi_{ab}$  as follows:

$$\chi_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta, \vec{x}) = \frac{4G}{r} \int d^3 \vec{x}' \, \mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta_{\rm ret}, \vec{x}') \Big[ 1 + \mathcal{O}\Big(\frac{D_o}{\ell_\Lambda}\Big(1 - \frac{\eta}{r}\Big)\Big) + \mathcal{O}(v) \Big] \\ + 4G \int_{-\infty}^{\eta_{\rm ret}} d\eta' \, \frac{1}{\eta'} \, \partial_{\eta'} \, \int d^3 \vec{x}' \, \mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta', \vec{x}') \,.$$

$$(2.30)$$

(The error term arising from  $\eta_{\text{Ret}} \to \eta_{\text{ret}}$  in the tail term is included in the square bracket in the first term.) On any  $\eta = \eta_o$  slice, the second term in the square bracket can be neglected, in particular, for all  $r > -\eta_o$ , i.e., beyond the intersection of that slice with the cosmological horizon  $E^-(i^+)$ . On  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , it can be neglected for all r > 0.

Let us conclude by summarizing all the approximations that were made. First, in Section 2.2, we presented the retarded solution to Einstein's equations in the first post-de Sitter approximation. We then assumed that the source is compact in the sense that the physical size  $D(\eta)$  of the support of the stress-energy tensor  $T_{ab}$  is uniformly bounded by  $D_o$ , with  $D_o \ll \ell_{\Lambda}$ . Finally, we used the first post-Newtonian approximation to set  $v \ll 1$ . Note that to obtain (2.31), we did not have to make any assumption relating the dynamical time scale  $\Delta t_{\rm ret}$  of the system with the Hubble time  $t_H = 1/H$ . Astrophysical sources of greatest interest to the current gravitational wave observatories satisfy  $\Delta t_{\rm ret} \ll t_H$  (this is the condition that specifies the high-frequency approximation). We will simplify the final results using this approximation in Section 2.4.2, however, throughout the main body of this chapter this assumption is not made and the results are true also for sources that do not satisfy  $\Delta t_{\rm ret} \ll t_H$ .

To avoid proliferation of symbols, from now on  $\chi_{ab}(\eta, \vec{x})$  will stand for the approximate solution obtained by ignoring the  $\mathcal{O}((D_o/\ell_\Lambda)(1-\eta/r))$  and  $\mathcal{O}(v)$  terms relative to the  $\mathcal{O}(1)$  terms in (2.30). Thus, we will set

$$\chi_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta,\,\vec{x}) = \frac{4G}{r} \int \mathrm{d}^3 \vec{x}' \,\,\mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta_{\mathrm{ret}},\,\vec{x}') + 4G \int_{-\infty}^{\eta_{\mathrm{ret}}} \mathrm{d}\eta' \,\frac{1}{\eta'} \,\partial_{\eta'} \,\,\int \mathrm{d}^3 \vec{x}' \,\,\mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta',\,\vec{x}') \,. \tag{2.31}$$

and again denote the sharp and the tail terms by  $\sharp_{ab}$  and  $\flat_{ab}$  respectively.

#### 2.3.2 Expressing the approximate solutions in terms of quadrupole moments

To make the relation between the energy carried by the gravitational perturbations and the behavior of the source transparent, we will now express the approximate solution in terms of multipole moments of the source. Both terms on the right side of (2.31) involve the integral  $\int d^3 \vec{x}' \mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}$  of spatial components of the stress energy tensor of the source. We can rewrite this integral in terms of time derivatives of other components, using the conservation of  $T_{ab}$ . Recall that this strategy is used in the  $\Lambda = 0$  case to express the integral entirely in terms of the second time derivative of the time-time component of  $T_{ab}$ , that is, the energy density. Consequently, for perturbations off flat space, only the mass quadrupole moment is relevant in the far-field approximation. As we will now show, the situation is more complicated in the  $\Lambda > 0$  case because the conservation equation,  $\overline{\nabla}^a T_{ab} = 0$ , has additional terms due to the expansion of the scale factor of the de Sitter background.

In the  $(t, \vec{x})$  coordinates, projection of the conservation equation along  $t^a$  (where, as usual,  $t^a \partial_a := \partial/\partial t$ ) and  $\mathring{q}_a^b$  yield, respectively,

$$\partial_t \rho - e^{-3Ht} \mathring{D}^a \mathcal{T}_a + H \left( 3\rho + p_1 + p_2 + p_3 \right) = 0, \qquad (2.32)$$

$$\partial_t \mathcal{T}_a - e^{-Ht} \mathring{D}^b \mathcal{T}_{ab} + 2H \mathcal{T}_a = 0, \qquad (2.33)$$

where the matter density and pressure are defined via

$$\rho = T_{ab}n^a n^b \equiv H^2 \eta^2 T_{ab} \eta^a \eta^b, \quad \text{and} \quad p_{\bar{i}} = T^{ab} \partial_a x_{\bar{i}} \partial_b x_{\bar{i}}, \tag{2.34}$$

and where  $\mathring{D}_a$  is the derivative operator compatible with the flat spatial metric  $\mathring{q}_{ab}$ . (In the last equation, there is no sum over  $\bar{i}$ .) In this  $(t, \vec{x})$  chart it is manifest that when  $\Lambda \to 0$  (i.e.,  $H \to 0$ ), these equations reduce to the time and space projections of the conservation equation with respect to the Minkowski metric  $\mathring{\eta}_{ab}$ . Extra terms proportional to H arise in de Sitter spacetime due to the expansion of the scale factor. These, in particular, include all the pressure terms which appear more generally in *any* spatially homogeneous and isotropic spacetime. Consequently, it will turn out that  $\int d^3\vec{x} \ \mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}$  is related not just to the second time derivative of the mass quadrupole moment of the source as in flat spacetime, but also to the analogous pressure quadrupole moment. The exact dependence on the pressure terms will be derived below. But because they are multiplied by H, it is already clear that these terms will have fewer time derivatives than the corresponding terms involving density.

To recast  $\int d^3 \vec{x} \ \mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}$  in the desired form, our first task is to introduce the notion of mass and pressure quadrupole moments on the de Sitter background. Being a physical attribute of the source, the quadrupole moment at any instant of time should only depend on the physical geometry and coordinate invariant properties of the source. Therefore, we define the mass quadrupole moment as follows:

$$Q_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}^{(\rho)}(\eta) := \int_{\Sigma} \mathrm{d}^{3} V \ \rho(\eta) \ \bar{x}_{\bar{a}} \ \bar{x}_{\bar{b}}, \tag{2.35}$$

where  $\Sigma$  denotes any  $\eta = \text{const}$  surface with proper volume element  $d^3V$  (which in Cartesian coordinates is  $a^3(\eta) \, dx \, dy \, dz$ ) and  $\bar{x}_{\bar{a}} := a(\eta) x_{\bar{a}}$  is the *physical* separation of the point  $\vec{x}$  from the origin. The pressure quadrupole moment is defined similarly:

$$Q_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}^{(p)}(\eta) := \int_{\Sigma} \mathrm{d}^{3} V \ \left( p_{1}(\eta) + p_{2}(\eta) + p_{3}(\eta) \right) \ \bar{x}_{\bar{a}} \ \bar{x}_{\bar{b}} \ .$$
(2.36)

We can now use the conservation of stress-energy equations (2.32) and (2.33) to relate the integral  $\int d^3 \vec{x}' \mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}$  to these quadrupole moments and their time derivatives.

This derivation follows the same steps as in the standard calculation in Minkowski spacetime. We begin by noting that  $\int d^3 \vec{x}' \, \mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(t', \vec{x}') = -\int d^3 \vec{x}' \, (\mathring{D}^{\bar{m}} \mathcal{T}_{\bar{m}(\bar{a})} x_{\bar{b}})$  because the boundary term that arises in the integration by parts vanishes since the stress-energy tensor has compact spatial support. Using the spatial projection (2.33) of the conservation equation, we can rewrite the integral as follows:

$$\int d^{3}\vec{x}' \, \mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(t',\,\vec{x}') = -\int d^{3}\vec{x}' \, e^{Ht'} \left(\partial_{t'} + 2H\right) \mathcal{T}_{(\bar{a}}(t',\,\vec{x}') \, x_{\bar{b}})$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \int d^{3}\vec{x}' \, e^{Ht'} (\partial_{t'} + 2H) \left(\mathring{D}^{\bar{m}} \mathcal{T}_{\bar{m}}(t',\,\vec{x}')\right) x_{\bar{a}} \, x_{\bar{b}}. \quad (2.37)$$

Next, we use (2.32), the projection of the conservation equation along  $t^a$ , to eliminate  $\mathcal{T}_a$  in favor of the energy density and pressure:

$$\int d^{3}\vec{x}' \ \mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(t',\,\vec{x}') = \frac{1}{2} \int d^{3}\vec{x}' \ e^{4Ht'} \Big[ \frac{\partial^{2}\rho}{\partial t'^{2}} + H \frac{\partial}{\partial t'} (8\,\rho + p_{1} + p_{2} + p_{3}) + 5H^{2} (3\,\rho + p_{1} + p_{2} + p_{3}) \Big] x_{\bar{a}} x_{\bar{b}}.$$
(2.38)

The last step in this derivation is to express the right side of (2.38) in terms of the quadrupole moments defined in (2.35) and (2.36). A simple calculation yields:

$$\hat{e}_{a}^{\bar{a}}\,\hat{e}_{b}^{\bar{b}}\,\int\!\mathrm{d}^{3}\vec{x}'\,\mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(t',\vec{x}') = \frac{1}{2a(t')} \Big[\partial_{t'}^{2}\,Q_{ab}^{(\rho)} - 2H\partial_{t'}\,Q_{ab}^{(\rho)} + H\partial_{t'}Q_{ab}^{(p)}](t')\,,\qquad(2.39)$$

where  $\mathring{e}_a^{\bar{a}}$  are the basis co-vectors in the  $\vec{x}$ -chart. Finally, using the fact that Lie derivative of any tensor field  $Q_{ab}$  with respect to the time translation Killing vector field is given by  $\mathcal{L}_T Q_{ab} = T^c \mathring{\nabla}_c Q_{ab} - 2H Q_{ab}$ , it is straightforward to show that

$$\hat{e}_{a}^{\bar{a}} \, \hat{e}_{b}^{\bar{b}} \, \int \mathrm{d}^{3} \vec{x}' \, \mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(t', \vec{x}') = \frac{1}{2a(t')} \Big[ \mathcal{L}_{T} \mathcal{L}_{T} Q_{ab}^{(\rho)} + 2H \mathcal{L}_{T} Q_{ab}^{(\rho)} \\ + H \mathcal{L}_{T} Q_{ab}^{(p)} + 2H^{2} Q_{ab}^{(p)} \Big](t') \,.$$
(2.40)

Since one can readily take the limit  $\Lambda \to 0$  in the  $(t, \vec{x})$  chart, we see immediately that in this limit one recovers the familiar expression

$$\hat{e}_a^{\bar{a}} \, \hat{e}_b^{\bar{b}} \, \int \mathrm{d}^3 \vec{x}' \, \mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(t', \vec{x}') \quad \to \quad \frac{1}{2} \, \left[ \mathcal{L}_t \, \mathcal{L}_t \, Q_{ab}^{(\rho)} \right] \tag{2.41}$$

from the discussion of the quadrupole formula in Minkowski spacetime.

Let us return to eq.(2.40). Note that it is an *exact* equality within the post-de Sitter approximation; in Section 2.3.2 we have not used the assumption  $D_o \ll \ell_{\Lambda}$ on the size of the source, nor the post-Newtonian assumption  $v \ll 1$ . If we invoke, e.g., kinetic theory, then the pressure goes as  $p \sim \rho v^2$  and can then be ignored compared to the density  $\rho$ . Then (2.40) simplifies to

$$\overset{\circ}{e}{}^{\bar{a}}_{a}\overset{\circ}{e}{}^{\bar{b}}_{b} \int \mathrm{d}^{3}\vec{x}' \,\mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(t',\vec{x}') \approx \frac{1}{2a(t')} \Big[ \mathcal{L}_{T}\mathcal{L}_{T}Q_{ab}^{(\rho)} + 2H\mathcal{L}_{T}Q_{ab}^{(\rho)} + 2H^{2}Q_{ab}^{(p)} \Big](t') \,. \quad (2.42)$$

where we have retained the last term because so far we have not made any assumption on relative magnitudes of the dynamical time scale of the system and Hubble time 1/H. Now, in the post-Minkowski analysis, one does not have to make the assumption  $p \ll \rho$  because the continuity equations (2.32) do not involve pressure terms in that case. Furthermore, in the  $\Lambda > 0$  case, it turns out that dropping the pressure term from the exact expression (2.40) obscures certain conceptually important features (see footnote 14). Therefore we will retain the full expression for now.

Finally we can express the solution (2.31) on  $(M_{\rm P}^+, \bar{g}_{ab})$  in terms of the source quadrupole moments (after a simple transformation to the  $(\eta, \vec{x})$  chart). Denoting by an 'overdot' the Lie derivative with respect to  $T^a$ , we obtain:

$$\chi_{ab}(\eta, \vec{x}) = \frac{2G}{r a(\eta_{\rm ret})} \left[ \ddot{Q}_{ab}^{(\rho)} + 2H\dot{Q}_{ab}^{(\rho)} + H\dot{Q}_{ab}^{(p)} + 2H^2 Q_{ab}^{(p)} \right] (\eta_{\rm ret}) + 2G \int_{-\infty}^{\eta_{\rm ret}} \frac{d\eta'}{\eta'} \partial_{\eta'} \frac{1}{a(\eta')} \left[ \ddot{Q}_{ab}^{\rho} + 2H\dot{Q}_{ab}^{(\rho)} + H\dot{Q}_{ab}^{(p)} + 2H^2 Q_{ab}^{(p)} \right] (\eta') =: \sharp_{ab}(\eta, \vec{x}) + \flat_{ab}(\eta, \vec{x})$$
(2.43)

This expression is a good approximation to the exact solution (2.16) everywhere on  $\mathcal{I}^+$  (except at r = 0).

#### 2.3.3 The tail term and its properties

A qualitative difference between the  $\Lambda > 0$  and  $\Lambda = 0$  case is the presence of the tail term in the retarded solution at lowest in the post-de Sitter. Before we continue to find the expression for the energy and power radiated, we will discuss some properties of this term. First, we show that although the tail term arises as a result of backscattering of the de Sitter background curvature, the dynamical part of the leading order part in the post-Newtonian expansion of the tail term propagates sharply along the null cone. Second, the  $\Lambda \rightarrow 0$  limit of the tail term is briefly discussed. Third, we compare the size of the sharp and tail term in the asymptotic region. We address the question whether  $\flat_{ab}$  is negligible compared to the sharp term  $\sharp_{ab}$  if  $\Lambda \neq 0$  but tiny. We will show that the answer is in the *negative*. This is another illustration of the subtlety of the limit  $\Lambda \to 0$ . Finally, we conclude with a remarkable property of the tail term: the sharp and tail term conspire in such a way that the terms proportional to  $v^n$  in the sharp and tail term exactly cancel each other on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . Thus, the gravitational perturbation  $\chi_{ab}$  is true to all order in the slow motion expansion!<sup>8</sup>

To discuss these properties, it is most convenient to work in the  $(t, \vec{x})$  chart. In this chart, the tail term assumes the form

$$b_{ab}(t,\vec{x}) = -2GH \int_{-\infty}^{t_{\text{ret}}} dt' \Big[ \ddot{Q}_{ab}^{(\rho)} + 3H\ddot{Q}_{ab}^{\rho} + 2H^2 \dot{Q}_{ab}^{(\rho)} + H\ddot{Q}_{ab}^{(p)} + 3H^2 \dot{Q}_{ab}^{(p)} + 2H^3 Q_{ab}^{(p)} \Big] (t') \,.$$
(2.44)

The integral over t can be performed using  $\dot{Q}_{ab} = \partial_t Q_{ab} - 2HQ_{ab}$ . This results in

$$b_{ab}(t,\vec{x}) = -2GH \left[ \ddot{Q}_{ab}^{(\rho)} + H\dot{Q}_{ab}^{(\rho)} + H\dot{Q}_{ab}^{(p)} + H^2 Q_{ab}^{(p)} \right]_{-\infty}^{t_{\text{ret}}}.$$
 (2.45)

As shown in Section 2.4.3, the assumption  $\mathcal{L}_T T_{ab} = 0$  in the distant past implies  $\dot{Q}_{ab}^{(\rho)} = -2HQ_{ab}^{(\rho)}$  there (similarly for the pressure quadrupole). Therefore, we have

$$b_{ab}(t,\vec{x}) = -2GH \left[ \ddot{Q}_{ab}^{(\rho)} + H\dot{Q}_{ab}^{(\rho)} + H\dot{Q}_{ab}^{(p)} + H^2 Q_{ab}^{(p)} \right] (t_{\rm ret}) + 2GH^3 C_{ab} \,, \quad (2.46)$$

where  $C_{ab}$  is just a constant term.<sup>9</sup> In general, a hereditary term can have contributions that propagate along and inside the null cone. However, the above expression shows that the dynamical part of the hereditary term to leading order in the multipolar expansion only propagates along the null cone. One could describe this dynamical part as an 'instantaneous tail'. The constant term spoils the instantaneous nature of the tail term. Nevertheless, as we shall see in the next section, the constant term does not play any role in the fluxes radiated through  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . For the expression of the energy flux in (2.67), this is immediate as only derivatives of  $\chi_{ab}$  appear. In the expression of the flux of angular momentum in (2.84),  $\chi_{ab}$  does appear without a derivative but the constant term does not contribute because it is integrated against  $\mathcal{E}^{ab}$  which is of compact support and divergence-free on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ .

Second, in Section 2.2, we had seen that the tail term vanishes in the limit

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>This latter property was not discussed in the original paper [36] and has not been published elsewhere. The rest of this section is based on Appendix A in [36]. <sup>9</sup>Its expression is  $C_{ab} = -2Q_{ab}^{(\rho)}(t = -\infty) + Q_{ab}^{(P)}(t = -\infty).$ 

 $\Lambda \to 0$ . The same is true for the leading order part of  $\flat_{ab}$  in the post-Newtonian expansion. Since the 'overdot' tends to the well-defined Lie derivative with respect to the time translation Killing vector field  $\mathring{t}^a$  in Minkowski spacetime in the limit  $\Lambda \to 0$ , the overall multiplicative factor H in (2.44) makes it transparent that also  $\flat_{ab}$  in its approximate form does vanish in the  $\Lambda \to 0$  limit. This makes the limit to Minkowski spacetime continuous.

Now let us come back to the question of the importance of the tail term. In order to do so, we return to eq. (2.43) and, for  $r > -\eta$ , write  $\chi_{ab}$  as

$$\chi_{ab}(\eta, \vec{x}) = \frac{2G}{R(\eta_{\text{ret}})} \left[ \left(1 - \frac{r}{r - \eta}\right) \ddot{Q}_{ab}^{(\rho)} \right] + \mathcal{O}(H)$$
(2.47)

where  $R(\eta_{\text{ret}}) = a(\eta_{\text{ret}}) r$  is the physical distance between the source and the point  $\vec{x}$ at time  $\eta = \eta_{\text{ret}}$ . The factor 1 in the square bracket comes from the sharp term while the factor  $r/(r - \eta)$  comes from the tail term. At late times the two contributions are comparable and at  $\mathcal{I}^+$  they are in fact equal in magnitude but opposite in sign. This occurs no matter how small  $\Lambda$  is! The remainder – i.e., the  $\mathcal{O}(H)$  term – also has contributions from both the sharp and the tail terms:

$$\chi_{ab}^{\rm rem}(\vec{x}) = \frac{2GH}{R(\eta_{\rm ret})} \left[ 2\left(1 - \frac{1}{2}\frac{r}{r-\eta}\right) \dot{Q}_{ab}^{(\rho)} + \left(1 - \frac{r}{r-\eta}\right) \dot{Q}_{ab}^{(p)} + 2H\left(1 - \frac{1}{2}\frac{r}{r-\eta}\right) Q_{ab}^{(p)} \right] + 2H^3 C_{ab} \,.$$
(2.48)

So that on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , the linearized perturbation is:

$$\chi_{ab}(\vec{x}) = 2GH^2 \left[ \dot{Q}_{ab}^{(\rho)} + HQ_{ab}^{(p)} \right] + 2H^3 C_{ab} \,. \tag{2.49}$$

This analysis provides the precise sense in which the backscattering effects encoded in the tail term – which can also be thought of as arising from the addition of a mass term to the propagation equation of  $\bar{\gamma}_{ab}$  – provide an  $\mathcal{O}(1)$  contribution to the metric perturbation  $\chi_{ab}$  near  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . This is a concrete realization of the non-trivial outcome of secular accumulation of small effects we referred to in Section 2.1. Moreover, as we will see in the next section, the tail term contributes on an equal footing as the sharp term to the expression of energy and angular momentum radiated across  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . In fact, without the tail term these expressions are ill-defined! This stresses the importance of the tail term for de Sitter spacetime. We will return to this point in the next section. A cautionary remark is in order at this point: One should not take the  $\Lambda \to 0$  limit of the above equation (2.49) from which one would erroneously conclude to  $\chi_{ab}$  vanishes in this limit. As discussed, the  $\Lambda \to 0$ limit is subtle and has to be taken in the  $(t, \vec{x})$  rather than the  $(\eta, \vec{x})$  chart. Since the  $(t, \vec{x})$  chart breaks down at  $\mathcal{I}^+$  (where  $\eta = 0$  but  $t = \infty$ ), we cannot take the limit of our  $\chi_{ab}$  at  $\mathcal{I}^+$  of de Sitter spacetime. Rather, we have to 'pass through' the physical spacetime, as was done at the end of Section 2.2 and in this section.

Finally, let us discuss the slow motion expansion of the tail term. We start by performing similar manipulations as in Section 2.3.1, but now apply these to the tail term. We first write the tail term as

$$b_{ab} = 4G \int d^3x' \int d^3y \,\delta(\vec{x}', \vec{y}) \,\int_{-\infty}^{\eta_{\text{Ret}}} d\eta' \frac{1}{\eta'} \partial_{\eta'} \mathcal{T}_{ab}(\eta', \vec{y})$$

and Taylor expand the integrand around  $\vec{x}' = 0$ :

$$b_{ab} = 4G \int d^3x' \int d^3y \,\delta(\vec{x}', \vec{y}) \left( \int_{-\infty}^{\eta_{\rm ret}} d\eta' \frac{1}{\eta'} \partial_{\eta'} \mathcal{T}_{ab}(\eta', \vec{y}) - x'^c \frac{\partial}{\partial x^c} \int_{-\infty}^{\eta_{\rm ret}} d\eta' \frac{1}{\eta'} \partial_{\eta'} \mathcal{T}_{ab}(\eta', \vec{y}) + \dots \right).$$
(2.50)

where the ... indicate the higher order terms in the Taylor expansion. We will focus first on the first order term in  $\vec{x}'$  denoted by the superscript (1) on  $\flat_{ab}$  and rewrite it in the following way

$$b_{ab}^{(1)} = 4G \int d^3x' \int d^3y \,\delta(\vec{x}', \vec{y}) \,\left(-x'^c \frac{\partial}{\partial x^c}\right) \,\int_{-\infty}^{\eta_{\rm ret}} d\eta' \frac{1}{\eta'} \partial_{\eta'} \mathcal{T}_{ab}(\eta', \vec{y}) \tag{2.51}$$

$$= 4G \int d^3x' \int d^3y \,\delta(\vec{x}', \vec{y}) \,\left( -x'^c \frac{\partial \eta_{\rm ret}}{\partial x^c} \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta_{\rm ret}} \right) \,\int_{-\infty}^{\eta_{\rm ret}} d\eta' \frac{1}{\eta'} \partial_{\eta'} \mathcal{T}_{ab}(\eta', \vec{y}) \quad (2.52)$$

$$= 4G \int \mathrm{d}^3 x' \, \frac{x'^c \hat{r}_c}{\eta_{\mathrm{ret}}} \partial_{\eta_{\mathrm{ret}}} \mathcal{T}_{ab}(\eta_{\mathrm{ret}}, \vec{x}') \,, \tag{2.53}$$

where in the last step the derivative with respect to  $\eta_{\text{ret}}$  was taken and the integral over y performed. Evaluated on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , this term is

$$\flat_{ab}^{(1)} = -4G \int \mathrm{d}^3 x' \, \frac{x'^c \hat{r}_c}{r} \partial_{\eta_{\mathrm{ret}}} \mathcal{T}_{ab}(\eta_{\mathrm{ret}}, \vec{x}') \,. \tag{2.54}$$

Following the same arguments in Section 2.3.1, this term is order v. Comparing

this term to the order v term of the sharp term (see the last term in eq. (2.23)), it is obvious that these two terms are exactly equal in magnitude but opposite in sign on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . Hence, to first order in the Taylor expansion in  $\vec{x}'$ , the terms proportional to v cancel each other on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . Note that this cancellation only occurs on  $\mathcal{I}^+$  and not inside spacetime due to the  $\eta_{ret}^{-1}$  factor in eq. (2.53) as opposed to the  $r^{-1}$  factor in eq. (2.23). Curiously, this cancellation does not only happen to the lowest order in the multipolar expansion, but occurs to all order. For any *n*th-order in the Taylor expansion, we can write:

$$\begin{split} b_{ab}^{(n)} &= (-1)^n \frac{4G}{\eta_{\text{ret}}} \int \mathrm{d}^3 x' \, x'^{c_1} \hat{r}_{c_1} \, x'^{c_2} \hat{r}_{c_2} \, \dots \, x'^{c_n} \hat{r}_{c_n} \, \partial_{\eta_{\text{ret}}}^n \mathcal{T}_{ab}(\eta_{\text{ret}}, \vec{x}') + \frac{\mathcal{O}(d(\eta_{\text{ret}}))}{r} \\ &= - \, (-1)^n \frac{4G}{r} \, \int \mathrm{d}^3 x' \, x'^{c_1} \hat{r}_{c_1} \, x'^{c_2} \hat{r}_{c_2} \, \dots \, x'^{c_n} \hat{r}_{c_n} \, \partial_{\eta_{\text{ret}}}^n \mathcal{T}_{ab}(\eta_{\text{ret}}, \vec{x}') + \frac{\mathcal{O}(d(\eta_{\text{ret}}))}{r} \\ &= - \, \sharp_{ab}^{(n)} + \frac{\mathcal{O}(d(\eta_{\text{ret}}))}{r} \end{split}$$

so that all terms proportional to  $v^n$  in the sharp and tail term cancel each other exactly on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . On  $\mathcal{I}^+$  the gravitational perturbation does not have any terms proportional to  $v^{n!^{10}}$  In other words, the gravitational wave perturbation on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ expressed in terms of quadrupole moments in eq. (2.31) does not require the matter distribution to move slowly; It is also true for sources that do not satisfy  $v \ll 1$ .

This leads to the following conundrum. Given that the gravitational wave perturbation does not receive any corrections proportional to  $v^n$  on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , the gravitational strain on  $\mathcal{I}^+$  only contains information about the quadrupolar nature of the source and information about the source's higher multipole moments is lost. Is this information indeed inaccessible to  $\mathcal{I}^+$ ? Fortunately, it is not. Although there are no terms proportional to  $v^n$  in the gravitational wave perturbation on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , these terms are registered in the time derivative of this perturbation,  $\partial_\eta \chi_{ab}$ , because  $\partial_\eta \flat_{ab}^{(n)}$  does not cancel  $\partial_\eta \sharp_{ab}^{(n)}$  on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . Since the expressions for radiated energy and angular momentum contain time derivatives of  $\chi_{ab}$ , as we shall see in the next section, the fluxes presented there are only valid to  $\mathcal{O}(v)$ .<sup>11</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>There are terms proportional to  $v^m \frac{\mathcal{O}(d(\eta_{\text{ret}}))}{r}^{n-m}$ , but these can be argued to be small by the fact that  $\frac{\mathcal{O}(d(\eta_{\text{ret}}))}{r}$  is small.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>This is as anticipated based on the expectation that the  $\Lambda \to 0$  should recover the expressions for energy and flux radiated by a source on a Minkowski background and the Minkowski result contains terms proportional to  $v^n$ .

#### 2.4 Time-varying quadrupole moment and energy flux

In this section, we will carry out the second main step spelled out in Section 2.1: We will use the approximate solution (2.43) to generalize Einstein's quadrupole formula for the energy  $E_T$  carried away by gravitational waves across  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . Since linearized gravitational fields do not have a gauge invariant, local stress-energy tensor, we employ the covariant Hamiltonian framework used in [35] to compute this energy.

This section is divided into three parts. In the first, we will discuss the asymptotic behavior of the fields that enter the expression of energy  $E_T$ , in the second, we will derive the quadrupole formula, and in the third, we will discuss its properties.

# 2.4.1 $\mathcal{I}^+$ and the perturbed electric part $\mathcal{E}_{ab}$ of Weyl curvature

As in the  $\Lambda = 0$  case, it is simplest to obtain manifestly gauge invariant expressions of fluxes of energy-momentum and angular momentum carried away by gravitational waves using fields defined on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . Therefore we need to carry out a future conformal completion of the background spacetime  $(M_{\rm P}^+, \bar{g}_{ab})$ . It is natural to seek a completion that makes  $(M_{\rm P}^+, \bar{g}_{ab})$  asymptotically de Sitter in a Poincaré patch in the sense of [31]. Because the physical metric  $\bar{g}_{ab}$  has the form,

$$\bar{g}_{ab} = a^2 \, \mathring{g}_{ab} \equiv (H\eta)^{-2} \, \mathring{g}_{ab} \,,$$
(2.55)

it is easy to verify that such a conformal completion can be obtained by setting the conformal factor  $\Omega = -H\eta$ , so that the conformally rescaled 4-metric, which is smooth at  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , is simply the flat metric  $\mathring{g}_{ab}$ . We will use this completion because all our equations in the Cartesian chart of  $\mathring{g}_{ab}$  and the solution  $\chi_{ab}$  will then automatically hold on the conformally completed spacetime, including  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . The final results, of course, will be conformally invariant as in [31, 35].

The formulas for fluxes of energy-momentum and angular momentum involve the so-called *perturbed electric part of the Weyl tensor*,  $\mathcal{E}_{ab}$ , at  $\mathcal{I}^+$  [35]. Therefore, we will first express  $\mathcal{E}_{ab}$  in terms of the metric perturbations – for which we already have the explicit expression (2.43) in terms of the quadrupole moments – and then discuss its properties needed in the subsequent discussion.

For any spacetime that is weakly asymptotically de Sitter spacetime, the

Weyl curvature of the conformally rescaled metric at  $\mathcal{I}$  vanishes and therefore  $\Omega^{-1}C_{abc}{}^{d}$  admits a smooth limit there [31,43]. De Sitter spacetime with linearized perturbations is an example of a weakly asymptotically de Sitter spacetime and hence  $\Omega^{-1}C_{abc}{}^{d}$  – which is the sum of the background Weyl curvature scalar and the linearized perturbations, i.e.  $\Omega^{-1}C_{abc}{}^{d} = \Omega \mathring{C}_{abc}{}^{d} + \Omega^{-1} {}^{(1)}\mathcal{C}_{abc}{}^{d}$  – also has a smooth limit to  $\mathcal{I}$ . Our conformally rescaled metric  $\mathring{g}_{ab}$  is flat, whence the limit of  $\Omega^{-1}\mathring{C}_{abc}{}^{d}$  vanishes. Therefore, not only is the first order perturbation  ${}^{(1)}\mathcal{C}_{abc}{}^{d}$  such that  $\Omega^{-1} {}^{(1)}\mathcal{C}_{abc}{}^{d}$  admits a limit to  $\mathcal{I}^{+}$ , but furthermore the limit is gauge invariant. The field of interest is the limit to  $\mathcal{I}^{+}$  of its electric part,

$$\mathcal{E}_{ab} := \Omega^{-1} \left( {}^{(1)} \mathcal{C}_{amb}{}^n \eta^m \eta_n \right) = - (H\eta)^{-1} \left( {}^{(1)} \mathcal{C}_{amb}{}^n \eta^m \eta_n \right), \qquad (2.56)$$

where, as before,  $\eta^a$  is the unit normal to the cosmological slices ( $\eta = \text{const}$ ) with respect to the conformal metric  $\mathring{g}_{ab}$  and the indices are raised and lowered also using  $\mathring{g}_{ab}$ . We need to express  $\mathcal{E}_{ab}$  in terms of the (trace-reversed, rescaled) metric perturbation  $\bar{\chi}_{ab}$  produced by the source. This can be accomplished using the expression of  ${}^{(1)}\mathcal{C}_{abc}{}^d$  in terms of the metric perturbation  $\bar{\chi}_{ab}$ , and the equation of motion (2.9). The final result is:

$$\mathcal{E}_{ab} = \frac{1}{2H\eta} \left( \mathring{q}_{a}{}^{c} \mathring{q}_{b}{}^{d} - \frac{1}{3} \mathring{q}_{ab} \mathring{q}^{cd} \right) \left[ \frac{1}{2} \mathring{D}_{c} \mathring{D}_{d} \tilde{\chi} - \mathring{D}_{(c} \mathring{D}^{m} \chi_{d)m} - \mathring{D}_{(c} \partial_{\eta} \chi_{d)} + (\partial_{\eta}^{2} - \frac{1}{\eta} \partial_{\eta}) \chi_{cd} \right].$$
(2.57)

Let us discuss the limit of each term to  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . Although we already know from general considerations that the left side of (2.57) admits a smooth limit to  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , some care is needed to evaluate the right hand side because there is a  $(1/\eta)$  pre-factor, and  $\eta = 0$  at  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . However, because the explicit retarded solutions (2.11) decay as  $\eta$ , one can show that the terms involving  $\tilde{\chi}$  and  $\chi_{\bar{a}}$  admit a smooth limit to  $\mathcal{I}$ . A more detailed calculation using (2.31) shows that the fourth term,  $(1/\eta) \left(\partial_{\eta}^2 - \frac{1}{\eta} \partial_{\eta}\right) \chi_{ab}$ , also has a smooth limit to  $\mathcal{I}^+$ :

$$\frac{1}{\eta} \left( \partial_{\eta}^{2} - \frac{1}{\eta} \partial_{\eta} \right) \chi_{\bar{a}\bar{b}} = \frac{4G}{r} \left[ \frac{1}{\eta_{\rm ret}} \partial_{\eta}^{2} \int d^{3}\vec{x}' \, \mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta_{\rm ret}, \vec{x}') - \frac{1}{\eta_{\rm ret}^{2}} \partial_{\eta} \int d^{3}\vec{x}' \, \mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta_{\rm ret}, \vec{x}') \right].$$
(2.58)

Thus, we have expressed  $\mathcal{E}_{ab}$  at  $\mathcal{I}^+$  in terms of the perturbed metric, as required. In particular, in spite of the presence of a  $(1/\eta)$ -pre-factor in (2.57), each of the four terms in that formula for  $\mathcal{E}_{ab}$  has well-defined limits to  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . Note, incidentally, that in this calculation not only does the tail term  $b_{ab}$  in  $\chi_{ab}$  contribute but the result would diverge at  $\eta = 0$  without it. However, the process of taking derivatives has made the integral over  $\eta'$  in  $b_{ab}$  disappear, showing that the propagation of the left side of (2.58) sharp. These features and eq. (2.58) in particular will play an important role in Section 2.4.2.

We will now discuss the properties of  $\mathcal{E}_{ab}$  that will be needed in subsequent calculations. First, the field equations satisfied by the first order perturbation  ${}^{(1)}C_{abc}{}^d$  are conformally invariant. Since they are completely equivalent to the field equations satisfied by the first order Weyl tensor in the flat spacetime  $(M_{\rm P}^+, \mathring{g}_{ab})$ , we know that the propagation of  ${}^{(1)}C_{abc}{}^d$  is sharp along the null cones of  $\mathring{g}_{ab}$  (which are the same as the null cones of the de Sitter metric  $\bar{g}_{ab}$ ). Therefore the expression of the field  $\mathcal{E}_{ab}$  at  $\mathcal{I}^+$  in terms of source quadrupole moments is also sharp. Indeed, this is true as the dynamical part of  $\chi_{ab}$  propagates along the null cone and so does  $\mathcal{E}_{ab}$ . Second, in any neighborhood of  $\mathcal{I}^+$  where there are no matter sources, the field  $\mathcal{E}_{ab}$  is divergence-free

$$\mathring{D}^a \mathcal{E}_{ab} = 0. \tag{2.59}$$

Thus,  $\mathcal{E}_{ab}$  is transverse, traceless on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . This property will make the gauge invariance of our expression of energy flux transparent. Finally, as one would expect from the fact that  $\mathcal{E}_{ab}$  is gauge invariant, only the transverse-traceless (TT) components of  $\chi_{ab}$  (in its decomposition into irreducible parts) contribute to  $\mathcal{E}_{ab}$ . Let us begin with a standard decomposition of the ten components of the (rescaled, trace-reversed) metric perturbation  $\bar{\chi}_{ab}$ :

$$\tilde{\chi} := (\eta^{a} \eta^{b} + \mathring{q}^{ab}) \bar{\chi}_{ab}, \qquad \chi := \mathring{q}^{ab} \chi_{ab}, \qquad \chi_{a} =: \mathring{D}_{a} A + A_{a}^{T}, 
\chi_{ab} := \frac{1}{3} \mathring{q}_{ab} \mathring{q}^{cd} \chi_{cd} + \left( \mathring{D}_{a} \mathring{D}_{b} - \frac{1}{3} \mathring{q}_{ab} \mathring{D}^{2} \right) B + 2 \mathring{D}_{(a} B_{b)}^{T} + \chi_{ab}^{TT},$$
(2.60)

where  $A_a^T$  and  $B_a^T$  are transverse and  $\chi_{ab}^{TT}$  is transverse-traceless,

$$\mathring{D}^{a}A_{a}^{T} = 0 \qquad \mathring{D}^{a}B_{a}^{T} = 0 \qquad \mathring{D}^{a}\chi_{ab}^{TT} = 0 \qquad \mathring{q}^{ab}\chi_{ab}^{TT} = 0, \qquad (2.61)$$

and  $\tilde{\chi}$ ,  $\chi$ , B,  $\tilde{D}_a A$  are the longitudinal modes. Using the gauge condition (2.3), one can show that, in the expression (2.57) of  $\mathcal{E}_{ab}$ , all contributions from the longitudinal

and trace parts of  $\bar{\chi}_{ab}$  cancel out and  $\mathcal{E}_{ab}$  depends only on  $\chi_{ab}^{TT}$ :

$$\mathcal{E}_{ab} = \frac{1}{2H\eta} \left[ \partial_{\eta}^2 - \frac{1}{\eta} \partial_{\eta} \right] \chi_{ab}^{TT}, \qquad (2.62)$$

Since  $\mathcal{E}_{ab}$  and  $\chi_{ab}^{TT}$  are both gauge invariant, the final relation (2.62) holds in any gauge. The limit to  $\mathcal{I}^+$  of this equality will play an important role in the next two sub-sections.

Note that in the study of retarded fields produced by compact sources in asymptotically flat spacetimes, one often uses an entirely different decomposition: Here, the 1/r-part of  $\chi_{ab}$  (i.e., the far field approximation) of the full retarded solution is projected into radial and the orthogonal spherical directions in physical space. Unfortunately, the projection onto the spherical directions is also referred to as the transverse-traceless parts of  $\chi_{ab}$ . For concreteness, let us denote by  $P_a^b$ the projection operator into the 2-sphere orthogonal to the radial direction in the physical space and set  $\chi_{ab}^{tt} = (P_a{}^c P_b{}^d - (1/2)P_{ab}P^{cd})\chi_{cd}$ . In the literature, in place of tt, the symbol TT is used also for this projection (see, e.g., Chapter 11 of [53], or Section 4.5.1 in [54], or Section 36.10 in [55]). This is confusing because the two notions of transverse traceless parts are distinct and inequivalent as we discussed briefly in Chapter 1 and will elaborate upon in Chapter 4. The first notion is local in momentum space and the resulting  $\chi_{ab}^{TT}$  is exactly gauge invariant everywhere in spacetime. The second notion, which we will continue to denote by  $\chi_{ab}^{tt}$ , is local in physical space and  $\chi_{ab}^{tt}$  is gauge invariant only in a weaker sense involving 1/rfall-offs.

#### **2.4.2** Fluxes across $\mathcal{I}^+$

Let us calculate the flux of energy associated with the time translation  $T^a$  across  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . Since  $T^a$  is a Killing field of the background spacetime  $(M_{\rm P}^+, \bar{g}_{ab})$  we know that, for any choice of admissible conformal completion,  $T^a$  admits a smooth extension which is tangential to  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . For the choice  $\Omega = -H\eta$  of the conformal factor we made above,  $T^a$  also serves as the dilation vector field with respect to the intrinsic 3-metric  $\mathring{q}_{ab}$  on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ :

$$T \doteq -H\left[x\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + y\frac{\partial}{\partial y} + z\frac{\partial}{\partial z}\right].$$
 (2.63)

From the detailed analysis of the covariant phase space  $\Gamma_{\text{Cov}}$  carried out in [35], the total energy flux  $E_T$  across  $\mathcal{I}^+$  is given by the Hamiltonian generating the time translation  $T^a$  on  $\Gamma_{\text{Cov}}$ . (Here, we will denote the energy flux by  $E_T$  instead of  $\mathcal{H}_T$  as was done in Chapter 1.) The result can be expressed most simply in terms of  $\mathcal{E}_{ab}$  and the Lie derivative of the metric perturbation with respect to  $T^a$  at  $\mathcal{I}^+$ :

$$E_T \stackrel{\circ}{=} \frac{1}{16\pi GH} \int_{\mathcal{I}^+} \mathrm{d}^3 x \, \mathcal{E}_{cd} \left( \mathcal{L}_T \chi_{ab} + 2H \, \chi_{ab} \right) \mathring{q}^{ac} \mathring{q}^{bd} \,. \tag{2.64}$$

Note that because  $\mathcal{E}_{ab}$  is transverse-traceless (TT), the integral automatically extracts the TT part of the term in the bracket and we have

$$E_T \stackrel{\hat{=}}{=} \frac{1}{16\pi GH} \int_{\mathcal{I}^+} \mathrm{d}^3 x \, \mathcal{E}_{cd} \left( \mathcal{L}_T \chi_{ab} + 2H \, \chi_{ab} \right)^{TT} \mathring{q}^{ac} \mathring{q}^{bd}$$
$$\stackrel{\hat{=}}{=} \frac{1}{16\pi GH} \int_{\mathcal{I}^+} \mathrm{d}^3 x \, \mathcal{E}_{cd} \left( T^m \mathring{\nabla}_m \chi_{ab} \right)^{TT} \mathring{q}^{ac} \mathring{q}^{bd} , \qquad (2.65)$$

where in the second step we have used the fact that  $(\mathcal{L}_T \chi_{ab} + 2H \chi_{ab}) = T^m \mathring{\nabla}_m \chi_{ab}$ . We note on the side that, because the derivative  $T^m \mathring{\nabla}_m$  commutes with the operation of taking the TT part on  $\mathcal{I}^+$  (for proof of this and some of the other properties of the TT part used in this section, see Appendix A), the integral can be rewritten as

$$E_T \doteq \frac{1}{16\pi GH} \int_{\mathcal{I}^+} \mathrm{d}^3 x \, \mathcal{E}_{cd} \left( T^m \mathring{\nabla}_m \chi_{ab}^{TT} \right) \mathring{q}^{ac} \mathring{q}^{bd} \tag{2.66}$$

which is manifestly gauge invariant.

Next, we return to (2.65) and use (2.62) to express  $\mathcal{E}_{ab}$  in terms of the *TT*-part of  $\chi_{ab}$ . Using that fact that the operator  $(1/\eta)[\partial_{\eta}^2 - \frac{1}{\eta}\partial_{\eta}]$  commutes with the operation of taking the TT part, we have:

$$E_{T} \stackrel{\hat{=}}{=} \lim_{\eta \to \mathcal{I}} \frac{1}{32\pi G H^{2}} \int \mathrm{d}^{3}x \left[ \frac{1}{\eta} \left( \partial_{\eta}^{2} - \frac{1}{\eta} \partial_{\eta} \right) \chi_{ab} \right]^{TT} \left[ T^{m} \mathring{\nabla}_{m} \chi_{cd} \right]^{TT} \mathring{q}^{ac} \mathring{q}^{bd}$$
$$\stackrel{\hat{=}}{=} \lim_{\eta \to \mathcal{I}} \frac{1}{32\pi G H^{2}} \int \mathrm{d}^{3}x \left[ \frac{1}{\eta} \left( \partial_{\eta}^{2} - \frac{1}{\eta} \partial_{\eta} \right) \chi_{ab} \right] \left[ T^{m} \mathring{\nabla}_{m} \chi_{cd} \right]^{TT} \mathring{q}^{ac} \mathring{q}^{bd} \quad (2.67)$$

where in the second step we removed the TT on the first square bracket because the second square bracket is already TT and therefore the integral automatically extracts only the TT part of the first square bracket. These expressions hold for any solution  $\chi_{ab}$  that is source-free in a neighborhood of  $\mathcal{I}^+$  (e.g. within the shaded region in the left panel of Figure 2.1).

We now use the approximations  $D_o/\ell_{\Lambda} \ll 1$  and  $v \ll 1$  spelled out in Section 2.3.1 and insert in (2.67) the convenient expression of  $\chi_{ab}$  given in (2.31). For the first square bracket we use (2.58) and  $\partial_{\eta} f(\eta - r) = -\partial_r f(\eta - r)$  and evaluate the expression at  $\mathcal{I}^+$  by setting  $\eta = 0$ . The result is:

$$\frac{1}{\eta} \left[ \left( \partial_{\eta}^{2} - \frac{1}{\eta} \partial_{\eta} \right) \chi_{\bar{a}\bar{b}} \right] (\vec{x}) \stackrel{\circ}{=} -\frac{4G}{r} \partial_{r} \left( \frac{1}{r} \partial_{r} \int \mathrm{d}^{3}x' \, \mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta_{\mathrm{ret}}, \vec{x}') \right).$$
(2.68)

As we noted after (2.58), although the tail term  $b_{ab}$  in the expression (2.17) of  $\chi_{ab}$  does contribute to the result, the process of taking derivatives has made the constant term  $C_{ab}$  in  $b_{ab}$  disappear and the result depends only on the behavior of the source at retarded time.

Next, consider the second square bracket in the integrand of (2.67). Since the term multiplying this bracket has a well-defined limit to  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , we can replace  $T^m$  by its limiting value  $-Hr\hat{r}^m$  at  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . Using (2.31,) we find that

$$\left[T^m \mathring{\nabla}_m \chi_{\bar{c}\bar{d}}\right](\vec{x}) = \frac{4GH}{r} \int d^3x' \,\mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\eta_{\rm ret}, \vec{x}') \,. \tag{2.69}$$

Substituting (2.68) and (2.69) in the expression for radiated energy (2.67), performing an integration by parts, and using eq. (2.40) to express the integral over the stress-energy tensor in terms of quadrupole moments, we obtain

$$E_{T} \stackrel{\hat{=}}{=} \frac{G}{8\pi H} \int \frac{\mathrm{dr}}{r} \mathrm{d}^{2}S \bigg[ \left( \partial_{r} Hr \big( \ddot{Q}_{ab}^{(\rho)} + 2H \dot{Q}_{ab}^{(\rho)} + H\dot{Q}_{ab}^{(p)} + 2H^{2}Q_{ab}^{(p)} \big) \right) \times \\ \left( \partial_{r} Hr \big( \ddot{Q}_{cd}^{(\rho)} + 2H \dot{Q}_{cd}^{(\rho)} + H\dot{Q}_{cd}^{(p)} + 2H^{2}Q_{cd}^{(p)} \big)^{TT} \bigg) \bigg] \dot{q}^{ac} \dot{q}^{bd}, \qquad (2.70)$$

where  $d^2S$  is the unit 2-sphere volume element of the flat metric  $\mathring{q}_{ab}$  at  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , and, as before an 'overdot' denotes the Lie derivative with respect to  $T^a$ . Finally, using the fact that the operation  $r\partial_r$  commutes with the operation of extracting the TT part and that the affine parameter T along the integral curves of  $T^a$  satisfies dT = dr/(rH) at  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , we obtain

$$E_T \stackrel{\circ}{=} \frac{G}{8\pi} \int_{\mathcal{I}^+} \mathrm{d}T \,\mathrm{d}^2 S \left[ \mathcal{R}_{ab}(\vec{x}) \,\mathcal{R}_{cd}^{TT}(\vec{x}) \,\mathring{q}^{ac} \mathring{q}^{bd} \right], \tag{2.71}$$

where the 'radiation field'  $\mathcal{R}_{ab}(\vec{x})$  on  $\mathcal{I}^+$  is given by

$$\mathcal{R}_{ab}(\vec{x}) = \left[ \ddot{Q}_{ab}^{(\rho)} + 3H\ddot{Q}_{ab}^{(\rho)} + 2H^2\dot{Q}_{ab}^{(\rho)} + H\ddot{Q}_{ab}^{(p)} + 3H^2\dot{Q}_{ab}^{(p)} + 2H^3Q_{ab}^{(p)} \right] (\eta_{\text{ret}}) , \quad (2.72)$$

where, as before,  $\eta_{\text{ret}} = \eta - r \triangleq -r$ . Note that  $\mathcal{R}_{ab}$  is a field on  $\mathcal{I}^+$  because, given a point  $\vec{x}$  on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , the quadrupole moments  $Q_{ab}^{(\rho)}$  and  $Q_{ab}^{(p)}$  are obtained by performing an integral over the source along the 3-surface  $\eta = \eta_{\rm ret}$  and these 3-surfaces change as we change  $\vec{x}$  on  $\mathcal{I}^+$  (see Figure 2.1). This occurs also in the standard quadrupole formula in flat space. There is, however one difference from the standard formula: (2.71) uses the TT decomposition rather than the tt decomposition. Indeed, since the tt decomposition used in the flat space analysis is tied to the 1/r-expansion, it is not very useful in the de Sitter context. One consequence is that the TTlabel appears only on the  $\mathcal{R}_{cd}$  term in (2.71); the term  $\mathcal{R}_{ab}$  is not automatically TT because the volume element in (2.71) is not  $d^3x$ . Finally, while components of individual terms such as  $\ddot{Q}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}^{(\rho)}(0,\vec{x})$  depend only on  $r \equiv |\vec{x}|$  at  $\mathcal{I}^+$  and not on angles, an angular dependence is introduced while taking the TT part. Therefore, the total integrand of (2.71) has a genuine angular dependence; otherwise one could have trivially performed the angular integral and replaced it just by a  $4\pi$  factor. Conceptually, this situation is the same as for the standard quadrupole formula in flat spacetime: the tt operation also introduces angular dependence.

Finally, as in the  $\Lambda = 0$  calculation, let us extract power  $P_T$  radiated by the system at any 'instant of time'  $T_0$  at  $\mathcal{I}^+$  (i.e., a 2-sphere cross-section of  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , orthogonal to the orbits of the 'time-translation'  $T^a$ ):

$$P_T(T_0) \doteq \frac{G}{8\pi} \int_{T=T_0} d^2 S \left[ \mathcal{R}^{ab}(\vec{x}) \, \mathcal{R}^{TT}_{ab}(\vec{x}) \right]$$
(2.73)

While the expression (2.64) of radiated energy is completely local in  $\chi_{ab}$ , a degree of non-locality enters while casting it in terms of sources: (2.73) involves only the TT-part of one of the radiation fields. However, because the TT-part is taken only for one of the two radiation fields, one can show that if  $\mathcal{L}_T T_{ab} = 0$  at an instant  $\eta_o$ , then the power at  $\mathcal{I}^+$  vanishes at the cross-section  $T = T_0$  representing the intersection of  $\mathcal{I}^+$  with the null cone with vertex ( $\eta_o, \vec{x} = \vec{0}$ ).

The expression (2.71) of radiated energy is the main result of this section. As in Einstein's quadrupole formula, it has been derived using the first post-Newtonian

approximation under the assumption that we have an externally specified, first order stress-energy tensor  $T_{ab}$  satisfying the conservation equation with respect to the background metric.

Remark: The covariant phase space  $\Gamma_{\text{Cov}}$  constructed and used in [35] to obtain flux formulas at  $\mathcal{I}^+$  consists of homogeneous solutions to linearized Einstein's equations. In this chapter, we are considering retarded solutions with a first order source  $T_{ab}$ . However, in the shaded neighborhood of  $\mathcal{I}^+$  shown in the left panel of Figure 2.1, all (trace-reversed) metric perturbations  $\bar{\gamma}_{ab}$  satisfy the homogeneous equation and there is a family of Cauchy surfaces for this neighborhood that approach  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . Therefore, one can use the covariant phase space framework in this neighborhood to calculate fluxes of energy, momentum and angular momentum carried by the perturbations  $\bar{\gamma}_{ab}$  across  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . In this calculation, we used the leadingorder terms in the expression (2.43) of  $\chi_{ab}$ , ignoring terms of order  $\mathcal{O}((D_o/\ell_\Lambda)(1 - \eta/r))$  and  $\mathcal{O}(v)$  compared to terms of order  $\mathcal{O}(1)$ . However, as noted before, the simplified formula (2.31) for the field  $\chi_{ab}$  is valid in an entire neighborhood of  $\mathcal{I}^+$ (the shaded region in the left panel of Figure 2.1). Finally note that, since the flux formula is gauge invariant, the calculation can be carried out in any gauge.

#### 2.4.3 Properties of fluxes across $\mathcal{I}^+$

Our formula of the energy carried by gravitational waves across  $\mathcal{I}^+$  have several interesting features which we now discuss in some detail.

(1) First, the cosmological constant term does survive (through  $H = \sqrt{\Lambda/3}$ ) even at  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . Nonetheless, we explicitly see that, in this first post-Newtonian approximation, the radiated energy is still quadrupolar.

(2) As we discussed in Section 2.4.1, because of its conformal properties, it is clear that  $\mathcal{E}_{ab}$  has sharp propagation. However, the fundamental formula (2.64) for the energy flux, we started out with depends also on  $\chi_{ab}$  whose expression does contain an integral over all  $\eta'$  that extends all the way back to  $\eta' = -\infty$ . So, why is there no such integral in the final expressions of radiated energy? The reason is that what features in (2.64) is not  $\chi_{ab}$  itself but rather, *its derivative*,  $(\mathcal{L}_T + 2H)\chi_{ab} = -Hr \partial_r \chi_{ab}$ . The integral over  $\eta'$  disappears while taking this derivative, as we saw in (2.69). This is why our quadrupole formula (2.71) does not contain an explicit tail term in spite of backscattering due to the background de Sitter curvature. As in the asymptotically flat case, of course, tail terms will arise at higher post-Newtonian orders.

(3) In contrast to the Einstein formula, there is a contribution from the time variation of the *pressure* quadrupole and, furthermore, from the *pressure quadrupole itself*. It is well known from the Raychaudhuri equation in cosmology that pressure contributes to gravitational attraction in any FLRW universe. Eq. (2.71) shows that, if  $\Lambda > 0$ , it also *sources* gravitational waves already in the leading order post-Newtonian approximation. If  $p \ll \rho$  as for Newtonian fluids, then the pressure terms  $H\ddot{Q}_{ab}^{(p)} + 3H^2\dot{Q}_{ab}^{(p)}$  can be neglected compared to the density terms  $3H\ddot{Q}_{ab}^{(\rho)} + 2H^2\dot{Q}_{ab}^{(\rho)}$  and the expression (2.72) of  $\mathcal{R}_{ab}$  simplifies to:

$$\mathcal{R}_{ab}(\vec{x}) = \left[\ddot{Q}_{ab}^{(\rho)} + 3H\ddot{Q}_{ab}^{(\rho)} + 2H^2\dot{Q}_{ab}^{(\rho)} + 2H^3Q_{ab}^{(p)}\right](\eta_{\rm ret}).$$
(2.74)

For compact binaries of immediate interest to the gravitational wave detectors, we also have  $\Delta t_{\rm ret}/t_H \ll 1$  where  $\Delta t_{\rm ret}$  is the dynamical time scale in which the mass and pressure quadrupole change by factors of  $\mathcal{O}(1)$  and  $t_H$ , the Hubble scale.<sup>12</sup> Then the formula further simplifies and acquires a form similar to that of the  $\Lambda = 0$  Einstein formula:

$$\mathcal{R}_{ab}(\vec{x}) = \ddot{Q}_{ab}^{(\rho)}(\eta_{\rm ret}) \tag{2.75}$$

When  $\Lambda$  is as tiny as the observations imply, the de Sitter quadrupole and its 'overdots' are extremely well approximated by those in Minkowski spacetime and the  $\Lambda > 0$  first post-Newtonian approximation is extremely well-approximated by the standard one. The full expression (2.72) provides a precise control over the errors one makes while using the Einstein formula in presence of  $\Lambda$ .

(4) Positivity of energy flux is not transparent because the integrand of (2.71) is not manifestly positive, as it is in Einstein's formula for flat space. However, one can establish positivity as follows. First, properties of the retarded Green's function imply that the  $\chi_{ab}^{TT}(\eta, \vec{x})$  can be expressed using the TT part  $\mathcal{T}_{ab}^{TT'}$  of  $\mathcal{T}_{ab}(\eta, \vec{x'})$ ,

 $<sup>^{12}{\</sup>rm This}$  need not be the case for the very long wavelength emission due to the coalescence of supermassive black holes.

where the prime in TT' emphasizes that the transverse traceless part refers to the argument  $\vec{x}'$ :

$$\chi_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}^{TT}(\eta,\,\vec{x}) = 4G \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 \vec{x}'}{|\vec{x} - \vec{x}'|} \,\mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}^{TT'}(\eta_{\mathrm{Ret}},\,\vec{x}') + \,4G \int \mathrm{d}^3 \vec{x}' \int_{-\infty}^{\eta_{\mathrm{Ret}}} \mathrm{d}\eta' \,\frac{1}{\eta'} \,\partial_{\eta'} \mathcal{T}_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}^{TT'}(\eta',\,\vec{x}') \,.$$
(2.76)

(The TT in  $\chi_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}^{TT}(\eta, \vec{x})$  on the left side refers to  $\vec{x}$ .) Next, let us rewrite the expression (2.67) in terms of  $\chi_{ab}^{TT}$ 

$$E_T \stackrel{\circ}{=} \lim_{\to \mathcal{I}} \frac{1}{32\pi G H^2} \int \mathrm{d}^3 x \left[ \frac{1}{\eta} \left( \partial_\eta^2 - \frac{1}{\eta} \partial_\eta \right) \chi_{ab}^{TT} \right] \left[ T^m \mathring{\nabla}_m \chi_{cd}^{TT} \right] \mathring{q}^{ac} \mathring{q}^{bd} \tag{2.77}$$

where we have used the fact that  $\partial_{\eta}$  and  $T^m \mathring{\nabla}_m$  commute with the operation of taking the TT part. Finally, let us substitute (2.76) in (2.77) and simplify following the procedure of Section 2.3.1 and steps used to pass from (2.67) and (2.69).<sup>13</sup> We obtain:

$$E_T \stackrel{\circ}{=} \frac{G}{2\pi} \int_{\mathcal{I}^+} \mathrm{d}T \,\mathrm{d}^2 S \left[ \partial_r \int \mathrm{d}^3 x' \mathcal{T}_{ab}^{TT'}(\eta_{\mathrm{ret}}, \vec{x}') \right] \left[ \partial_r \int \mathrm{d}^3 x' \mathcal{T}_{cd}^{TT'}(\eta_{\mathrm{ret}}, \vec{x}') \right] \mathring{q}^{ac} \mathring{q}^{cd} ,$$

$$(2.78)$$

which is manifestly positive.

As we discussed in Chapter 1, de Sitter spacetime admits gravitational waves whose energy can be arbitrarily negative in the linearized approximation because the time translation Killing field  $T^a$  is space-like in a neighborhood of  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . Indeed, for systems under consideration, gravitational waves satisfy the homogeneous, linearized Einstein's equations in a neighborhood of  $\mathcal{I}^+$  and there is an *infinite* dimensional subspace of these solutions for which the total energy is negative [35]. What, then, is the physical reason behind the positivity of our  $E_T$ ? Consider the shaded triangular region in the left panel of Figure 2.1. It is bounded by  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , upper half of  $E^+(i^-)$  and  $E^-(i^+)$ . The time translation vector field  $T^a$  is tangential to all these three boundaries, being space-like on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , null and past directed on the upper half of  $E^+(i^-)$ , and null and future directed on  $E^-(i^+)$ . As a result, for any solution, the energy flux across the upper half of  $E^+(i^-)$  is negative, that across  $E^-(i^+)$  is positive, and that across  $\mathcal{I}^+$  is the sum of the two, which can have either

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>We assume that integrals involving  $\mathcal{T}_{ab}^{TT'}$  are all well-defined. This is a plausible assumption since  $\mathcal{T}_{ab}$  is smooth and of compact support whence its Fourier transform is also in Schwartz space.

sign and arbitrary magnitude. Thus, the potentially negative energy contribution at  $\mathcal{I}^+$  can be traced directly to the incoming gravitational waves across the upper half of  $E^+(i^-)$ . Now, in the present calculation, physical considerations led us to the *retarded* metric perturbation created by the time varying quadrupoles. Therefore there is no flux of energy across the cosmological horizon  $E^+(i^-)$ ; the potential negative energy flux across  $\mathcal{I}^+$  is simply absent. The entire energy flux across  $\mathcal{I}^+$  equals the energy flux across  $E^-(i^+)$  which is always positive because  $T^a$  is future directed there. To summarize then, while in general the energy flux across  $\mathcal{I}^+$  can have either sign, the metric perturbation  $\bar{\chi}_{ab}$  at  $\mathcal{I}^+$  created by physically reasonable sources are so constrained that the energy carried by gravitational waves across  $\mathcal{I}^+$  is necessarily positive.

(5) The fifth feature concerns time dependence of the source. Equations satisfied by the full (trace-reversed, rescaled) metric perturbation  $\bar{\chi}_{ab}$  refer only to the background metric  $\bar{g}_{ab}$  and  $T^a$  is a Killing field of  $\bar{g}_{ab}$  which is time-like in the region in which the source  $T_{ab}$  resides. Therefore, it follows that if the source is static, i.e., if  $\mathcal{L}_T T_{ab} = 0$ , then the retarded solution  $\bar{\chi}_{ab}$  must satisfy  $\mathcal{L}_T \bar{\chi}_{ab} = 0$ . Physically, one would expect there to be no flux of energy across  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . But this is not manifest in eq. (2.71) since it contains a term  $Q_{ab}^{(p)}$  that does *not* involve a time derivative. Let us therefore examine the fields that enter the definitions (2.35) and (2.36) of quadrupole moments. A simple calculation shows that, if  $\mathcal{L}_T T_{ab} = 0$ , the fields that enter the definitions of quadrupole moments satisfy

$$\mathcal{L}_T \rho = 0; \quad \mathcal{L}_T p = 0; \quad \mathcal{L}_T a(\eta) x_{\bar{b}} = 0; \quad \mathcal{L}_T \dot{e}_a^{\bar{a}} = -H \dot{e}_a^{\bar{a}}; \quad (2.79)$$

and the 3-dimensional volume element dV is preserved under the isometry generated by  $T^a$ . Therefore we have:

$$\mathcal{L}_T Q_{ab}^{(\rho)} = -2H Q_{ab}^{(\rho)} \text{ and } \mathcal{L}_T Q_{ab}^{(p)} = -2H Q_{ab}^{(p)}.$$
 (2.80)

Thus, in contrast to what happens in the Minkowski spacetime calculation, because of the expansion of the de Sitter scale factor, now  $\mathcal{L}_T T_{ab} = 0$  does not imply that quadrupoles are left invariant by the flow generated by  $T^a$ . However, using (2.43), (2.71), (2.73) and (2.80), it immediately follows that

if 
$$\mathcal{L}_T T_{ab} = 0$$
 everywhere, then  $E_T = 0$ , and  $P_T(T_0) = 0$  (2.81)

for all  $T_0$ . (In fact, it follows from eq. (2.73) that an 'instantaneous' result also holds: if  $\mathcal{L}_T T_{ab}|_{\eta=\eta_{\text{ret}}} = 0$ , then  $P_T(T_0) = 0$  where  $\eta_{\text{ret}} = \eta - r_0 = -r_0$  and  $T_0 = \frac{1}{H} \ln |r_0H|$ .) Thus, the presence of the term without a time derivative of the pressure quadrupole  $Q_{ab}^{(p)}$  is in fact essential to ensure that if  $\mathcal{L}_T T_{ab} = 0$  then  $E_T$  and  $P_T(T_0)$  vanish on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ .<sup>14</sup>

(6) Next, let us consider the limit  $\Lambda \to 0$ . The procedure is rather long as we have to 'pass through' the physical spacetime as in [35] and use results from the covariant phase space framework relating expressions involving the TT and ttdecompositions in Minkowski spacetime. We will only summarize the main steps here.

Consider the 1-parameter family of de Sitter backgrounds  $\bar{g}_{ab}^{(\Lambda)}$ , parametrized by  $\Lambda$ , with a 1-parameter family  $T_{ab}^{(\Lambda)}$  of stress-energy tensors, each satisfying the conservation law with respect to the respective  $\bar{g}_{ab}^{(\Lambda)}$  and the condition  $\mathcal{L}_T T_{ab}^{(\Lambda)} = 0$ outside a compact time interval. Let  $\chi_{ab}^{(\Lambda)}(t, \vec{x})$  denote the retarded solutions (2.31) to the field equations and gauge conditions. For each  $\Lambda$ , one can express this solution in terms of the source quadrupoles as in (2.43). The question is whether as  $\Lambda \to 0$  this 1-parameter family of solutions has a well-defined limit  $\mathring{\chi}_{ab}(t, \vec{x})$ . If so, the analysis in Section IV.B.2 of [35] shows that: i)  $\mathring{\chi}_{ab}(t, \vec{x})$  satisfies the dynamical equation and gauge conditions with respect to the Minkowski metric  $\mathring{\eta}_{ab}$ ; and, ii) the expression (2.71) of energy in the gravitational waves has a well-defined limit, which is furthermore precisely the energy in the solution  $\mathring{\chi}_{ab}(t, \vec{x})$ , calculated in Minkowski spacetime.

We have already shown in Section 2.2 that the exact retarded solutions do tend to the exact retarded solution in Minkowski spacetime. We will now show that this is also the case for the *approximate* solution (2.43). As discussed in Section 2.3.3, the tail term expressed in terms of quadrupole moments vanishes in the limit  $\Lambda \rightarrow 0$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>This consistency would have been obscured if we had ignored the pressure terms relative to the density terms in (2.40), and used the resulting approximation (2.42) to arrive at the expression of  $\chi_{ab}$ . That is why we kept all the pressure quadrupole terms even though they can be ignored relative to the analogous density quadrupole terms for Newtonian fluids.

The discussion for the sharp term  $\sharp_{ab}(t, \vec{x})$  in (2.43) is more delicate. In the  $\Lambda \to 0$ limit, we have  $T^a \to \mathring{t}^a$ , a time translation in Minkowski metric  $\mathring{\eta}_{ab}$ ;  $\mathcal{L}_T \to \mathcal{L}_t$ ;  $a(t) \to 1$  and  $Q_{ab}^{(\rho)} \to \mathring{Q}_{ab}^{(\rho)}$ , the mass quadrupole moment constructed from the limiting stress-energy tensor  $\mathring{T}_{ab}$  using the Minkowski metric  $\mathring{\eta}_{ab}$ . Therefore, the limiting solution is given by

$$\lim_{\Lambda \to 0} \chi_{ab}^{(\Lambda)}(t, \vec{x}) = \frac{2G}{r} \mathcal{L}_t \mathcal{L}_t \mathring{Q}_{ab}^{(\rho)}(t_{\text{ret}}) =: \mathring{\chi}_{ab}(t, \vec{x})$$
(2.82)

for all  $r \gg d(t)$ , where d is the physical size of the source with respect to the Minkowski metric  $\mathring{\eta}_{ab}$ . Now, since by assumption the source is active for a finite time interval, on a t = const surface sufficiently in the future, the support of the initial data of  $\mathring{\chi}_{ab}(t, \vec{x})$  is entirely in a region where the approximation holds. Let us consider only the future of this slice. In that spacetime region we have a 1-parameter family of solutions  $\chi_{ab}^{(\Lambda)}(t, \vec{x})$  to the source-free equations whose total energy is given by (2.71) for each  $\Lambda > 0$ . The limit  $\mathring{\chi}_{ab}(t, \vec{x})$  is well-defined, as required. Therefore, in the  $\Lambda \to 0$  limit the energy expression (2.71) goes over to the energy in  $\mathring{\chi}_{ab}(t, \vec{x})$  with respect to  $\mathring{t}^a$  in Minkowski space (see eq. (4.24) of [35]). And we know that this energy is given by the Einstein formula. Thus, in the limit  $\Lambda \to 0$  one recovers the standard quadrupole formula in Minkowski spacetime.

To summarize, our energy expression (2.71) arises as the Hamiltonian on the covariant phase space of linearized solutions on de Sitter spacetime, and using results from [35] we can conclude that it tends to the expression of the Hamiltonian in Minkowski space in the  $\Lambda \to 0$  limit, which in turn reduces to the Einstein flux formula at  $\mathring{\mathcal{I}}^+$ . The argument is indirect at the moment because in linearized gravity off *Minkowski spacetime* we have not specified the relation between the TT and tt decompositions. The equality between the two expressions of energy, the first evaluated on space-like planes in terms of the TT decomposition and the second, evaluated at  $\mathscr{I}^+$  in terms of tt is well known. In the next chapter, we will also make te relation between the TT and tt decomposition of the gravitational wave perturbation off Minkowski spacetime explicit. This will close the gap in the indirect argument above and make it transparent that in the  $\Lambda \to 0$  limit the power radiated on a de Sitter background reduces to the power on a Minkowski background.

(7) So far we have focussed on the energy carried by gravitational waves. Let us

now discuss the flux of 3-momentum across  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . The component of the 3-momentum along a space translation  $S^a{}_{\overline{i}}$  is given by [35]

$$P_{\bar{i}} \stackrel{\circ}{=} \frac{1}{16\pi GH} \int_{\mathcal{I}^+} \mathrm{d}^3 x \, \mathcal{E}_{cd} \left( \mathcal{L}_{S_{\bar{i}}} \chi_{ab} \right) \mathring{q}^{ac} \mathring{q}^{bd} \tag{2.83}$$

We can again use (2.62) to express  $\mathcal{E}_{cd}$  in terms of  $\chi_{cd}$ :  $\mathcal{E}_{ab} = [\frac{1}{\eta} (\partial_{\eta}^2 - \frac{1}{\eta} \partial_{\eta}) \chi_{ab}]^{TT}$ . Now, it is clear from the expression (2.31) of  $\chi_{ab}$  that its dependence on  $\vec{x}$  comes entirely from  $\eta_{ret}$ . Therefore,  $\chi_{ab}$  in invariant under the parity operation  $\Pi : \vec{x} \to -\vec{x}$ , whence  $\frac{1}{\eta} (\partial_{\eta}^2 - \frac{1}{\eta} \partial_{\eta}) \chi_{ab}$  is also invariant. Since the operation of taking the TT-part refers only to the 3-metric  $\mathring{q}_{ab}$ , it also commutes with  $\Pi$ . Hence  $\mathcal{E}_{ab}$  is even under  $\Pi$ . The second term,  $S^m_{\bar{i}} \mathring{D}_m \chi_{ab}$  is manifestly odd under  $\Pi$  since  $S^a$  is odd but  $\chi_{ab}$  is even. Therefore the integral on the right side of (2.83) vanishes. Thus, as in the  $\Lambda = 0$  case, the gravitational waves sourced by a time changing quadrupole do not carry 3-momentum in the post-de Sitter, first post-Newtonian approximation so long as  $D_o \ll \ell_{\Lambda}$ .

(8) Finally, let us consider angular momentum. The flux of angular momentum in the i-direction is given by [35]:

$$J_{\bar{i}} \stackrel{\circ}{=} \frac{1}{16\pi GH} \int_{\mathcal{I}^+} \mathrm{d}^3 x \ \mathcal{E}_{cd} \left( \mathcal{L}_{R_{\bar{i}}} \chi_{ab} \right) \mathring{q}^{ac} \mathring{q}^{bd} \tag{2.84}$$

where  $R^{m}_{i}$  is the rotational Killing field in the i-th spatial direction. Now, since the  $\vec{x}$ -dependence in  $\chi_{ab}$  is derived entirely through  $\eta_{ret}$ , we have

$$\mathcal{L}_{R_{\bar{i}}}\chi_{ab} = \chi_{mb}\,\mathring{D}_{a}R^{m}{}_{\bar{i}} + \chi_{am}\,\mathring{D}_{b}R^{m}{}_{\bar{i}} = -2\chi_{m(b}\,\mathring{\epsilon}_{a)n}^{\ m}\,\mathring{e}^{n}{}_{\bar{i}}\,.$$
(2.85)

Hence,

$$J_{\bar{i}} = -\frac{1}{8\pi GH} \int_{\mathcal{I}^+} \mathrm{d}^3 x \, \mathcal{E}_{cd} \left( \mathring{\epsilon}_{am}{}^n \, \mathring{e}^m{}_{\bar{i}} \, \chi_{nb} \right) \mathring{q}^{ac} \mathring{q}^{bd}$$
(2.86)

Since  $\chi_{cd}$  now appears without a derivative in (2.86), there is a major difference between the calculations of energy and 3-momentum fluxes across  $\mathcal{I}^+$ : Now the integral over  $\eta'$  in the tail term  $\flat_{ab}$  in the expression (2.43) of  $\chi_{ab}$  persists. To evaluate the right side of (2.86), for the sharp term of  $\chi_{ab}$  we use eq. (2.43) and for the tail term the integrated expression in eq. (2.46), and for  $\mathcal{E}_{ab}$  we use eqs. (2.62) and (2.68) as in the calculation of the energy flux. These simplifications lead to:

$$J_{\bar{i}} \stackrel{\circ}{=} \frac{G}{4\pi} \int_{\mathcal{I}^+} dT \, d^2 S \left[ \mathcal{R}^{ab} \right] \left[ \mathring{\epsilon}_{am}^{n} \, \mathring{e}^{m}_{\bar{i}} \left( \ddot{Q}_{nb}^{(\rho)} + H\dot{Q}_{nb}^{(\rho)} + H\dot{Q}_{nb}^{(p)} + H^2 Q_{nb}^{(p)} \right) \right]^{TT},$$
(2.87)

where, as before T is the affine parameter along the integral curves of the 'time translation' Killing field  $T^a$  and  $\mathcal{R}^{ab}$  is defined in (2.72). Note that if the stressenergy satisfies  $\mathcal{L}_T T_{ab} = 0$  at some time  $\eta = \eta_o$  then the 'radiation field'  $\mathcal{R}_{ab}$ vanishes on the cross-section  $r = \eta_o$  on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , whence the flux of (energy and) angular momentum vanish on that cross-section. Similarly if  $\mathcal{L}_{R_i} T_{ab}$  vanishes at  $\eta = \eta_o$ , then the flux of angular momentum vanishes on the cross-section  $r = \eta_o$ . Finally, in the limit  $\Lambda \to 0$ , using the same argument as that used for energy, one can show that (2.86) reduces to the standard formula in Minkowski spacetime. (Again the argument is indirect at the moment because the expression of the Hamiltonian generating rotations on the covariant phase space in Minkowski spacetime involves the TT part of the solution while the standard expression of angular momentum at null infinity involves the tt-part. To make this argument direct, we show their equivalence on  $\mathcal{I}$  in Chapter 4.)

## 2.5 Discussion

Einstein's quadrupole formula has played a seminal role in the study of gravitational waves emitted by astrophysical sources. His analysis was carried out only to the leading post-Newtonian order, assuming that the time-changing quadrupole is a first order, external source in Minkowski spacetime. In spite of these restrictions, his quadrupole formula sufficed to bring to forefront the extreme difficulty of detecting these waves. However, thanks to the richness of our physical Universe and ingenuity of observers, impressive advances have occurred over the last four decades. First, the careful monitoring of the Hulse-Taylor pulsar has provided clear evidence for the validity of the quadrupole formula to a  $10^{-3}$  level accuracy. Furthermore, gravitational wave observatories, equipped with detectors with unprecedented sensitivity, have directly detected gravitational waves [2,3]. Therefore it is now all the more important that our theoretical understanding of gravitational waves be sufficiently deep to do full justice to the impressive status of the field on the observational front. The goal of this dissertation is to fill a key conceptual

gap that still remains: incorporation of the positive cosmological constant in our understanding of the properties of gravitational waves and dynamics of their sources.

Since the observed value of the cosmological constant is so small, one's first reaction is just to ignore its presence. However, as discussed in Chapter 1 and Section 2.1, even a tiny cosmological constant can cast a long shadow because it abruptly changes the conceptual set-up that is used to analyze gravitational waves. Therefore, without a systematic analysis, one can not be confident that the quadrupole formula would continue to be valid in presence of a positive cosmological constant.

Indeed, our analysis revealed that the presence of a cosmological constant does modify Einstein's analysis in unforeseen ways. In particular:

(i) The propagation equation for metric perturbations in the transverse-traceless gauge is not the wave equation as in Minkowski spacetime, but has an effective mass term (see eq. (2.2)). Although this mass is tiny, there is potential for the differences from Minkowskian propagation to accumulate over cosmological distances to produce  $\mathcal{O}(1)$  departures in the value of the metric perturbation in the asymptotic region;

(ii) The retarded field receives contributions from both a sharp term and a tail term due to the backscattering by de Sitter curvature. Cumulative effects make the tail term comparable to the sharp term (which has the same form as in Minkowski spacetime) in the asymptotic region near  $\mathcal{I}^+$ ;

(iii) Since the radial r coordinate goes to infinity  $\mathring{\mathcal{I}}^+$  of Minkowski spacetime, the analysis of waves makes heavy use of 1/r expansions. These can no longer be used in de Sitter spacetime because r ranges over the entire positive real axis on de Sitter  $\mathscr{I}^+$ . In particular, the tt-decomposition, that is local in space being tailored to the 1/r expansions in Minkowski spacetime, is no longer meaningful near de Sitter  $\mathscr{I}^+$ . Thus, two of the main techniques used for spacetimes with  $\Lambda = 0$  do not apply when analyzing gravitational radiation near/on de Sitter  $\mathscr{I}^+$ .

(iv) The retarded, first order metric perturbation depends not only on the mass quadrupole as in Einstein's calculation but also on the pressure quadrupole. Also, while only the third time derivative of the mass quadrupole features in Einstein's calculation, now we also have a contribution from lower time derivatives of the two quadrupoles, as well as the pressure quadrupole itself;

(v) The *physical* wavelengths  $\lambda_{phys}$  of perturbations grow exponentially as the

wave propagates and vastly exceed the curvature radius  $\ell_{\Lambda} = H^{-1} \equiv \sqrt{3/\Lambda}$  in the asymptotic region near  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . Since waves 'experience' the curvature, their propagation is quite different from that in flat space. Also, since the expression (2.67) involves the metric perturbation evaluated in the zone where  $\lambda_{\text{phys}} > \ell_{\Lambda}$ , a priori the effect of  $\Lambda$  on radiated energy could be non-negligible;

(vi)  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , the arena used to analyze properties of gravitational waves unambiguously changes its character from being a null future boundary of spacetime to a space-like one. As a result, all Killing fields of the background de Sitter spacetime – including the 'time translation' used to define energy – are space-like in a neighborhood of  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . Consequently, while linearized gravitational waves carry positive energy in Minkowski spacetime, de Sitter spacetime admits gravitational waves carrying arbitrarily large negative energy.

These differences are sufficiently striking to cast a doubt on one's initial intuition that the cosmological constant will have no role in the study of compact binaries. For example, they open up the possibility that Einstein's quadrupole formula could receive significant corrections – e.g., of the order  $\mathcal{O}(H\lambda_{phy})$  – even though the observed value of H is so small. Interestingly, the final expression (2.73) of radiated power shows that this does not happen for astrophysical processes such as the Hulse-Taylor binary pulsar, or the compact binary mergers that are of greatest interest to the current ground based gravitational wave observatories. How does this come about? Why do the qualitative differences noted in the last paragraph not matter in the final result for these systems? The physical reasons can be summarized as follows:

(a) First, while the propagation of  $\chi_{ab}$  indeed has a tail term, the dynamical part of the tail term propagates along the null cone. The non-dynamical part is simply a constant term that does not play a role in radiated energy as only certain *derivatives* of  $\chi_{ab}$  contribute to energy.

(b) Second, while the final expressions (2.71) and (2.87) of radiated energy and angular momentum are evaluated at  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , the integrand refers to the time derivatives of quadrupole moments evaluated at *retarded* instants of time. In other words, even though (2.71) and (2.87) involve fields at late times, the time scales in the 'dots' in these expressions are determined by  $\lambda_{\text{phy}}^{\text{source}}$ , the wavelength evaluated at the source, and *not* by the exponentially larger physical wavelengths  $\lambda_{\text{phy}}^{\text{asym}}$  in the asymptotic region. Therefore for the sources on which gravitational wave observatories will focus in the foreseeable future,  $H\ddot{Q}_{ab}^{(\rho)}$ , for example, is suppressed relative to  $\ddot{Q}_{ab}^{(\rho)}$  by the factor  $H \lambda_{\rm phy}^{\rm source}$  (rather than enhanced by the factor  $H \lambda_{\rm phy}^{\rm asym}$ ) and  $\ddot{Q}_{ab}^{(\rho)}$  completely dominates over the remaining 5 terms (which have  $H, H^2$  or  $H^3$  as coefficient). In particular, the pressure quadrupole can be neglected for these sources. Had our expression of power referred to time scales associated with the asymptotic values of  $\lambda_{\rm phy}$ , effects discussed in the previous paragraph would have completely altered the picture. Then, the terms with the highest powers of H – in particular the pressure quadrupole  $Q_{ab}^{(p)}$  term – would have dominated and the contribution due to  $\ddot{Q}_{ab}^{(\rho)}$  would have been completely negligible!

(c) Third, while a neighborhood of  $\mathcal{I}^+$  in the Poincaré patch  $(M_{\rm P}^+, \bar{g}_{ab})$  does admit gravitational waves carrying arbitrarily large negative energies, our calculation showed that such waves can not result from time-changing quadrupoles. The reason is simplest to explain using the shaded region in the left panel of Figure 2.1. Negative contribution to the energy at  $\mathcal{I}^+$  can come only from the waves that arrive from the upper half of  $E^+(i^-)$ . But the physics of the problem led us to consider retarded solutions with the given  $T_{ab}$  as source and for these solutions there is no energy flux at all across  $E^+(i^-)$ . This is why our energy flux (2.71) across  $\mathcal{I}^+$  is necessarily positive.

Because of these reasons, for binary coalescences that are of greatest interest to the current gravitational wave observatories, energy and power are determined essentially by the third time derivative of the mass quadrupole, as in Einstein's formula. This quadrupole moment (2.35) is calculated using the physical de Sitter geometry and the time derivative 'overdot' refers to the Lie derivative with respect to the de Sitter time translation  $T^a$ . However, in the limit  $\Lambda \to 0$ , it goes over the mass quadrupole used in Einstein's formula. Therefore, for compact binaries of interest to the current gravitational wave observatories, the difference is again negligible.

However, there are some circumstances in which the differences between  $\Lambda = 0$ and  $\Lambda > 0$  could be significant. First, consider the tail term in the expression (2.43) of  $\chi_{ab}$ . Since it arises because of backscattering due to de Sitter curvature, it is proportional to H. However, it involves an integral over a cosmologically large time interval which could compensate the smallness of H and make the tail term comparable to the one that arises from sharp propagation. The tail term could then yield a significant new contribution to the memory effect [29, 56, 57] for detectors placed near  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . A second example is provided by mergers of supermassive black holes at the centers of two different galaxies, such as Milky way and Andromeda. Since the time scales associated with such galactic coalescences are cosmological, the various effects discussed above will come into play. Gravitational waves created in this process will have *extremely* long wavelength already at inception, making the departures from Einstein's quadrupole formula significant. While these waves will not be detected directly in any foreseeable future, they provide a background which could have indirect influences. An illustration of this general mechanism is provided by inflationary cosmology, where super-horizon modes can induce non-Gaussiantities in observable modes due to mode-mode coupling resulting from non-linearities of general relativity (see, e.g., [60, 61]).

To conclude, we note that this analysis also provides some hints for the gravitational radiation theory in full, non-linear general relativity with a positive  $\Lambda$ which would be of interest to geometric analysis, because of issues such as the positivity of total energy. First, to describe an isolated gravitating systems such as an oscillating star, or one collapsing to form a black hole, or a compact binary, it would be appropriate to consider only the portion of full spacetime that is bounded in the future by  $\mathcal{I}^+$  and in the past by the future cosmological event horizon  $E^+(i^-)$ . where the point  $i^{-}$  represents the past time-like infinity defined by the source. This is because the isolated system and the radiation it emits would be invisible to the rest of the spacetime. Second, the 'no-incoming radiation' boundary condition will have to be imposed on the past boundary,  $E^+(i^-)$ . Since this is an event horizon, a natural strategy would be to demand that it be a weakly isolated horizon [62-64]. It would be interesting to analyze if this condition would suffice to ensure that the flux of energy across  $\mathcal{I}^+$  is positive, as in the weak field limit discussed here. If so, one would have the desired generalization of the celebrated result due to Bondi and Sachs that gravitational waves carry away *positive* energy, in spite of the fact that the corresponding asymptotic 'time translation' on  $\mathcal{I}^+$  would now be space-like for  $\Lambda > 0$ . Third, results of [31] and [35] suggest that there will be a 2-sphere 'charge integral' – representing the generalization of the notion of Bondi-Sachs energy to the  $\Lambda > 0$  case – and the difference between charges associated with two different 2-spheres will equal the energy flux across the region bounded by the two 2-spheres. A natural question is whether this charge is also positive.<sup>15</sup> Fourth, the form (2.43)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>These Bondi-type charge integrals will also refer to an asymptotic 'time-translation'. They

of the solution  $\chi_{ab}$  at  $\mathcal{I}^+$  implies that the recently proposed [42] generalization of Bondi-type expansions for full general relativity can describe at most half the desired set of asymptotically de Sitter spacetimes. A further generalization is necessary to capture both polarizations at  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . Finally, in the linear approximation considered in this chapter, the past cosmological event horizon  $E^-(i^+)$  of the point at future time-like infinity could be taken to lie in the 'far zone'. Furthermore, since there is no incoming radiation across  $E^+(i^-)$  from (the shaded portion of the left panel of) Figure 2.1 it follows that the flux of energy across  $E^-(i^+)$  equals that across  $\mathcal{I}^+$  and is, in particular, positive. In full, non-linear general relativity, then,  $E^-(i^+)$  may well serve as an 'approximate'  $\mathcal{I}^+$  to analyze gravitational waves. Because this surface is null, it may be easier to compare results in the  $\Lambda > 0$  case with those in the  $\Lambda = 0$  case in full general relativity.

will be distinct from the ADM-type charge-integral associated with a *conformal* – rather than time-translation – symmetry discussed in [65], and the intriguing 2-sphere integral recently discovered [66], both of which are known to be positive.

# Chapter 3 Power radiated by a binary system in a de Sitter Universe

# 3.1 Introduction

In this chapter, we apply the general formula for power radiated on a de Sitter background to a concrete physical example. A widely studied example in the  $\Lambda = 0$ case is gravitational radiation emitted by a binary system of orbiting bodies. There one uses a Newtonian description for the orbital motion of the binary system to calculate the mass quadrupole moments of the source. Then using the first-order post-Newtonian approximation, one calculates the power radiated by this system at  $\mathcal{I}$  of Minkowski spacetime by looking at the third time derivative of the quadrupole moment squared. We will use similar approximations in the  $\Lambda > 0$  case. In particular, we will consider the dynamics of the source only on a short time scale compared to the time scale associated with  $\sqrt{\Lambda}$  such that the expansion of the scale factor can be neglected in describing the orbital motion and a Newtonian description of the orbital dynamics applies. That is, we will neglect terms that are  $\mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda}t_c)$  where  $t_c$  is the characteristic time scale of the system. This is also known as the high-frequency approximation. As a consequence, the stress-energy tensor describing the source is not conserved with respect to the de Sitter background and is only conserved up to  $\mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda}t_c)$  and the resulting gravitational wave is an approximate solution valid to  $\mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda}t_c)$ . Given this approximate solution, we can now calculate the power radiated. From the general formula for radiated power on a de Sitter background in eq. (2.73), the only term that survives in this approximation scheme is the third time derivative of the quadrupole moment squared. Although this formula now looks deceivingly similar to the formula for power radiated on a Minkowski background, it is different in two important aspects. First, the power radiated on a de Sitter background is evaluated on  $\mathcal{I}$  of de Sitter spacetime which is space-like, whereas the power radiated on a Minkowski background is evaluated on its  $\mathcal{I}$  which is null. Second, the notion of energy and power refers to a time translation symmetry. The world line of the center of mass of the binary follows a Killing trajectory and time derivatives of the quadrupole moment are defined by this Killing field. Therefore it is natural to use it to define energy and power. However, this vector field is space-like near and on de Sitter  $\mathcal{I}$ , while it is everywhere time-like in Minkowski spacetime (and becoming null only at  $\mathcal{I}$ ). In addition to these two crucial conceptual differences, the calculational tools used in the derivation of both formulas are rather different.

This first application of the general formula for power radiated on a de Sitter background illustrates nicely some of the general properties of gravitational power in a concrete example as well as highlighting aspects unique to the power emitted by a binary system. Here, we restrict ourselves to a binary system that evolves in an orbit that is well-approximated by a circular orbit. A good understanding of the amount of power radiated by such a relatively simple system is important for both indirect and direct observations of gravitational waves emitted by binary systems. If the power radiated in the form of gravitational waves was altered by the cosmological constant, the shrinking of the orbit and the decay in period would be modified as well. This would affect indirect observations of gravitational waves that depend on the time derivative of a binary's rotational period over long periods of time [67, 68], as well as direct observations since the power directly influences the evolution of the waveform [69, 70]. In addition, a thorough comprehension of the power radiated by this system is interesting from a theoretical standpoint.

This chapter is structured as follows. First, we carefully spell out all the approximations made to model a binary system on a de Sitter background in Section 3.2. Given these approximations, the resulting power is presented in Section 3.3 and compared to the power radiated in Minkowski spacetime. This is the heart of this chapter. Details of the calculation of the transverse-traceless part of the radiation field, needed to calculate the power, are included in Appendix A. Section 4.5 contains a summary of the result.

## 3.2 Preliminaries: Physical set-up

The physical system of interest is a binary and one models this system by a linearized source on a cosmological background spacetime. Ideally, one would like to consider a realistic FLRW model describing the different epochs of the Universe that the gravitational radiation emitted by this system would have traveled through. Here we take the approach that we would like to know the *maximal* possible effect of the cosmological constant on the gravitational radiation. Therefore, we ignore the radiation- and matter-dominated epochs of our cosmological history and consider a de Sitter background.<sup>1</sup>

To dynamically model the world lines of the two bodies with mass  $m_1$  and  $m_2$  making up the binary system, we make similar assumptions as in the standard treatment of sources in expanding spacetimes with  $\Lambda = 0$  [71,72].<sup>2</sup> These assumptions are:

1. The characteristic (proper) time scale of the system  $t_c$  and the expansion rate of the background are assumed to be such that the expansion of the Universe can be neglected during the orbital cycles of interest:

$$\frac{\dot{a}}{a}t_c \ll 1 \qquad \Longleftrightarrow \qquad \sqrt{\Lambda}t_c \ll 1. \tag{3.1}$$

This is the familiar high-frequency (short-wave) approximation [73].<sup>3</sup>

2. The relative physical separation between the two bodies  $R_*(=ar_*=a |\vec{r_1} - \vec{r_2}|)$  is such that the bodies are far apart compared to the Schwarzschild radius of either body:

$$\frac{Gm}{R_*} \ll 1$$
 and  $\frac{G\mu}{R_*} \ll 1$ , (3.2)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>A purely de Sitter background is also appropriate for the stochastic background of gravitational waves from an inflationary period, but that radiation is source-free.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Thanks to Eric Poisson for clarifications in a private communication.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Technically, the high-frequency approximation is formulated in terms of conformal time  $\eta$ :  $\mathcal{H}\eta_c \ll 1$  where  $\mathcal{H} = \frac{1}{a} \frac{\partial a}{\partial \eta}$  and  $\eta_c$  is the characteristic conformal time. Given  $t_c$ , however, we can relate this to the characteristic conformal time by  $\eta_c \simeq \frac{t_c}{a_c}$  (where  $a_e$  is the scale factor at the time of emission). Since  $\mathcal{H}\eta_c \simeq H t_c a/a_e$ ,  $\mathcal{H}(\eta)\eta_c \ll 1$  is the same as  $Ht_c \ll 1$  when we evaluate expressions at the time of emission. For a de Sitter background, the Hubble parameter is  $H = \sqrt{\frac{\Lambda}{3}}$  so that the high-frequency approximation is equivalent to  $\sqrt{\Lambda}t_c \ll 1$ .

where the total mass of this system is  $m = m_1 + m_2$  and the reduced mass  $\mu = \frac{m_1 m_2}{m}$ .

- 3. Each body moves slowly, that is, in the center of mass frame  $v \ll 1$ .
- 4. The pressure of each body is negligible compared to the energy density.
- 5. Each body is approximately spherically symmetric.
- 6. The trajectory of the binary is well approximated by a circular orbit.<sup>4</sup>

The first two assumptions ensure that the time evolution of the scale factor can be neglected during the few cycles the system is studied. Therefore, the time behavior of the physical separation  $R_*$  a few orbits before and after the time of emission is governed by the time behavior of the conformal separation r multiplied by the scale factor at the time of emission  $a_e$ . Similarly, the physical angular velocity  $\Omega$  is described by the conformal angular velocity  $\omega$  multiplied by  $a_e^{-1}$ :

$$R_*(t) = a_e r_* + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda}t_c),$$
  
$$\Omega(t) = a_e^{-1}\omega + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda}t_c).$$

From the first two assumptions, it also follows that by a simple constant rescaling of the coordinates, the spacetime metric is well approximated by a Minkowski metric during the few cycles the system is studied:<sup>5</sup>

$$ds^{2} = -d\tilde{\eta}^{2} + d\tilde{r}^{2} + \tilde{r}^{2} \left( d\theta^{2} + \sin^{2}\theta \ d\varphi^{2} \right) + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda}t_{c})$$
(3.3)

where  $\tilde{\eta} := a_e \eta$  and  $\tilde{r} := a_e r$ .

Given these rescaled coordinates, one can now interpret approximation 3-6 as the Newtonian approximation and use Newtonian dynamics to describe the motion of the binary in the rescaled coordinates. Approximation 1-2 are critical for this interpretation. An example of a binary system satisfying all of the above approximations is a binary consisting of two weakly self-gravitating bodies such

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The motivation for such a binary is strong since gravitational waves effectively act to make eccentric systems circular over time [74], and sources seen later in their evolution are expected to have small eccentricity [75].

 $<sup>{}^{5}</sup>$ As a side remark: since the scale factor is approximately constant, the Hubble radius is infinite to zeroth approximation during this period.
as main-sequence stars. In addition, other examples are binaries of two compact bodies such as neutron stars or black holes. The internal gravity of each body can be arbitrarily strong but as long as their mutual gravity is weak, the Newtonian description applies.

In Newtonian mechanics, the motion of the center of mass is uniform. Consequently, the description of the motion simplifies when the origin of the coordinate system is chosen such that it is attached to the center of mass; the position of each body can then be determined in terms of the relative separation between the bodies. This is what we will do here as well. From conservation of angular momentum, it follows that the orbital motion proceeds within a fixed orbital plane. Choosing the orbital plane to coincide with the x - y plane and introducing the orbital angle to be  $\varphi$ , the equations of motion are

$$\frac{d^2 \tilde{r}}{d\tilde{\eta}^2} = \left(\tilde{r} \left(\frac{d\varphi}{d\tilde{\eta}}\right)^2 - \frac{Gm}{\tilde{r}^2}\right) \left[1 + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda}t_c) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{Gm}{R_*}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{G\mu}{R_*}\right)\right] , \qquad (3.4)$$

$$\frac{d}{d\tilde{\eta}}\left(\tilde{r}^2\frac{d\varphi}{d\tilde{\eta}}\right) = 2Gm\left(2-\frac{\mu}{m}\right)\frac{d\tilde{r}}{d\tilde{\eta}}\frac{d\varphi}{d\tilde{\eta}}\left[1+\mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda}t_c)+\mathcal{O}\left(\frac{Gm}{R_*}\right)+\mathcal{O}\left(\frac{G\mu}{R_*}\right)\right] (3.5)$$

For a circular orbit  $\frac{d\tilde{r}}{d\tilde{\eta}} = 0$  and it follows from eq. (3.5) that  $\frac{d\varphi}{d\tilde{\eta}} \equiv a_e^{-1}\omega$  is constant. In other words, the physical angular velocity  $\Omega$  is constant up to terms proportional to  $\mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda}t_c)$ . From eq. (3.4), we obtain Kepler's law:<sup>6</sup>

$$\left(\frac{d\varphi}{d\tilde{\eta}}\right)^2 = \frac{Gm}{\tilde{r}^3} \left[1 + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda}t_c) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{Gm}{R_*}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{G\mu}{R_*}\right)\right].$$
(3.7)

In terms of the physical separation vector  $R_*$  and angular frequency  $\Omega$ , Kepler's law is:

$$\Omega^2 = \frac{Gm}{R_*^3} \left[ 1 + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda}t_c) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{Gm}{R_*}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{G\mu}{R_*}\right) \right].$$
(3.8)

$$\omega_{\rm obs}^2 = \frac{Gm_z}{r_z^3}.$$
(3.6)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>This is the same Kepler's law that is used for FLRW spacetimes. Often it is written in a slightly different format in which the above physical quantities defined at the source are related to quantities as measured by an observer at redshift z:  $\omega^{\text{obs}} = (1+z)^{-1}a_e^{-1}\omega$ ,  $m_z = (1+z)m$  and  $r_z = (1+z)a_er$ . In terms of the observed quantities — given the same approximations — Kepler's law reads:

Once truncated this version of Kepler's law is similar in form to the Minkowski version, with the only difference being constant factors of  $a_e$ . The trajectory of the reduced mass as a function of proper time is now described by

$$\vec{R}_*(t) = \left(R_*(t)\,\cos\left(\Omega t + \frac{\pi}{2}\right)\hat{x} + R_*(t)\,\sin\left(\Omega t + \frac{\pi}{2}\right)\hat{y}\right)\\\left[1 + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda}t_c) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{Gm}{R_*}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{G\mu}{R_*}\right)\right]\,,$$

where  $\hat{x}$  ( $\hat{y}$ ) is the unit vector in the x-direction (y-direction) with respect to the Euclidean 3-metric and  $\frac{dR_*}{dt} = \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda}t_c)$  and  $\frac{d\Omega}{dt} = \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda}t_c)$ . The trajectory of the reduced mass is illustrated in Figure 3.1 for various choices of  $R_*$ . The energy density of this system is

$$\rho = \mu \,\delta^{(3)}(\vec{R} - \vec{R}_*) = \frac{\mu}{a_e^3} \delta^{(3)}(\vec{r} - \vec{r}_*) + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda}t_c).$$

This choice for the energy density ensures that the reduced mass  $\mu$  remains constant. Note that the stress-energy tensor  $T_{ab}$  constructed from this energy density is only approximately conserved. In other words, the divergence of the stress-energy tensor with respect to the derivative operator compatible with the de Sitter metric is  $\mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda}t_c)$ :  $\bar{\nabla}^a T_{ab} = \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda}t_c)$ . With these choices, the (mass) quadrupole moment is given by

$$Q_{ab}^{(\rho)}(t) = \frac{\mu R_*^2(t)}{2} \left[ (1 - \cos 2\Omega t) \nabla_a x \nabla_b x + (1 + \cos 2\Omega t) \nabla_a y \nabla_b y -2\sin 2\Omega t \nabla_{(a} x \nabla_{b)} y \right] \left[ 1 + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda} t_c) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{Gm}{R_*}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{G\mu}{R_*}\right) \right]. \quad (3.9)$$

Taking  $\Lambda \to 0$  is equivalent to taking  $a \to 1$  and the quadrupole moment reduces to the flat space result in this limit [69].

#### 3.3 Power radiated

Given this set-up, we can now proceed to calculate the radiated power of this system and comment on its properties. The details of the calculation of the transversetraceless part of the quadrupole moments, needed for the calculation of power, can be found in Appendix A.



Figure 3.1. This conformal diagram illustrates the physical set-up for a binary system in a circular orbit with respect to physical distances. The straight vertical line on the left indicates the origin r = 0 around which the reduced mass of the binary system revolves. The curved (blue) lines are – from left to right – the trajectories of the reduced mass at  $R_* = \frac{1}{10}R_c$ ,  $\frac{1}{5}R_c$  and  $\frac{1}{2}R_c$ . The values for these trajectories are chosen for illustrative purposes; realistic systems will have a much smaller  $R_*$ . The shorter diagonal (red) line denotes the cosmological horizon of the source. (Note that in this figure  $\frac{dR_*}{dt}$  is assumed to be exactly zero; not just  $\frac{dR_*}{dt} = \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda}t_c)$ .)

Once the transverse-traceless decomposition of the quadrupole moment  $Q_{ab}^{(\rho)}(t_{ret})$ in eq. (3.9) and its derivatives, are calculated (for explicit expressions, see eqs.(A.13)-(A.18) in Appendix A), we use the leading order part in the high-frequency approximation of eq.(2.73) to calculate the radiated power:

$$P \doteq \frac{G}{8\pi} \int d^2 S \, \ddot{Q}_{ab}^{\mathrm{TT}} \ddot{Q}^{ab} \left[ 1 + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda}\Omega^{-1}) \right] \tag{3.10}$$

$$\hat{=}\frac{32G}{5}\mu^2 R_*^4(t_{\rm ret})\Omega^6(t_{\rm ret}) \left[1 + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda}\Omega^{-1}) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{Gm}{R_*}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{G\mu}{R_*}\right)\right] ,\qquad(3.11)$$

where, as before,  $\hat{=}$  denotes equality on  $\mathcal{I}$ . Since  $R_*$  and  $\Omega$  are constant in time given the approximations made, this equation can simply be written as:

$$P = \frac{32G}{5} \mu^2 R_*^4 \Omega^6 \left[ 1 + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda} \Omega^{-1}) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{Gm}{R_*}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{G\mu}{R_*}\right) \right].$$
(3.12)

Let us first comment on three of the main features of this formula. Afterwards, we will contrast this result to the power radiated by a binary system on Minkowski spacetime. First, the radiated power is manifestly gauge-invariant as it solely depends on physical quantities. In addition, the power is clearly positive. Positivity of the power radiated in de Sitter spacetimes was proven for gravitational waves



Figure 3.2. This diagram shows the  $\tilde{\eta} = 0$  surface of the rescaled flat coordinates. From a Minkowskian perspective, this surface is simply the t = 0 surface in the middle of Minkowski spacetime. From a de Sitter perspective, this surface is its future null infinity  $\mathcal{I}^+$ .

generated by physically realistic sources in Chapter 2. This is the first explicit illustration of that general proof. Third, since there are only two independent scales in this system, the mass and distance scale, the expression for power can be simplified further. Using Kepler's law, see eq. (3.8), the expression for radiated power on a de Sitter background reduces to

$$P \doteq \frac{32}{5} \frac{1}{G} \left( GM_c \Omega \right)^{10/3} \left[ 1 + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda} \Omega^{-1}) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{Gm}{R_*}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{G\mu}{R_*}\right) \right] , \qquad (3.13)$$

where  $M_c := \mu^{3/5} m^{2/5}$  is the chirp mass.

The result in Minkowski spacetime is identical to eq. (3.12) up to constant factors of  $a_e$ . This is surprising for several reasons. At the conceptual level, it seems that de Sitter calculation is essentially carried out on the rescaled Minkowski spacetime in eq. (3.3). However, the formula for power used is defined on the de Sitter  $\mathcal{I}$  and with respect to the de Sitter time translation. In the rescaled flat coordinates,  $\mathcal{I}$  of de Sitter spacetime is at the  $\tilde{\eta} = 0$  time slice, which from the Minkowskian perspective is a space-like slice in the middle of spacetime. This is illustrated in Figure 3.2. In addition, the de Sitter time translation is a space-like conformal Killing vector field on the  $\tilde{\eta} = 0$  surface in the rescaled flat coordinates. How then is it possible that this power is equivalent to the power radiated across  $\mathcal{I}$  of Minkowski spacetime that is defined with respect to the time translation Killing field of Minkowski space, which is time-like everywhere? Furthermore, the calculational techniques used to derive the power radiated on a de Sitter background are drastically different from those on a Minkowski background. The power radiated in de Sitter spacetime relies on a late time expansion to reach  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , whereas the power radiated in Minkowski spacetime uses a 1/r expansion. In addition, the calculation of the transverse-traceless part on a de Sitter background cannot be done using the algebraic projection operator, instead one is required to solve a set of differential equations to extract the transverse-traceless part. An explicit calculation shows that, for the binary system on a de Sitter background discussed here,  $Q_{ab}^{TT}$  and  $Q_{ab}^{tt}$  are indeed different (and this difference does *not* vanish in the high-frequency limit):

$$Q_{ab}^{TT} - Q_{ab}^{tt} \stackrel{\circ}{=} \frac{\mu R_*^2}{2} \left( -\frac{1}{6} \left( 1 + 3\cos 2\theta \right) \nabla_a r \nabla_b r + r\sin 2\theta \nabla_{(a} r \nabla_b) \theta \right. \\ \left. + \frac{r^2}{12} \left( 1 + 3\cos 2\theta \right) \nabla_a \theta \nabla_b \theta + \frac{r^2}{12} \sin^2 \theta \left( 1 + 3\cos 2\theta \right) \nabla_a \varphi \nabla_b \varphi \right) \\ \left[ \left( 1 + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda}\Omega^{-1}) \right) \right]$$
(3.14)

where

$$Q_{ab}^{tt} := \left(P_a^{\,c} P_b^{\,d} - \frac{1}{2} P_{ab} P^{cd}\right) Q_{cd} \tag{3.15}$$

with  $P_a^{\ b} = q_a^{\ b} - \nabla_a r \ \partial_r^b$  and satisfying  $P_a^{\ b} r_b = 0$ ,  $P_a^{\ a} = 2$ , and  $P_a^{\ c} P_c^{\ b} = P_a^{\ b}$ . Moreover, the power on a flat background typically makes use of some type of spatial or temporal averaging, such as Brill-Hartle averaging. No such averaging appears in the formula for power radiated on a de Sitter background.

This puzzle is resolved by carefully considering the power radiated across the t = 0 surface in Minkowski spacetime. Assuming that the source was only dynamic for a finite time interval before t = 0, the formula for power radiated at the spatial surface given by t = 0 is

$$P_{\text{Mink}}(r) = \frac{G}{8\pi} \int_{t=0} d^2 S \ r^2 \left[ \left( \frac{\ddot{Q}_{ab}(t_{\text{ret}})}{r} \right)^{TT} \frac{\ddot{Q}_{ab}(t_{\text{ret}})}{r} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{r^3}\right) \right] , \qquad (3.16)$$

where the overdots refer to the time translation vector field of Minkowski spacetime. Note that since this formula is not evaluated at  $\mathcal{I}$  of Minkowski spacetime, the radiative degrees of freedom in  $\left(\frac{\ddot{\mathcal{Q}}_{ab}(t_{ret})}{r}\right)$  cannot be obtained by simply projecting it onto the two-sphere. This procedure is only valid on Minkowski  $\mathcal{I}$ , as we will show in Chapter 4. Therefore, the factor of  $r^{-1}$  cannot be pulled out of the TT-operation and the r's in this formula do not cancel at leading order. Together with the fact that there are also higher order terms that cannot be neglected for finite r, this shows that the formula across the t = 0 surface in Minkowski spacetime in eq. (3.16) is rather different from the de Sitter formula across the Minkowskian  $\tilde{\eta} = 0$  surface in eq. (3.10). Hence, not only are the Killing vector fields used to define the power radiated across the Minkowskian t = 0 versus  $\tilde{\eta} = 0$  surface different, also the expressions for power are. Only in the limit to  $\mathcal{I}$  does the power radiated in Minkowski spacetime become

$$P_{\text{Mink}} \stackrel{\circ}{=} \frac{G}{8\pi} \int_{\mathcal{I}} d^2 S \, \ddot{Q}_{ab}^{\text{tt}}(t_{\text{ret}}) \ddot{Q}_{ab}(t_{\text{ret}})$$
(3.17)

and does the power radiated in Minkowski spacetime agree with the power across  $\tilde{\eta} = 0$  of the rescaled flat spacetime using the de Sitter expression. In summary, the power radiated by a binary satisfying approximation 1-6 across  $\mathcal{I}$  of de Sitter spacetime is equal to the power radiated by the same binary across  $\mathcal{I}$  of Minkowski spacetime.

*Remark.* Just as on a Minkowski background, for any isolated system, linear momentum radiated in the form of gravitational waves vanishes on a de Sitter background given the approximations made. For the specific case studied here, a binary system restricted to the x - y orbital plane, the flux of angular momentum in the x- and y-direction also vanishes on Minkowski and de Sitter backgrounds. The instantaneous flux of angular momentum in the z-direction, see eq. (2.83), does not vanish and on de Sitter  $\mathcal{I}^+$  is given by:

$$\mathcal{L}_T J_z = \frac{32G}{5} \mu^2 R_*^4 \Omega^5 \left[ 1 + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda} \Omega^{-1}) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{Gm}{R_*}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{G\mu}{R_*}\right) \right].$$
(3.18)

#### 3.4 Discussion

Previous results for linearized perturbations on a de Sitter background have shown certain effects compared to a flat spacetime background. Specifically, using different methods, several groups found that the gravitational memory effect is enhanced by redshift factors [59, 76-78]. This enhancement persists even after taking the high-frequency approximation. Thus, one might anticipate a similar enhancement for power radiated in the form of gravitational waves by a source on a de Sitter background. This expectation is further supported by the striking differences between the calculational techniques used near  $\mathcal{I}^+$  of de Sitter spacetimes and those used near  $\mathcal{I}^+$  of Minkowski spacetimes: late time versus large r expansions, extracting the radiative degrees of freedom by solving a set of differential equations versus using an algebraic projection operator and in the calculation of power, no averaging versus spatial or temporal averaging.<sup>7</sup> These expectations are not borne out. The power radiated by a binary system on de Sitter spacetime in terms of the reduced mass and angular velocity shows no enhancement (nor decrease) as compared to the result on a Minkowski background for systems we considered. In other words, the standard expression for power radiated in Minkowski spacetimes also applies to de Sitter spacetime in the high-frequency approximation. The high-frequency limit is critical for this equivalence.

This result highlights that in order to probe the cosmological constant by measuring the power, one needs to go beyond the high-frequency approximation. Since the general expression for power radiated in de Sitter spacetimes does not invoke the high-frequency approximation, in principle, there are no obstacles to perform such a calculation. In the current set-up, this regime could not be probed as the dynamics of the binary system could only be determined up to  $\mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda}\Omega^{-1})$ . Thus, if one could reliably determine the source dynamics beyond the high-frequency approximation, one could calculate the corrections due to the background curvature on the power. This would allow one to observe  $\Lambda$  through the power emitted by gravitational waves.

The power emitted by the binary system was calculated on  $\mathcal{I}^+$  of de Sitter spacetime. A natural question is: how does this result relate to what an observer at a finite time in de Sitter spacetime may detect? Since the dynamical part of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Albeit, these differences do not indicate whether the power would be enhanced or diminished.



Figure 3.3. There are strong indications, [79], that the power radiated across a twosphere cross-section on  $\mathcal{I}^+$  is the same as the power radiated across any two-sphere along the light-ray emitted from  $\mathcal{I}^+$  to the source as long as one remains 'far enough away from the source' and within the high-frequency approximation. Therefore, the power emitted across a two-sphere cross-section on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ ,  $P[C_2]$ , is likely the same as the power emitted on the cosmological horizon,  $P[C_1]$ .

gravitational wave on a de Sitter background propagates sharply (its tail term is an 'instantaneous' tail, see Section 2.3.3), it is likely that the power radiated through a 2-sphere cross-section on  $\mathcal{I}^+$  is the same as it is through any two-sphere connected to the two-sphere on  $\mathcal{I}^+$  by a null ray [79]. In particular, the power radiated across  $\mathcal{I}^+$  is the same as it is through the cosmological horizon. This is illustrated in Figure 3.3. Thus, even though the power presented here was calculated on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , there are indications that this power is the same on the cosmological horizon, where an observer may detect such radiation.

## Chapter 4 On the conceptual confusion in the notion of transversality

#### 4.1 Introduction

In 1916 Einstein discovered that general relativity admits gravitational waves in the linearized approximation [14]. Almost exactly a century later the LIGO collaboration announced the spectacular detection of gravitational waves produced by coalescing black holes, thereby ushering-in the new field of gravitational wave astronomy [2–4]. There are also ongoing and planned missions to observe primordial gravitational waves [80–82]. Physically, while waves that LIGO detects are produced by astrophysical sources, the origin of primordial radiation is cosmological. Mathematically, in the currently used theoretical paradigm, what LIGO observes is described by retarded solutions of Einstein's equations *sourced by* highly dynamical compact objects in asymptotically flat spacetimes. What cosmological missions hope to observe is described by *source-free* solutions of linearized Einstein's equations on a FLRW background. Thus, not only are their observational techniques very different but the theoretical paradigms that underlie the two missions are also quite different. In particular, they use conceptually distinct notions of *transverse-traceless* modes.

Unfortunately, much of the current literature on gravitational waves in general relativity, including advanced texts as well as review articles, suggests that the two notions are the same and use the same symbol,  $h_{ab}^{TT}$ , to denote them both. Our reading of several standard references and our discussions with some of the authors led us to conclude that there is genuine conceptual confusion on this issue. The goal of this chapter is to clarify the situation by spelling out what the two notions

are, make it explicit that they are distinct, and discuss the relation between them in situations when both notions are available. The main issue arises in linearized gravity and the confusion we referred to is related to gravitational waves produced by isolated bodies. Therefore, it will suffice to restrict ourselves to linearized gravity off Minkowski spacetime. We will do so and briefly return to cosmological perturbations only at the end in Section 4.5.

Consider then linearized gravitational waves in Minkowski spacetime produced by a spatially compact source. One introduces a t = const foliation by space-like planes  $M_t$ , and decomposes the spacetime metric perturbation into its irreducible parts. Of immediate interest is the decomposition only of the spatially projected perturbation  $h_{ab}$ . If  $\mathring{q}_{ab}$  denotes the flat, positive definite 3-metric on the  $M_t$  slices, and  $\mathring{D}$  its torsion-free connection, then we have the following decomposition of  $h_{ab}$ into its irreducible parts:

$$h_{ab} = \frac{1}{3} \mathring{q}_{ab} \, \mathring{q}^{cd} h_{cd} + \left( \mathring{D}_a \mathring{D}_b - \frac{1}{3} \mathring{q}_{ab} \mathring{D}^2 \right) S + 2 \mathring{D}_{(a} V_{b)}^T + h_{ab}^{\text{TT}}, \tag{4.1}$$

where S is a scalar field,  $V_a^{\rm T}$  a transverse scalar field and  $h_{ab}^{\rm TT}$  a symmetric, transverse-traceless tensor field:

$$\mathring{D}^{a}V_{a}^{\mathrm{T}} = 0 \qquad \mathring{D}^{a}h_{ab}^{\mathrm{TT}} = 0 \qquad \mathring{q}^{ab}h_{ab}^{\mathrm{TT}} = 0.$$
(4.2)

This is the decomposition of the metric perturbation used in standard cosmology (where one is also interested in the scalar and vector modes). In quantum field theory in Minkowski spacetime, one generally considers source-free solutions to linearized Einstein's equations. Then the gauge invariant information in  $h_{ab}$  is contained entirely in  $h_{ab}^{\text{TT}}$ . The vector space of these fields can be naturally endowed with a Poincaré invariant Hermitian inner product. This is the Hilbert space of states of a graviton. It provides irreducible representations of the Poincaré group which have mass zero and helicity  $\pm 2$ . Thus, this notion of  $h_{ab}^{\text{TT}}$  is widely used is several areas of physics.

To extract  $h_{ab}^{\text{TT}}$  from  $h_{ab}$  one typically goes to the momentum space where the operation is algebraic and hence local. See, e.g. Box 5.7 in [53], or Section 4.3 in [54], or Section 35.4 of [55]. By contrast the operation is non-local in physical space since it involves inverse power of the Laplacian  $\mathring{D}^2$ . Thus, if one knows  $h_{ab}$  only in a sub-region of the spatial manifold  $M_t$  –say the asymptotic region–

one *cannot* determine  $h_{ab}^{\text{TT}}$  even in that sub-region. Nonetheless, this notion of transverse-traceless modes is widely used because the field  $h_{ab}^{\text{TT}}$  is gauge invariant.

But in the study of retarded fields produced by compact sources, most monographs and review articles switch to an entirely different decomposition of the retarded solution to linearized Einstein's equations, which is local in physical space. In particular, one introduces a projection operator  $P_a{}^b$  into the 2-sphere orthogonal to the radial direction in the physical space and extracts a new transverse-traceless part of  $h_{ab}$  by projecting  $h_{ab}$  into the 2-sphere and removing the trace. This is again denoted  $h_{ab}^{\rm TT}$  implying that the projection operator  $P_a{}^b$  provides just another way to extract what was previously called the transverse-traceless part of  $h_{ab}$ . See, e.g., Chapter 11 of [53], or Section 4.5.1 in [54], or Section 36.10 in [55].<sup>1</sup> All subsequent discussion of gravitational waves produced by isolated systems uses the transverse-traceless part of  $h_{ab}$  that is extracted using  $P_a{}^b$ . Consequently, one sees only asymptotic expansions (in powers of 1/r) of  $h_{ab}$  in physical space; Fourier transforms and/or inverse powers of Laplacians are completely absent in actual calculations of radiative modes, wave forms, and expressions of energy carried by gravitational waves.

This is confusing because the two notions of transverse-traceless parts are distinct and inequivalent. To avoid confusion, let us change this notation and set

$$\left(P_a{}^c P_b{}^d - \frac{1}{2}P_{ab}P^{cd}\right)h_{cd} =: h_{ab}^{\rm tt}.$$
(4.3)

As we emphasized, the operation of extracting  $h_{ab}^{\text{TT}}$  from  $h_{ab}$  is highly non-local in physical space and the resulting  $h_{ab}^{\text{TT}}$  is exactly gauge invariant everywhere in spacetime. On the other hand, the operation of extracting  $h_{ab}^{\text{tt}}$  is local in physical space and is not gauge invariant. However, we should add that in practice  $h_{ab}^{\text{tt}}$  is constructed only in the asymptotic region and its 1/r-part is shown to be gauge invariant under a large class of gauge transformations [53] (but generally it is not explained why it suffices to restrict oneself to that class). As we will see this second notion,  $h_{ab}^{\text{tt}}$ , is tailored to Bondi-Sachs type expansions and behavior of fields near

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The underlying logic is illustrated by arguments of Section 1 of [83]. One uses Eq. (4.2) to spell out what one means by  $h_{ab}^{\rm TT}$ , then says that transversality "requires  $h_{ab}^{\rm TT}$  to be orthogonal to each mode's wave vector" and takes the propagation direction to be radial *in space* to conclude that  $h_{ab}^{\rm TT}$  defined in Eq. (4.2) is the same as that defined in Eq. (4.3). The reasoning is flawed because the orthogonality  $h_{ab}(\vec{k}) \hat{k}^a = 0$  in momentum space is unrelated to the orthogonality  $h_{ab}\hat{r}^a = 0$  in physical space.

null infinity. On the other hand, in the cosmological context, these Bondi-Sachs type expansions are not available and only the  $h_{ab}^{\text{TT}}$  notion is meaningful.

Still, in the asymptotically flat context, we have two distinct notions of what we mean by transverse-traceless modes. What is the relation between them? Each notion leads to well-defined, leading order asymptotic fields. Do these fields carry the same physical information? One can construct expressions of energy, momentum and angular momentum carried by gravitational waves using either notion. How are they related? To our knowledge these issues have not been spelled out in the literature. The purpose of this chapter is to fill that gap using structure available at null infinity. We will find that while there is a large overlap between physics captured by these notions in the asymptotic region, there are also some differences.

To answer these questions, we will focus on Maxwell fields in Minkowski spacetime, since the central conceptual issues already arise in this technically simpler context. This will allow us to focus on the conceptual issues rather than technical details. The analysis simplifies for a Maxwell field for two reasons. First, for the obvious reason that the potential in Maxwell theory is a rank-1 tensor field whereas in linearized gravity a rank-2 tensor field. Second, using the fact that the theory is conformally invariant, one can pass easily between Minkowski spacetime and its conformal completion that includes null infinity,  $\mathcal{I}$ . Conceptually, the situation for Maxwell fields is completely parallel to the linearized gravitational case: Again, there are two notions of transverse vector potentials,  $A_a^{\rm T}$  and  $A_a^{\rm t}$ . The first is gauge invariant but non-local in physical space, while the second is local in space but gauge invariant only in a restricted sense. We will spell out the exact relation between them. In particular, we will show that in presence of sources, angular momentum carried away by electromagnetic waves is not expressible using just the two radiative modes in  $A_a^t$  but also involves longitudinal fields that arise in the discussion of  $A_a^{\mathrm{T}}$ . These fields are simply not accessible to the second approach to transversality,  $A_a^{t}$ , based on the projection operator.

This chapter is structured as follows.<sup>2</sup> In Section 4.2, we use conformal invariance to show that for systems under consideration — where sources are supported on a spatially compact world tube — the Maxwell field  $F_{ab}$  satisfies the so-called 'Peeling properties' at null infinity. This discussion will also serve to fix notation and introduce null infinity,  $\mathcal{I}$ . In Section 4.3, we turn to vector potentials  $A_a$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The material in this chapter is taken almost directly from [40].

since in the gravitational case we are primarily interested in the properties of the linearized metric, not just its curvature. We obtain the minimal fall-off conditions that the potential must satisfy in virtue of field equations as one recedes from sources in null directions. Peeling properties of the Maxwell field simplify this discussion considerably. Next in Section 4.4, we introduce the two notions  $A_a^{\mathrm{T}}$  and  $A_a^{\rm t}$  of transversality. Although  $A_a^{\rm T}$  and  $A_a^{\rm t}$  differ even at leading order near  $\mathcal{I}^+$  (i.e.,  $\mathcal{O}(1/r)$ ), we show that the difference is encoded in non-dynamical fields. We then discuss energy-momentum and angular momentum carried by the electromagnetic waves. In the source-free case these quantities can be expressed in terms of the two radiative modes (and the same is true for gravitational waves – even in full non-linear general relativity) [84]. However, in presence of sources this is no longer the case for angular momentum; its expression also involves the 'Coulombic information' contained in the (leading order parts of) longitudinal modes, which carry information about the total electric charge in the system. In the discussion, in Section 4.5, we discuss how these results relate to linearized gravitational fields. The overall situation parallels that in the Maxwell case: In presence of sources, the wave forms of  $h_{ab}^{\text{TT}}$  and  $h_{ab}^{\text{tt}}$  are in general different even at  $\mathcal{I}^+$  but their difference is time-independent. The Bondi mass and flux of angular momentum carried by gravitational waves can not be obtained knowing only the radiative modes encoded in  $h_{ab}^{\text{tt}}$ ; one also needs additional information that can be extracted from  $h_{ab}^{\text{TT}}$ .

After bulk of this work was completed, Dr. Badri Krishnan drew our attention to an unpublished work of Istávan Rácz [85] which had already pointed out that the presence of sources adds significant complications to the transverse-traceless notion captured in  $h_{ab}^{\rm TT}$ . We will discuss the relation with that work at appropriate points.

#### 4.2 Null infinity and the Peeling behavior

As we will see in subsequent sub-sections, presence of sources introduces new features in the asymptotic properties and the physical content of Maxwell potentials, even when the sources are confined to a spatially compact world tube. In that discussion we will assume certain asymptotic behavior of potentials. It is simplest to arrive at these fall-off properties by first noting the immediate consequences of the expressions of retarded solutions and then supplementing them with the implications of the Peeling properties of the Maxwell field. In the original discussion of Peeling [86], it was assumed that a certain component ( $\Phi_0$ ; see below) of the Maxwell field falls-off as  $1/r^3$  and then the fall-off of other components ( $\Phi_1$  and  $\Phi_2$ ) was derived. Since it not a priori clear that the initial assumption is satisfied by retarded fields under consideration, for completeness we will now show that the Peeling properties hold also in presence of such sources. This point is probably obvious to experts. We chose to include this discussion because the role of Peeling has been a focus of some of the recent discussions of soft gravitons and photons.<sup>3</sup> Our explicit demonstration will make it clear that new features arise even with the standard Peeling behavior.

#### **4.2.1** Future null infinity $\mathcal{I}^+$

Let us begin with a concrete conformal completion of Minkowski space  $(M, \eta_{ab})$ that focuses on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . In terms of the retarded spherical coordinates  $u = t - r, r, \theta, \varphi$ , we have

$$\mathrm{d}s^2 = \eta_{ab}\mathrm{d}x^a\mathrm{d}x^b = -\mathrm{d}u^2 - 2\mathrm{d}u\mathrm{d}r + r^2\left(\mathrm{d}\theta^2 + \sin^2\theta\,\mathrm{d}\varphi^2\right). \tag{4.4}$$

Let us conformally rescale  $\eta_{ab}$  with a smooth conformal factor  $\Omega$  with  $\Omega = \frac{1}{r}$  outside the world tube  $r = r_0$  for some  $r_0$ , and attach to M a boundary  $\mathcal{I}^+$  at which  $\Omega$ vanishes. Then, for  $r > r_0$  the conformally rescaled metric  $\hat{\eta}_{ab}$  is given by

$$\mathrm{d}\hat{s}^2 = \hat{\eta}_{ab}\mathrm{d}x^a\mathrm{d}x^b = -\Omega^2\mathrm{d}u^2 + 2\mathrm{d}u\mathrm{d}\Omega + \left(\mathrm{d}\theta^2 + \sin^2\theta\,\mathrm{d}\varphi^2\right). \tag{4.5}$$

The rescaled metric  $\hat{\eta}_{ab}$  is well-defined everywhere on the manifold with boundary  $\hat{M} = M \cup \mathcal{I}^+$ . Since  $\Omega$  vanishes on the boundary  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , it is coordinatized by  $u \in (-\infty, \infty)$  and  $\theta, \varphi \in \mathbb{S}^2$ . It is thus topologically  $\mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{R}$ , with a null normal  $\tilde{n}^a = \hat{\eta}^{ab} \nabla_b \Omega$  that satisfies  $\hat{\nabla}_a \tilde{n}_b = 0$ , where from now onwards = stands for equality restricted to the points of the boundary  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . In particular, the conformal frame is 'divergence free'. Furthermore, the pull-back of  $\hat{\eta}_{ab}$  to  $\mathcal{I}^+$  is the unit 2-sphere metric

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>In the Christodoulou-Klainerman approach to the non-linear stability of Minkowski spacetime [87],  $\Psi_1$  and  $\Psi_0$  do not peel in the standard manner, given, e.g., in [86]. This feature is sometimes used to argue that failure of the standard Peeling behavior plays a crucial role in some of the discussion of infrared charges and soft gravitons and photons [88]. However, whether standard Peeling holds depends on the boundary conditions that the initial data satisfy. For example, it does hold in the Chrusciel-Delay [89] approach to non-linear stability of Minkowski spacetime. Infrared (or soft) photon charges as well as the new features we discuss arise also with standard Peeling shown in this sub-section.

 $q_{ab}$  with  $q_{ab} dx^a dx^b = d\theta^2 + \sin^2 \theta d\varphi^2$ . Thus, with this conformal completion we are in a Bondi conformal frame at  $\mathcal{I}^+$  (see, e.g., [90]). A general Killing field  $K^a$  of  $\eta_{ab}$  has the limit

$$K^{a} \stackrel{\circ}{=} \left( \alpha(\theta, \varphi) + u\beta(\theta, \varphi) \right) \tilde{n}^{a} + h^{a}$$

$$\tag{4.6}$$

to  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . Here  $\alpha(\theta, \varphi)$  is a linear combination of the the first four spherical harmonics,  $Y_{00}$  and  $Y_{1m}$ ;  $\beta(\theta, \varphi)$  of the three  $Y_{1,m}$ ; and  $h^a$  is a 'horizontal' (i.e., tangential to the  $u \doteq$ const 2-sphere cross-sections of  $\mathcal{I}^+$ ) and conformal Killing field of the unit 2-sphere metric,  $\mathcal{L}_h q_{ab} \triangleq 2\beta q_{ab}$ , satisfying  $\mathcal{L}_h \tilde{n}^a \triangleq 0$  (see, e.g., [38,91]). In particular, the translation Killing fields of  $\eta_{ab}$  are represented by  $\alpha \tilde{n}^a$ . We will use these facts in Section 4.4.

#### 4.2.2 Peeling

Consider a retarded solution  $F_{ab}$  of Maxwell's equation on Minkowski spacetime  $(M, \eta_{ab})$  with a source current  $J^a$  which is smooth and of compact spatial support,

$$dF = 0, \quad d^*F = 4\pi \,^*J,$$
 (4.7)

where  ${}^{\star}\hat{J}_{abc} = \epsilon_{dabc}J^d$ . The question is whether the limit to  $\mathcal{I}^+$  — i.e., the limit  $r \to \infty$  keeping  $u, \theta, \varphi$  constant — of the retarded solution  $F_{ab}$  to these equations satisfies the standard Peeling properties.

To answer this question, one can directly calculate the retarded solution  $F_{ab}$ and examine its asymptotic behavior in detail. However, it is much simpler to use conformal invariance of Maxwell's equations. By inspection it follows that  $\hat{F}_{ab} := F_{ab}$  and  ${}^{*}\!\hat{F}_{ab} = \frac{1}{2}\hat{\epsilon}_{ab}{}^{cd}\hat{F}_{cd} = {}^{*}\!F_{ab}$  also satisfy Maxwell's equations on  $(\hat{M}, \hat{\eta}_{ab})$ :

$$d\hat{F} = 0, \qquad d^{\star}\hat{F} = 4\pi \,{}^{\star}\hat{J}$$
 (4.8)

with  ${}^{\star}\hat{J} = {}^{\star}J$ . Since  $\mathcal{I}^+$  is just a sub-manifold of the conformally completed spacetime  $(\hat{M}, \hat{\eta}_{ab})$  that is 'a finite distance away from sources', it follows that  $\hat{F}_{ab}$  is smooth on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . We will now show that this fact implies that  $F_{ab}$  satisfies the standard Peeling properties.

For this, let us use the Newman-Penrose null co-tetrad on Minkowski spacetime

 $(M, \eta_{ab})$ , given by

$$n_{a} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\nabla_{a}t + \nabla_{a}r), \qquad \ell_{a} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\nabla_{a}t - \nabla_{a}r),$$
$$m_{a} = \frac{r}{\sqrt{2}} (\nabla_{a}\theta + \frac{i}{\sin\theta}\nabla_{a}\phi), \quad \bar{m}_{a} = \frac{r}{\sqrt{2}} (\nabla_{a}\theta - \frac{i}{\sin\theta}\nabla_{a}\phi). \qquad (4.9)$$

The Newman-Penrose null tetrad is obtained simply by raising indices of these 1-forms with  $\eta^{ab}$ .<sup>4</sup> It is straightforward to check that

$$\hat{n}^a := n^a, \ \hat{\ell}^a := r^2 \, \ell^a, \ \hat{m}^a := r \, m^a, \ \text{and} \ \hat{\bar{m}}^a := r \, \bar{m}^a$$

$$(4.10)$$

have smooth, non-vanishing limits to  $\mathcal{I}^+$  and define a null tetrad there. Therefore, components of the Maxwell fields  $\hat{F}_{ab}$  in the hatted null tetrad have smooth limits to  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . This in turn implies that components of  $F_{ab}$  in the Newman-Penrose tetrad in Minkowski spacetime have the following asymptotic behavior

$$\Phi_2 = F_{ab} n^a \bar{m}^b = \frac{1}{r} \hat{F}_{ab} \hat{n}^a \hat{\bar{m}}^b = \frac{\Phi_2^0(u, \theta, \varphi)}{r} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{r^2}\right), \quad (4.11)$$

$$\Phi_{1} = \frac{1}{2} F_{ab} \left( n^{a} l^{b} + m^{a} \bar{m}^{b} \right)$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{2} \hat{F}_{ab} \left( \hat{n}^{a} \hat{l}^{b} + \hat{m}^{a} \hat{\bar{m}}^{b} \right) = \frac{\Phi_{1}^{0}(u, \theta, \varphi)}{\Phi_{1}^{0}(u, \theta, \varphi)} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)$ (4.12)

$$= \frac{1}{2r^2} \hat{F}_{ab} \left( \hat{n}^a \hat{l}^b + \hat{m}^a \hat{\bar{m}}^b \right) = \frac{\Phi_1^c(u, \theta, \varphi)}{r^2} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{r^3}\right), \tag{4.12}$$

$$\Phi_0 = F_{ab}m^a l^b = \frac{1}{r^3} \hat{F}_{ab}\hat{m}^a \hat{l}^b = \frac{\Phi_0^0(u,\theta,\varphi)}{r^3} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{r^4}\right), \qquad (4.13)$$

since the hatted fields have well-defined limits as  $r \to \infty$ , keeping  $u, \theta, \varphi$  constant. These are precisely the standard Peeling properties of the Maxwell field [86]. Presence of sources does not introduce any new element in this result. Fields  $\Phi_2^0$ ,  $\Phi_1^0$  and  $\Phi_0^0$  on  $\mathcal{I}^+$  encode the leading order, asymptotic Maxwell field. Maxwell's equations leave  $\Phi_2^0$  unconstrained. Because of this property, and its 1/r fall-off,  $\Phi_2^0$ is called the 'radiation field'. The time derivatives of  $\Phi_1^0$  and  $\Phi_0^0$  are determined by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Note that, with these conventions, at  $\mathcal{I}^+$  we have  $\tilde{n}^a \doteq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \hat{n}^a$ , and  $\tilde{n}^a$  is the limit to  $\mathcal{I}^+$  of the unit time translation  $t^a = -\eta^{ab} \nabla_b t$  of the Minkowski metric  $\eta_{ab}$ .

angular derivatives of  $\Phi_2^{0:5}$ 

$$\partial_u \Phi_1^0 = \eth \Phi_2^0, \quad \text{and} \quad \partial_u \Phi_0^0 = \eth \Phi_1^0.$$
 (4.14)

In this sense  $\Phi_1^0$  and  $\Phi_0^0$  do not have any dynamical degrees of freedom of their own: given  $\Phi_2^0$ , they are determined by their values at spatial infinity  $i^o$  (i.e.,  $u = -\infty$ ), or, time-like infinity  $i^+$  (i.e.  $u = \infty$ .). In the next sub-section we will use these fall-off properties to find useful relations between components of the vector potential that hold for any choice of gauge.

#### 4.3 Asymptotic conditions on potentials

We will need asymptotic conditions that are satisfied by vector potentials  $A_a$  of our retarded Maxwell fields. Unlike for the Maxwell field  $F_{ab}$ , here we cannot just invoke conformal invariance because the gauge conditions of interest generally fail to be conformally invariant. A seemingly natural strategy would be to assume that, since  $F_{ab}$  admits a smooth limit to  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , one should simply require that the potential  $A_a$  is also smooth there. However, as we show below, in presence of sources this requirement is *not* met in gauges that are commonly used. Therefore, a more systematic approach is needed to arrive at an appropriate set of boundary conditions, compatible with gauges that are relevant to the discussions of the two notions of transversality,  $A_a^{\mathrm{T}}$  and  $A_a^{\mathrm{t}}$ .

Given a slicing of Minkowski space by hyperplanes t = const, we can decompose the 4-potential  $A_a$  as follows:

$$A_{a} = -\phi \nabla_{a} t + \vec{A}_{a}$$
  
=  $-\phi \nabla_{a} u + (-\phi + A_{1}) \nabla_{a} r + A_{2} m_{a} + \vec{A}_{2} \bar{m}_{a}.$  (4.15)

We will first examine the asymptotic behavior of  $\vec{A}_a$  in the Coulomb gauge since it selects for us the transverse part  $\vec{A}_a^{\mathrm{T}}$  of the vector potential we are interested in. Thus, we just start with a vector potential  $\vec{A}_a$  that satisfies  $\mathring{D}^a \vec{A}_a = 0$  but make

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Fields such as  $\Phi_2, \Phi_1$  and  $\Phi_0$  depend on the choice of the dyad  $\hat{m}^a, \hat{\bar{m}}_a$  on the  $(\theta - \varphi)$ 2-sphere. A field f is said to have spin weight s if it transforms as  $f \to e^{is\chi}f$  under the dyad rotation  $\hat{m}^a \to e^{i\chi}\hat{m}^a$ . The angular derivative  $\eth$  of a spin s weighted field is defined by  $\eth f = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left( \hat{m}^a D_a f - \frac{s}{\sqrt{2}} \cot \theta f \right) \equiv \frac{1}{2} \left( \partial_\theta f + \frac{i}{\sin \theta} \partial_\phi f - s \cot \theta f \right)$ , where D is the derivative operator on a unit 2-sphere.

no a priori assumptions on its fall-off. The fall-off conditions will be arrived at by using the fact that we are interested in retarded solution to the wave equation that  $\vec{A}_a$  satisfies (see below). For  $\phi$  we assume that it tends to zero at infinity. Our primary goal is to motivate the rather weak boundary conditions we wish to impose. Therefore we will sketch the argument without entering into the details of functional analysis.

Let us begin by noting a few consequences of our assumptions that will be useful in determining the asymptotic properties of the solution. Since the source current  $j_a$  is smooth and of compact spatial support, on each t = const slice its spatial projection  $\vec{j}_a$  is in particular in the Schwartz space  $\mathcal{S}$  of  $C^{\infty}$  functions which, together with all its derivatives falls-off faster than the inverse of any polynomial in r as  $r \to \infty$  on t = const surfaces. Since S is stable under Fourier transformations, the Fourier transform of  $\vec{j}_a$  is also in the Schwartz space in the momentum space. Because the operation of extracting the transverse part is algebraic in the momentum space, it follows immediately that  $\vec{j}_a^{\rm T}(\vec{k})$  decays faster than any inverse polynomial in  $|\vec{k}|$  as  $|\vec{k}| \to \infty$ . However, since the projection operator into the transverse part projects  $\vec{j}_a(\vec{k})$  into 2-spheres centered at the origin, it fails to be smooth at the origin in the momentum space, whence  $\vec{j}_a^{\mathrm{T}}(\vec{k})$  also fails to be smooth there. Therefore, although it is smooth everywhere else, bounded at the origin, and decays rapidly as  $|\vec{k}| \to \infty$ , in general  $\vec{j}_a^{\mathrm{T}}(\vec{k})$  is not in  $\mathcal{S}$ . So neither is  $\vec{j}_a^{\mathrm{T}}(\vec{x})$  in the physical space in the Schwartz space  $\mathcal{S}$ . Nonetheless, properties of  $\vec{j}_a^{\mathrm{T}}(\vec{k})$  we just summarized imply that  $\vec{j}_a^{\rm T}(\vec{x})$  is smooth and integrable:  $\int \vec{j}_a^{\rm T}(\vec{x}) \, \mathrm{d}^3 x < \infty$ . (In the terminology one often uses in the physics literature, the boundedness of the integral can be taken to mean that the Cartesian components of  $\vec{j}_a^{\rm T}(\vec{x})$  fall-off faster than  $1/r^3$ .) Thus decomposition of  $j_a$  into Transverse and Longitudinal parts is well-defined on each t = const surface:

$$j_a = -\rho \,\nabla_a t + \vec{j}_a = -\rho \,\nabla_a t + \vec{j}_a^{\mathrm{T}} + D_a L$$

with  $\mathring{D}^a \vec{j}_a^{\mathrm{T}} = 0.$ 

Now, in the Coulomb gauge where  $\vec{A}_a = \vec{A}_a^{\mathrm{T}}$ , Maxwell's equations become

$$\mathring{D}^2 \phi = -4\pi\rho \quad \text{and} \tag{4.16}$$

$$\Box \vec{A}_a = -4\pi \left( \vec{j}_a - \frac{1}{4\pi} D_a \dot{\phi} \right) = -4\pi \vec{j}_a^{\mathrm{T}}$$

$$(4.17)$$

where in the second step we have used (4.16) and the conservation of 4-current. The equation for  $\phi$  can be solved on each t = const slice and we consider the retarded solution for  $\vec{A}_a$ :

$$\phi(t, \vec{x}) = \int d^3x' \; \frac{\rho(t, \vec{x}')}{|\vec{x} - \vec{x}'|} \tag{4.18}$$

$$\vec{A}_{a}(t,\vec{x}) = \int d^{3}x' \; \frac{\vec{j}_{a}^{\mathrm{T}}(t-|\vec{x}-\vec{x}'|,\vec{x}')}{|\vec{x}-\vec{x}'|} \,. \tag{4.19}$$

Since  $\rho$  has compact support and  $\vec{j}_a^{\mathrm{T}}$  is bounded and integrable, an examination of the integral on the right shows that the solutions  $\phi$  and (the Cartesian components of)  $\vec{A}_a$  fall-off at least as fast as  $\mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{r})$  as  $r \to \infty$  along constant  $u, \theta, \phi$  directions. Consequently, in the Coulomb gauge, our solutions  $\phi$  and  $\vec{A}_a$  have the following asymptotic behavior:

$$\phi = \frac{\phi^0(u,\theta,\varphi)}{r} + \frac{\phi^1(u,\theta,\varphi)}{r^2} + \dots$$
(4.20)

$$A_{1} = \frac{A_{1}^{0}(u,\theta,\varphi)}{r} + \frac{A_{1}^{1}(u,\theta,\varphi)}{r^{2}} + \dots$$
(4.21)

$$A_{2} = \frac{A_{2}^{0}(u,\theta,\varphi)}{r} + \frac{A_{2}^{1}(u,\theta,\varphi)}{r^{2}} + \dots$$
(4.22)

Although we decomposed the 4-potential using a specific foliation by space-like hyperplanes, the asymptotic conditions (4.20) - (4.22) are insensitive to this choice.

Using this result in the Coulomb gauge as motivation, from now on we will restrict ourselves to gauges in which 4-potential has the fall-off behavior given above. Explicit examples involving point charges and dipoles listed in Appendix B show that these boundary conditions are physically reasonable. These fall-off requirements are quite weak. (For example, our arguments in the Coulomb gauge go through even if the sources were not of spatial compact support but were only in the Schwartz space S.) As a consequence, by themselves (4.20) - (4.22) will not be sufficient for our analysis. However, as we will see, field equations and gauge conditions imply further restrictions that supplement these minimal fall-off conditions, and the sum total of these requirements is sufficient to arrive at physically interesting results.

*Remark:* Although  $\vec{j}_a$  is of compact support, the support of its transverse part  $\vec{j}_a^{\mathrm{T}}$  extends to spatial infinity (although, as we saw,  $\vec{j}_a^{\mathrm{T}}$  falls-off sufficiently fast for

its integral to be finite). Rácz pointed out in [85] that this fact introduces a number of complications that have been generally overlooked in the literature.

Next, let us examine the limit of the vector potential to  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . For this we have to express  $\phi$  and  $\vec{A}_a$  of (4.15), in terms of basis vectors in the conformally completed spacetime  $(\hat{M}, \hat{\eta}_{ab})$  which are well-behaved at  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . The result is:

$$A_{a} = \sqrt{2}\phi\hat{\ell}_{a} + \Omega^{-2}(\phi - A_{1})\tilde{n}_{a} + \Omega^{-1}A_{2}\hat{m}_{a} + \Omega^{-1}\bar{A}_{2}\hat{\bar{m}}_{a}$$
  
$$= \sqrt{2}\left(\Omega\phi^{0} + \Omega^{2}\phi^{1} + \dots\right)\hat{\ell}_{a} + \left(\Omega^{-1}\phi^{0} + \phi^{1} + \dots - \Omega^{-1}A_{1}^{0} - A_{1}^{1} - \dots\right)\tilde{n}_{a}$$
  
$$+ \left(A_{2}^{0} + \Omega A_{2}^{1} + \dots\right)\hat{m}_{a} + \left(\bar{A}_{2}^{0} + \Omega \bar{A}_{2}^{1} + \dots\right)\hat{\bar{m}}_{a}.$$
(4.23)

Thus, in spite of the fall-offs (4.20) - (4.22) in Minkowski space, because of the presence of  $\Omega^{-1}$  terms the 4-potential  $A_a$  diverges at  $\mathcal{I}^+$  in the conformally completed spacetime, unless  $\phi$  and  $A_1$  fall-off faster than 1/r. However even for a static point charge in Minkowski space, the stronger fall-off conditions are not met. Thus, in presence of sources, one cannot assume that the 4-potential admits a limit to  $\mathcal{I}^+$  if we are interested in extracting the transverse modes  $\vec{A}_a^{\mathrm{T}}$ . The leading order asymptotic fields,  $\phi^0, A_1^0$  and  $A_2^0$  are given by limits to  $\mathcal{I}^+$  of  $\Omega^{-1}A_a\hat{n}^a, \Omega A_a\hat{\ell}^a$  and  $A_a\hat{m}^a$  respectively. Finally, as we will see, the transverse field  $A_a^{\mathrm{t}}$  at  $\mathcal{I}^+$  knows only about  $A_2^0, \bar{A}_2^0$ . This information can also be extracted from  $A_a$  by first taking the pull-back  $\underline{A}_a$  to the  $\Omega = \text{const}$  surfaces of  $A_a$  and then taking the limit to  $\mathcal{I}^+$ :  $\lim_{\mathcal{I}^+} \underline{A}_a = A_2^0 \hat{m}_a + \bar{A}_2^0 \hat{m}^a$ .

As noted aboves, Maxwell's equations — and, in particular, the Peeling properties they imply — can be used to further restrict this asymptotic behavior of  $A_a$ *irrespective of the gauge choice* so long as it meets the requirements (4.20) - (4.22). Let us begin by expressing the Newman-Penrose components of the asymptotic Maxwell field in terms of the vector potential:

$$\Phi_{2} = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{r} \partial_{u} A_{2}^{0} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{r^{2}}\right) \equiv \frac{\Phi_{2}^{0}}{r} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{r^{2}}\right) \\
\Phi_{1} = \frac{1}{2r} \underbrace{\partial_{u} (A_{1}^{0} - \phi^{0})}_{=0 \text{ by (4.12)}} + \frac{1}{2r^{2}} \left[-\phi^{0} + \partial_{u} (A_{1}^{1} - \phi^{1}) + \sqrt{2}\eth A_{2}^{0} - \sqrt{2}\eth \bar{A}_{2}^{0}\right] + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{r^{3}}\right) \\
\equiv \frac{\Phi_{1}^{0}}{r^{2}} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{r^{3}}\right)$$
(4.24)

$$\Phi_0 = \frac{1}{r^2} \underbrace{\underbrace{\eth(A_1^0 - \phi^0)}_{=0 \text{ by } (4.13)}}_{=0 \text{ by } (4.13)} + \frac{1}{r^3} \left[ \eth(A_1^1 - \phi^1) + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \bar{A}_2^1 \right] + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{r^4}\right) \equiv \frac{\Phi_0^0}{r^3} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{r^4}\right).$$

These equations have several noteworthy features.

(i) First, the asymptotic 'radiation field'  $\Phi_2^0$  is determined by the time derivative of  $A_2^0$ :  $\Phi_2^0 = \sqrt{2}\partial_u A_2^0$ . In addition, angular derivatives of  $A_2^0$  determine Im $\Phi_1^0$ . Therefore, the complex field  $A_2^0$  at  $\mathcal{I}^+$  represents the *two radiative modes* of the Maxwell field at  $\mathcal{I}^+$ .

(ii) The fields  $\operatorname{Re}\Phi_1^0$  and  $\Phi_0^0$  carry the additional 'Coulombic information' in the Maxwell field at  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . For example, in the source-free region, the projection along  $\hat{n}^b$  of the Maxwell equation  $\hat{\nabla}^a \hat{F}_{ab} = 0$  reads [86]

$$\partial_u \operatorname{Re} \Phi_1^0 \doteq \operatorname{Re} \left( \eth \, \Phi_2^0 \right) \doteq \sqrt{2} \partial_u \operatorname{Re} \left( \eth \, A_2^0 \right)$$

$$(4.25)$$

From the first equality it follows that  $Q = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \oint \operatorname{Re} \Phi_1^0 d^2 S$  is conserved, where the integral is taken over a 2-sphere cross-section of  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . Q is of course the total electric charge of the source. The second equality implies

$$\operatorname{Re}\Phi_1^0 \doteq \sqrt{2} \operatorname{Re}\eth A_2^0 + G(\theta, \varphi) \,. \tag{4.26}$$

 $G(\theta, \varphi)$  is the 'integration constant'. It is this non-dynamical, real function  $G(\theta, \varphi)$  that carries the 'Coulombic information' in  $\operatorname{Re}\Phi_1^0$  that escapes in the radiative modes  $A_2^0$ . Note in particular, that the electric charge Q can also be expressed as  $Q = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \oint G(\theta, \varphi) d^2 S$ . From Eq. (4.12) it follows that  $G(\theta, \varphi)$  is encoded in the 'non-radiative parts'  $\phi^0$  and  $\partial_u (A_1^1 - \phi^1)$  of the vector potential  $A_a$  in any of the gauges in our class.

(iii) From Peeling properties (4.12) and (4.13) it follows that the field  $A_1^0 - \phi^0$  is constant on  $\mathcal{I}^+$  and its value does not enter any of the physical quantities one normally considers, such as energy, momentum, angular momentum, electric charge, infra-red charges [90] and electromagnetic memory effect [92]. This property holds in any choice of gauge so long as the potential  $A_a$  satisfies the fall-off conditions (4.20) - (4.22). Therefore, if one includes  $\phi^0$  in the list of components of  $A_a$  of interest at  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , one can drop  $A_1^0$  from the list. This conclusion can also reached by imposing Maxwell equations. But the reasoning is cumbersome. Moreover, the argument in terms of Peeling brings to the forefront the fact that this property must hold in any gauge so long as our fall-off conditions (4.20) - (4.22) are satisfied. (iv) From Maxwell's equation (4.16) in the Coulomb gauge it follows that the total electric charge of the system is directly determined by the scalar potential  $\phi^0$  on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ :  $Q = \frac{1}{4\pi} \oint \phi^0(u, \theta, \varphi) d^2 S$  where the integral is taken over a cross-section of  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . (v) Finally, we observe that several simplifications occur in absence of sources. Let us work in the Coulomb gauge. Then, Eq. (4.16) leads us to set  $\phi = 0$  everywhere in Minkowski space. In particular, this implies that  $A_a \hat{n}^a = 0$  and we can set  $\phi^0 = 0$ , and  $\phi^1 = 0$  in Eq. (4.24). Furthermore now, the Coulomb gauge and the Lorenz gauge coincide. Since  $\mathring{D}^a A_a = 0$  everywhere in Minkowski space, by multiplying this equation by  $\Omega^{-1}$  and  $\Omega^{-2}$  and taking the limit to  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , we obtain, respectively,

$$\partial_u A_1^0 = 0$$
 and  $\partial_u A_1^1 = 2\sqrt{2} \operatorname{Re}(\eth A_2^0) + A_1^0$ . (4.27)

(The first of these equations is in fact already implied by  $\phi^0 = 0$  since  $\phi^0 - A_1^0$  is constant on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ .) In the source-free case, now under consideration, the limit to  $i^o$  along  $\mathcal{I}^+$  of  $A_1^0$  vanishes if the initial data for  $\vec{A}_a$  falls off at spatial infinity sufficiently rapidly. Since we already know that  $A_1^0$  is a constant on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , it is identically zero. Therefore, the second equation in (4.24) simplifies:

$$\Phi_1 = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{r^2} \eth A_2^0 \qquad \text{i.e.}, \qquad G(\theta, \varphi) \stackrel{\circ}{=} 0 \tag{4.28}$$

in (4.26). This simplification makes a key difference in the consideration of angular momentum with and without source currents.

Let us summarize. In absence of sources, there are natural gauges in which the 4-potential  $A_a$  admits a smooth limit to  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . Furthermore, one can choose a gauge with  $A_a n^a = 0$ . Then the 2 remaining components of the pull-back  $\underline{A}_a$  of  $A_a$ to  $\mathcal{I}^+$  are encoded in  $A_2^0$ . These radiative modes encode full information in the source-free solution. In particular, the energy, momentum and angular momentum carried by electromagnetic fields can be expressed using the pull-back  $\underline{A}_a$  to  $\mathcal{I}^+$  or equivalently,  $A_2^0$  [84]. The situation is quite different once we have sources. The 4-potential can diverge at  $\mathcal{I}^+$  in well-motivated gauges (such as the Coulomb and Lorenz gauges). Now, the components  $A_2^0$  at  $\mathcal{I}^+$  carry information only about the radiative degrees of freedom in the solution. One needs additional components of the potential encoded, e.g., in  $G(\theta, \phi)$ , to capture the 'Coulombic aspects' of the solution.

### **4.4** $A_a^{\mathrm{T}}$ versus $A_a^{\mathrm{t}}$

Sections 4.2 and 4.3 provide the necessary platform to compare the two notions of transversality. We will first introduce these notions, emphasizing their asymptotic behavior, and then contrast them.

#### 4.4.1 The two notions

By definition  $A_a^{\mathrm{T}}$  satisfies the Coulomb gauge condition  $\mathring{D}^a \mathring{A}_a^{\mathrm{T}} = 0$  everywhere in Minkowski space. Since by assumption  $A_a^{\mathrm{T}}$  must satisfy (4.20) - (4.22), it follows that there is no residual gauge freedom. Hence all expressions constructed from  $A_a^{\mathrm{T}}$  are gauge invariant on the entire spacetime.

For notational clarity, we will use an underbar to denote vector potentials in the Coulomb gauge. The asymptotic expansions (4.20) - (4.22) show that the leading-order part of  $\underline{A}_a$  is captured in 4 functions on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , namely, two real functions  $\phi^0, \underline{A}_1^0$  and a complex function  $\underline{A}_2^0$ . As we saw,  $A_2^0$  represents the radiative degrees of freedom of the Maxwell field. At first, it seems surprising that the leading-order part of the 3-potential,  $\underline{\vec{A}}_a$ , has an additional component  $\underline{A}_1^0$ . Shouldn't the requirement of transversality leave us with just two? Recall, from the first equation of (4.27), that this requirement does lead to a non-trivial restriction:  $\underline{A}_{1}^{0}$  is non-dynamical; it is a function only of  $\theta$  and  $\varphi$  on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . That is,  $\underline{\vec{A}}$  carries information worth two (real) functions  $\underline{A}_{2}^{0}(u,\theta,\varphi)$  of three variables and one function  $\underline{A}_{1}^{0}(\theta,\varphi)$  only of two variables. Thus, in terms of asymptotic fields on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , implications of the requirement  $\mathring{D}^a \vec{A}_a^{\rm T} = 0$  are subtle: in addition to the two degrees of freedom  $\underline{A}_2^0$  one would expect, we are left with an unanticipated, additional function  $\underline{A}_1^0$  of two variables. Now, as we saw in Section 4.3, because of Maxwell's equations (which in particular imply the Peeling properties),  $(\underline{\phi}^0 - \underline{A}_1^0)$  is a constant on  $\mathcal{I}^+$  in any gauge. Hence in the Coulomb gauge now under consideration,  $\phi^0$  is also a non-dynamical function only of  $(\theta, \phi)$  and we can trade  $\underline{A}_1^0$  for  $\phi^0$ . We will do so because, in view of (4.16), the interpretation of  $\phi^0$  is more direct: it captures the 'Coulombic aspects' of the asymptotic Maxwell field. In particular, as we saw, the electric charge is given by  $Q = \frac{1}{4\pi} \oint \phi^0 d^2 S$ . Finally, since  $A_a^T$  is gauge invariant on the entire spacetime, higher

order fields such as  $\underline{\phi}^1$  and  $\underline{A}_1^1$  also have an invariant meaning. They feature in the expression (4.24) of Re $\Phi_1^0$  and, together with  $\underline{\phi}^0$  and  $\underline{A}_2^0$ , suffice to determine it. Therefore, the function  $G(\theta, \varphi)$  in (4.26) is also determined by these fields. This fact will play an important role in our discussion of angular momentum.

The second notion of transversality  $A_a^t$  that is widely used in the literature (to motivate constructions in the gravitational case) is local in physical space (see, e.g. [53]). One sets

$$A_a^{\rm t} := P_a^b A_b, \quad \text{where} \quad P_a^b = m_a \bar{m}^b + \bar{m}_a m^b \equiv \hat{m}_a \hat{\bar{m}}^b + \hat{\bar{m}}_a \hat{m}^b \tag{4.29}$$

is the projection operator that projects fields into the 2-spheres r = const, t = constin Minkowski spacetime. Using the expansion (4.15) of  $A_a^t$  in terms of its components and the assumed fall-off (4.20) - (4.22) of these components, we obtain the following expansion of  $A_a^t$  in a neighborhood of  $\mathcal{I}^+$ :

$$A_a^{\rm t} = \left(A_2^0 + \Omega A_2^1 + \dots\right)\hat{m}_a + \left(\bar{A}_2^0 + \Omega \bar{A}_2^1 + \dots\right)\hat{\bar{m}}_a = A_2^0 \,\hat{m}_a + \bar{A}_2^0 \,\hat{\bar{m}}_a. \tag{4.30}$$

Note that  $A_a^t$  automatically satisfies  $A_a^t \hat{n}^a = 0$  at  $\mathcal{I}^+$ .

Often  $A_a^t$  is defined via (4.29) without specifying any gauge conditions even though the result is obviously not gauge invariant. What would happen if we use the Lorenz gauge in Minkowski spacetime so that the dynamical equation satisfied by  $A_a$  is just the wave equation? Indeed, more careful treatments make this choice. Then the residual gauge freedom is restricted to  $A_a \rightarrow A_a + \nabla_a \Lambda$  with  $\Box \Lambda = 0$ . Since this gauge transformation also needs to preserve the fall-off conditions (4.20) - (4.22), the solution to the wave equation has the form<sup>6</sup>

$$\Lambda = \frac{\Lambda^0(u, \theta, \varphi)}{r} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{r^2}\right),\tag{4.31}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Note that if  $\Lambda$  had a leading order term of the type  $\Lambda = \Lambda_0^0(\theta, \varphi) + \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{r})$ , the Cartesian components of  $\nabla \Lambda$  would fall-off as 1/r as needed. But this possibility is ruled out by the fact that  $\Box \Lambda$  would then not vanish to leading order. If  $\Lambda$  had terms of the form  $\Lambda = (\ln r/r) \Lambda^0(u, \theta, \varphi) + \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{r^2})$ , or  $\Lambda = \Lambda^0(u, \theta, \varphi) + \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{r})$ , the gauge transformation would fail to preserve the fall-off conditions on  $A_a$ .

leading to gauge transformation on  $A_a$  of the form

$$A_a \rightarrow A_a + \frac{\partial_u \Lambda^0(u, \theta, \varphi)}{r} \nabla_a u + \frac{\partial_\theta \Lambda^0(u, \theta, \varphi)}{r} \nabla_a \theta + \frac{\partial_\varphi \Lambda^0(u, \theta, \varphi)}{r} \nabla_a \varphi + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{r^2}\right).$$

Hence,

$$\phi^0 \to \phi^0 - \partial_u \Lambda^0(u, \theta, \varphi), \qquad A_1^0 \to A_1^0 - \partial_u \Lambda^0(u, \theta, \varphi), \qquad A_2^0 \to A_2^0$$
(4.32)

and at  $\mathcal{I}^+$  we have:  $A_a^t \triangleq A'_a^t$ . Thus,  $A_a^t$  is gauge invariant on  $\mathcal{I}^+$  if  $A_a$  satisfies the Lorenz gauge near  $\mathcal{I}^+$  and  $A_a$  has the desired fall-off behavior. Note however that, even with the Lorenz gauge imposed,  $\phi^0$  and higher order fields including  $A_1^1$ are not gauge invariant. For notational clarity, from now on we will denote fields associated with the vector potential in the Lorenz gauge by an undertilde. Thus,  $A_2^0$  will denote the radiative modes extracted from  $A_a^t$  in the Lorenz gauge.

#### 4.4.2 Comparison

We can now compare the two notions of transversality. First, even with the Lorenz gauge condition,  $A_a^t$  is not gauge invariant beyond the leading asymptotic order. By contrast,  $A_a^T$  is fully gauge invariant. How do the leading order fields compare? As we saw, each notion of transversality enables one to single out two radiative modes at  $\mathcal{I}^+$ :  $\underline{A}_2^0$  from  $A_a^T$ , and  $\underline{A}_2^0$  from  $A_a^t$ . Both are gauge invariant. Furthermore, we know that the gauge invariant field  $\Phi_2^0$  is related to the vector potential via  $\Phi_2^0 = \sqrt{2} \partial_u A_2^0$ , in any gauge satisfying the fall-off conditions. Therefore, the radiative modes in the two notions are related by a non-dynamical function on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ :

$$\underline{A}_{2}^{0}(u,\theta,\varphi) - \underline{A}_{2}^{0}(u,\theta,\varphi) \hat{=} f(\theta,\varphi) .$$

$$(4.33)$$

(Since  $\operatorname{Im}\Phi_1^0 = \sqrt{2} \operatorname{Im}(\eth A_2^0)$  in any gauge, it follows that  $\operatorname{Im}(\eth f) = 0$ , which in turn implies that  $f = \overline{\eth}h$  where h is real, i.e., f is 'purely electric' [86].) There is no a priori guarantee that the functions representing radiative modes in  $A_a^{\mathrm{T}}$  are the same as those in  $A_a^{\mathrm{t}}$  even at  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . However, the difference between them is a non-dynamical function. As we show below, it drops out of all physical quantities that can be constructed from the radiative modes –including those associated with soft (i.e. infrared) 'charges' and the memory effect.

As far as fields at  $\mathcal{I}^+$  are concerned, the main difference in the two approaches

to transversality of the vector potential is the following. In the first approach leading to  $A_a^{\rm T}$ , as we saw,  $\underline{\vec{A}}_a$  has *three* independent components at  $\mathcal{I}^+$  even to leading order: In addition to  $\underline{A}_2^0$ , the leading order part of  $\underline{\vec{A}}_a$  provides us with  $\underline{A}_1^0$ , which as we saw can be traded for  $\underline{\phi}^0$ . This additional field is non-dynamical on  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , a hallmark of fields carrying the 'Coulombic information' in the asymptotic Maxwell field. Furthermore, in this approach, higher order fields such as  $\underline{\phi}^1$  and  $\underline{A}_1^1$  are also accessible and gauge invariant. By contrast, in the second approach leading to  $A_a^t$ , only the leading order fields  $\underline{A}_2^0$  are gauge invariant. While we can introduce  $\underline{\phi}^0$  and higher order fields, they are not invariant under the restricted gauge transformations even after imposing the Lorenz gauge.

How does this difference manifest itself? First, as we saw, the total electric charge in the system is not encoded in the radiative modes. However, it can be expressed as an integral of  $\phi^0$  over a 2-sphere cross-section of  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , accessible in the  $A_a^{\mathrm{T}}$  approach but not in the  $A_a^{\mathrm{t}}$  approach. Thus, the information about leading order 'Coulombic properties' of the solution — in particular, the total electric charge — is accessible to the first approach but not to the second. In the gravitational case, the situation is parallel, with electric charge replaced by the linearized Bondi 4-momentum.

Based on this fact, one's first intuition could be that the  $A_a^t$ -approach would not be adequate to handle issues such as the soft charges and memory effect which are related to the 'charge aspect'  $\Phi_1^0$  at  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , but should be adequate for calculating physical quantities associated with electromagnetic waves such as the energy, momentum and angular momentum they carry. However, it turns out that neither of these expectations is borne out; the situation is more subtle.

#### 4.4.3 Fluxes of energy-momentum and angular momentum

Let us begin with the expressions fluxes of energy-momentum and angular momentum across  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . Since every Killing field  $K^a$  admits a smooth limit (4.6) to  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , using conformal invariance of the Maxwell field, the flux  $\mathcal{F}_K$  can be expressed as:

$$\mathcal{F}_{K} = \int_{\mathcal{I}^{+}} \hat{T}_{ab} K^{a} \tilde{n}^{b} du d^{2}S$$
  
$$= \int_{\mathcal{I}^{+}} \left( \hat{F}_{ac} \hat{F}_{bd} \hat{\eta}^{cd} - \frac{1}{4} \hat{\eta}_{ab} \hat{F}_{cd} \hat{F}^{cd} \right) K^{a} \tilde{n}^{b} du d^{2}S. \qquad (4.34)$$

Recall from (4.6) that for translation Killing fields,  $K^a = \alpha(\theta, \varphi) \tilde{n}^a$ , with  $\alpha(\theta, \varphi)$  characterizing that the translation is a linear combination of the first four spherical harmonics. Therefore, the corresponding flux becomes:

$$\mathcal{F}_{\alpha} = \int_{\mathcal{I}^{+}} |\Phi_{2}^{0}|^{2} \alpha(\theta, \varphi) \, \mathrm{d}u \, \mathrm{d}^{2}S$$
  
$$= \int_{\mathcal{I}^{+}} 2 |\partial_{u}A_{2}^{0}|^{2} \alpha(\theta, \varphi) \, \mathrm{d}u \, \mathrm{d}^{2}S. \qquad (4.35)$$

Thus the energy-momentum flux is expressible entirely in terms of the radiative modes  $A_2^0$ . Although we focused on the total flux of energy-momentum across  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , since no integration by parts was involved, it is clear from the calculation that the integrand, representing the *local flux*, can also be expressed in terms of  $A_2^0$ . Furthermore, the expression holds in any gauge.

Next, let us consider the component of angular momentum along a spatial rotation  $h^a$  which is tangential to the  $u = \text{const 2-sphere cross-sections of } \mathcal{I}^+$  and satisfies  $\mathcal{L}_h q_{ab} = 0$  and  $\mathcal{L}_h \tilde{n}^a = 0$  (see (4.6)). Then we can expand  $h^a$  as  $h^a = g(\theta, \varphi) \hat{m}^a + \bar{g}(\theta, \varphi) \hat{m}^a$  (where g satisfies  $\bar{\eth} g = 0$  [38, 91]). Substituting  $K^a = h^a$  in (4.34), we obtain the flux of the  $h^a$ -component of angular momentum:

$$\mathcal{F}_{g} = \sqrt{2} \int_{\mathcal{I}^{+}} \operatorname{Re}\left[\bar{\Phi}_{2}^{0} \Phi_{1}^{0} g(\theta, \varphi)\right] \mathrm{d}u \, \mathrm{d}^{2}S$$

$$(4.36)$$

$$= 2 \int_{\mathcal{I}^+} \operatorname{Re}\left[ \left( \partial_u \bar{A}_2^0 \right) \left( \sqrt{2} \eth A_2^0 + G(\theta, \varphi) \right) g(\theta, \varphi) \right] \mathrm{d}u \, \mathrm{d}^2 S \tag{4.37}$$

where in the second step we have used (4.26) to express the real part of  $\Phi_1^0$  in terms of  $A_2^0$  and  $G(\theta, \varphi)$ . Again, these expressions hold in any gauge. The integrand in (4.36) involves only  $\Phi_2^0$  and  $\Phi_1^0$  which are both manifestly gauge invariant<sup>7</sup> and the passage to (4.37) featuring  $A_2^0$  and  $G(\theta, \varphi)$  did not involve any integration by parts. Therefore the integrands in each of these expressions represents the *local* flux of angular momentum. In contrast to energy-momentum, the local as well as the integrated flux of angular momentum depends on the asymptotic 'Coulombic part' of the Maxwell field through  $\text{Re}\Phi_1^0$ . Eq. (4.37) makes it explicit that the flux of angular momentum cannot be expressed purely in terms of the two radiative modes captured in  $A_2^0$ ; we also need the 'Coulombic information' in  $\text{Re}\Phi_1^0$  encoded

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>While the second expression also holds in any choice of gauge since  $\partial_u A_2^0$  and  $\operatorname{Re}\Phi_1^0 = \sqrt{2}\operatorname{Re}\partial A_2^0 + G(\theta,\varphi)$  are both gauge invariant, the individual terms,  $\operatorname{Re}\partial A_2^0$  and  $G(\theta,\varphi)$  are not. In particular  $\partial \underline{A}_2^0$  that features in the expression of  $A_a^{\mathrm{T}}$  need not equal  $\partial \underline{A}_2^0$  that features in  $A_a^{\mathrm{t}}$ .

in the function  $G(\theta, \varphi)$ . In particular, this implies that angular momentum carried away by electromagnetic waves cannot be expressed using only the component of the electromagnetic vector potential in  $A_a^t$ . This fact appears not to have been noticed in the literature. By contrast,  $A_a^T$  provides additional asymptotic fields that are sufficient to obtain  $\operatorname{Re}\Phi_1^0$  (and  $G(\theta, \varphi)$ ) and hence the local and total flux of angular momentum at  $\mathcal{I}^+$ .

#### 4.4.4 Soft charges and electromagnetic memory

The 'soft' or 'infrared charges'  $q_{\tilde{\alpha}}$  are obtained by integrating the charge aspect Re $\Phi_1^0$  against real-valued test fields  $\tilde{\alpha}$  [90]:

$$q_{\tilde{\alpha}} = \frac{1}{4\pi} \left( \oint_{u=\infty} - \oint_{u=-\infty} \right) \left[ \tilde{\alpha} \operatorname{Re} \Phi_1^0(u,\theta,\varphi) \right] \mathrm{d}^2 S.$$
(4.38)

For any Maxwell field  $q_{\tilde{\alpha}}$  vanishes if  $\tilde{\alpha} = \text{const}$  by charge conservation. However, for a general  $\tilde{\alpha}$  it carries non-trivial information about the 'Coulombic aspect' of the asymptotic Maxwell field. Since the integrand features  $\text{Re}\Phi_1^0$ , one might first expect that the soft charge would not be expressible purely in terms of radiative modes. However, using (4.26), it follows that

$$q_{\tilde{\alpha}} = -\frac{\sqrt{2}}{4\pi} \left( \oint_{u=\infty} - \oint_{u=-\infty} \right) \operatorname{Re} \left[ A_2^0(u,\theta,\varphi) \ \eth \tilde{\alpha}(\theta,\varphi) \right] \mathrm{d}^2 S \,, \tag{4.39}$$

since G is u-independent. Thus, the soft charges can in fact be expressed using only the radiative modes in  $A_2^0$ . (Since the kernel of  $\eth$  on spin-weight zero functions consists only of constants, in general  $q_{\tilde{\alpha}}$  vanishes only if  $\tilde{\alpha} = \text{const.}$ ) Indeed, using the Maxwell equation  $\partial_u \Phi_1^0 = \eth \Phi_2^0$  we can recast the soft charges in terms only of the radiation field  $\Phi_2^0$ :

$$q_{\tilde{\alpha}} = -\frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathcal{I}^+} \left( \Phi_2^0(u,\theta,\varphi) \ \eth \tilde{\alpha} \right) du \, d^2 S$$
$$= -\frac{1}{4\pi} \oint d^2 S \ \eth \tilde{\alpha} \left( \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \, \Phi_2^0(u,\theta,\varphi) \right).$$
(4.40)

Thus, even though the soft charges are associated with  $\operatorname{Re}\Phi_1^0$  that one normally thinks of as carrying 'Coulombic information', it can be expressed entirely in terms of radiative modes and is therefore accessible in the  $A_a^t$ -framework. We will now show that the situation is similar for electromagnetic memory. The electromagnetic analog of the memory effect is a 'kick' — that is, change in velocity v that a test particle with charge  $\mathbf{q}$  in the asymptotic region undergoes after the passage of an electromagnetic wave. If the particle is initially following a trajectory of the time-translation Killing field  $t^a$  in the asymptotic region with  $\theta = \theta_o, \varphi = \varphi_o, r = r_o$ , it would acquire a velocity of magnitude  $\Delta v$  given by [92]

$$\Delta v = \frac{\mathfrak{q}}{m} \left[ \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d} u \vec{E}(u, r_o, \theta_o, \varphi_o) \cdot \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d} u \vec{E}(u, r_o, \theta_o, \varphi_o) \right]^{\frac{1}{2}}, \qquad (4.41)$$

where  $E^a$  is the electric field  $E^a = F^{ab}t_b$  in the rest frame of the particle. We can rewrite this expression using the asymptotic expansion of the Maxwell field as:

$$\Delta v = \frac{\mathbf{q}}{mr_o} \left| \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}u \, \Phi_2^0(u, \theta_0, \varphi_0) \right| + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{r_o^2}\right)$$
$$= \frac{\sqrt{2}\mathbf{q}}{mr_o} \left| A_2^0(u = \infty, \theta_o, \varphi_o) - A_2^0(u = -\infty, \theta_o, \varphi_o) \right| + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{r_o^2}\right). \tag{4.42}$$

Thus, the leading term in the electromagnetic memory is proportional to absolute value  $|q_{\tilde{\alpha}}|$  of the soft charge, for  $\tilde{\alpha}$  such that  $\tilde{\partial}\tilde{\alpha}$  is the Dirac distribution centered at  $\theta = \theta_o$  and  $\varphi = \varphi_o$ . Although the kick is closely related to the charge aspect, it can can be expressed entirely in terms of the radiation field  $\Phi_2^0$ , or, radiative modes  $A_2^0$  of the vector potential.

#### 4.4.5 Summary

 $A_a^{\mathrm{T}}$  is gauge invariant everywhere in spacetime while only the limit to  $\mathcal{I}^+$  of  $A_a^{\mathrm{t}}$  is gauge invariant. At  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , the  $A_a^{\mathrm{T}}$ -framework provides us two leading order fields  $\underline{A}_2^0$  and  $\underline{\phi}^0$  (or, equivalently,  $\underline{A}_1^0$ ), as well a hierarchy of higher order fields, such as  $\underline{\phi}^1$ ,  $\underline{A}_1^1$ , ... that are all gauge invariant. By contrast, only the gauge invariant fields that the  $A_a^{\mathrm{t}}$ -framework provides at  $\mathcal{I}^+$  is  $\underline{A}_2^0$ . The two radiative modes of the electromagnetic field are encoded in  $\underline{A}_2^0$  and  $\underline{A}_2^0$ . However, in general  $\underline{A}_2^0$  and  $\underline{A}_2^0$  do not agree even asymptotically, i.e., at  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , but their difference is encoded in a non-dynamical function  $f(\theta, \varphi)$  that is irrelevant for all physical observables. We can express energy momentum, soft charges and electromagnetic memory using only the radiative modes  $\underline{A}_2^0$  or  $\underline{A}_2^0$ . However, in presence of sources, angular momentum

carried by electromagnetic waves cannot be expressed using just the radiative modes; we also need 'Coulombic information'. The additional fields at  $\mathcal{I}^+$  provided by the  $A_a^{\mathrm{T}}$ -framework carry this information.

#### *Remarks:*

(i) It is instructive to rewrite the angular momentum flux (4.37) by performing an integration by parts as:

$$\mathcal{F}_{g} = 2 \int_{\mathcal{I}^{+}} \operatorname{Re}\left[ (\partial_{u} \bar{A}_{2}^{0}) (\sqrt{2} \eth A_{2}^{0}) g(\theta, \varphi) \right] - \left( \oint_{u=\infty} - \oint_{u=-\infty} \right) \operatorname{Re}\left[ \bar{A}_{2}^{0} G(\theta, \varphi) g(\theta, \varphi) \right].$$

$$(4.43)$$

This form brings out the fact that while the flux does depend on the 'Coulombic information' in  $\operatorname{Re}\Phi_1^0$ , it can be made to enter only through boundary terms at the two ends,  $i^+$  and  $i^o$ , of  $\mathcal{I}^+$ .

(ii) In the source-free case, we know from (4.28) that  $G(\theta, \varphi)$  vanishes and hence, like the energy-momentum flux, the angular momentum flux is now expressible only in terms of the two radiative modes  $A_2^0$ . For the Maxwell field, we obtained expressions of these fluxes, using the stress-energy tensor. For linearized gravity, there is no local, gauge invariant stress-energy tensor. However, already in the Maxwell case one can use a covariant phase space framework and recover these fluxes as Hamiltonians generating canonical transformations induced by the action of Killing vectors  $K^a$  on solutions of Maxwell equations [84]. In the source-free case, this method extends to linearized gravitational waves [35] and, indeed, also to gravitational waves in full general relativity [84].

(iii) In the absence of sources, the covariant phase space can be coordinatized by the two radiative modes of the Maxwell [84] or gravitational fields [93]. But in presence of sources, this coordinatization fails to be faithful; for example, it fails to distinguish different stationary solutions. As we just saw in this section, in presence of sources, one needs additional 'Coulombic information' already to obtain the correct expression of the flux of angular momentum. This requires an extension of the covariant phase space method. We have already carried out this extension for the Maxwell field and the main steps have been laid down for linearized gravity. Eq. (4.43) tells us that the bulk term in the expression of angular momentum is the same as that in the source-free case, but we now have to supplement it with boundary terms that encode the relevant 'Coulombic information.' This structure extends to the generalized phase space constructed at  $\mathcal{I}^+$  to accommodate the presence of sources in the interior. The symplectic structure of this phase space has a bulk term that is the same as that in the source-free case but it is now supplemented by boundary terms at  $i^+$  and  $i^o$  that involve appropriate non-radiative fields.

#### 4.5 Discussion

Somewhat surprisingly, in many of the widely used monographs and review articles, two different notions are denoted by the same term, *transverse-traceless modes* of (linearized) gravitational waves, without realizing that they are conceptually distinct. These treatments generally begin with the fully gauge invariant notion that is *local in the momentum space*, and hence non-local in physical space, and label the modes with a superscript TT. This is the notion that features in the decomposition of metric perturbations into scalar, vector and tensor modes. However, while discussing gravitational waves emitted by an isolated system — typically in a later section — the relevant modes are extracted using a 'projection operator' that is *local in physical space*. These modes are also called transverse-traceless and again labeled by the same superscript TT, implying that this is just a reformulation of the previous notion. But as we shown in this chapter, the two notions are distinct and the difference persists even in the asymptotic region.

There is one exception to this statement that we have not yet discussed: for plane waves, the two notions of transversality in fact coincide. This is clear from the Fourier transform of the spatial components of the linearized gravitational perturbation  $h_{ab}$  on a t = const slice:

$$h_{ab}(t,\vec{x}) = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 k}{(2\pi)^3} \left( \tilde{h}_{ab}(t,\vec{k}) e^{i\vec{k}\cdot\vec{x}} + \mathrm{c.c.} \right).$$
(4.44)

If  $h_{ab}$  is transverse and traceless in the usual sense, that is,  $h_{ab} = h_{ab}^{\text{TT}}$  and satisfies  $\mathring{q}^{ab}h_{ab}^{\text{TT}} = 0 = \mathring{D}^a h_{ab}^{\text{TT}}$ , this translates to the following conditions on the Fourier transformed potential  $\tilde{h}_{ab}$ :

$$\hat{k}^{a}\tilde{h}_{ab}^{\rm TT} = 0$$
 and  $\mathring{q}^{ab}\tilde{h}_{ab}^{\rm TT} = 0$ , (4.45)

where  $\hat{k}^a$  is the unit wave-vector. When considering a plane wave traveling along

 $\hat{k}^{a}$ , integrating the first condition in (4.45) over  $d^{3}k$  and using the isomorphism between real and Fourier space to identify  $\hat{k}^{a}$  with the radial unit vector  $\hat{r}^{a}$ , one can conclude that this condition in real space becomes  $\hat{r}^{a}h_{ab}^{TT} = 0$ . Hence, for plane waves  $h_{ab}^{TT} = h_{ab}^{tt}$ . This is only true for plane waves, because the integral over  $d^{3}k$ prohibits the identification of  $\hat{k}^{a}$  with  $\hat{r}^{a}$  whenever one considers a superposition of waves with wave-vectors that are not aligned. Since waves emitted by astrophysical sources are not plane waves, the equivalence for this particular case is not directly physically relevant.<sup>8</sup>

Generically, the two notions of transversality are not equivalent. How do these differences manifest themselves? To investigate this, we studied this issue in the technically simpler context of Maxwell theory in which two similar notions of transversality exist:  $A_a^{\rm T}$  and  $A_a^{\rm t}$ . Null infinity provides the appropriate platform to compare these two notions. The leading order terms of the Newman-Penrose scalars  $\Phi_2^0$  and  $\mathrm{Im}\Phi_1^0$  capture the radiative modes and are determined by time and angular derivatives of  $A_2^0$  (and  $\bar{A}_2^0$ ). Hence, the radiative degrees of freedom are encoded in  $A_2^0$ , which is the leading order part of the angular components of  $A_a$ . For these radiative degrees of freedom, the two notions of transversality are the same up to a non-dynamical function on the two-sphere. This non-dynamical function is not physically relevant as it does not appear in any physical observable quantities such as energy-momentum flux radiated across  $\mathcal{I}$ , electromagnetic memory or soft charges. There are important physical differences, however, between the two notions.  $A_a^{\rm T}$  contains more information than  $A_a^{\rm t}$ ; it also contains 'Coulombic information' that is not available to  $A_a^t$ . Physically, this information manifest itself in angular momentum.

We discussed these issues in detail in the technically simpler context of Maxwell theory because the structure is completely parallel to that for linearized gravity. Of course, in the Maxwell theory, one can forego potentials altogether and express all physical observables directly in terms of the Maxwell field  $F_{ab}$ , which is accessible in both approaches. But for linearized gravitational fields, we cannot express even

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>One may argue (see, for instance, [72]) that the direction of propagation of waves produced by astrophysical objects as observed by gravitational wave observatories on earth is well-defined. Consequently, for all practical purposes, the observed waves behave effectively as plane waves. This heuristic argument, however, does not provide much insight. It does not bring a deeper conceptual understanding of the relation between  $h_{ab}^{\rm TT}$  and  $h_{ab}^{\rm tt}$  discussed in this chapter, nor does it give quantitative control on the difference between  $h_{ab}^{\rm TT}$  and  $h_{ab}^{\rm tt}$ . Moreover, it completely misses the important observation that radiated angular momentum is captured by  $h_{ab}^{\rm TT}$  but not by  $h_{ab}^{\rm tt}$ .

the basic physical quantities such as the flux of energy, momentum and angular momentum in terms of linearized curvature; we have to work with potentials. Therefore, we studied the Maxwell case in terms of the vector potential in detail. Analogously to the electromagnetic case, the Newman-Penrose scalars  $\Psi_4^0$ ,  $\Psi_3^0$  and  $\mathrm{Im}\Psi_2^0$  capture the radiative modes in the context of linearized gravitational fields (and in full general relativity — although that is not relevant to this discussion). Just as  $A_2^0$  in Maxwell theory determined the radiative aspects through its time and angular derivatives, so does the linearized shear encoded in the angular components of the metric perturbation determine  $\Psi_4^0$ ,  $\Psi_3^0$  and  $\mathrm{Im}\Psi_2^0$ . The linearized shear for  $h_{ab}^{\rm TT}$  and  $h_{ab}^{\rm tt}$  is generically not the same, not even at  $\mathcal{I}^+$ , but it differs only by a non-dynamical function on the two-sphere that does not appear in any physical observables typically considered. Furthermore, similar to  $A_a^{\rm T}$  in Maxwell theory,  $h_{ab}^{\rm TT}$  provides additional fields at  ${\mathcal I}$  that contain information about the 'Coulombic aspect' of the field. Preliminary results indicate that these additional fields play an important role for angular momentum radiated by gravitational perturbations. The analysis of angular momentum radiated is rather technical as for linearized gravity no stress-energy tensor exists. To by-pass this issue, we use the covariant phase space framework to calculate fluxes radiated by considering the Hamiltonians generating canonical transformations induced by the action of Killing vectors  $K^a$  on solutions of the linearized Einstein's equations [84]. However, the current covariant phase space framework is only valid in the absence of sources. The main steps for the extension of this framework to include sources have been carried out and will appear elsewhere.

To conclude, we do not claim that there is a major error in the final expressions in standard gravitational wave theory literature that heavily uses the second notion of transversality. But it can lead to physically incorrect results for a few quantities such as angular momentum carried by gravitational waves. The primary goal of this chapter was to clarify the conceptual differences between the two notions. This clear distinction between the two notions of transversality is especially important when considering stochastic backgrounds of gravitational radiation or when one wants to place an isolated system in a realistic cosmology, where asymptotically flat spacetimes are replaced by asymptotically de Sitter spacetimes. In neither of these scenarios can one use the second notion of transversality,  $h_{ab}^{tt}$ , that relies heavily on the Bondi expansions near null infinity  $\mathcal{I}^+$  in asymptotically flat spacetimes.

# Chapter 5 Conclusion and outlook

With the recent gravitational wave detections by LIGO, a new era has started: the era of gravitational wave astronomy [2–4]. As a qualitatively new channel to study astrophysical phenomena, gravitational wave observations are likely to revolutionize our understanding of the Universe. In cosmology, they will allow us to look deeper into the past of our Universe than has been possible with CMB observations and study the earliest stages just after the big bang. However, in order to use gravitational waves for cosmology, we need to go beyond our present understanding of these waves.

The current theoretical framework was developed with nearby astrophysical sources in mind: it treats the source that emits gravitational waves as an isolated system in an asymptotically flat universe. In this set-up, spacetime curvature decays as we recede from sources. However, this is not what happens in our physical Universe. Not only does the spacetime curvature prevail because of approximate spatial homogeneity but there is also an accelerated expansion that is best described by a positive cosmological constant  $\Lambda$ . Somewhat surprisingly, the global structure of solutions of Einstein's equations with a positive  $\Lambda$  is very different from that with zero  $\Lambda$ , no matter how small  $\Lambda$  is. Since radiative properties of solutions can be extracted only by moving far away from sources — to the 'radiation zone' — differences in the global structure become very important in the discussion of properties of gravitational radiation. In particular, the rich framework used to describe gravitational waves in the asymptotically flat context is no longer applicable, nor can it be simply tweaked. One needs completely new methods to incorporate the global issues brought in by a positive  $\Lambda$ . This dissertation provided first steps to overcome these limitations of the current theory of gravitational waves by addressing issues that arise in presence of a positive  $\Lambda$  for linearized gravitational

waves. To construct a theory that can adequately describe gravitational waves in our Universe, one would have to incorporate cosmological matter in addition to  $\Lambda$ and extend the framework to full, non-linear general relativity.

#### 5.1 Summary

In the asymptotically flat case, by going far away from sources in null directions one can disentangle the gravitational waves from the background curvature. This insight by Bondi allowed him to show that gravitational waves are physical since they carry energy. Penrose formalized these ideas using conformal methods and showed that the boundary of spacetime,  $\mathcal{I}$ , is the natural area on which gravitational radiation can be studied unambiguously. On  $\mathcal{I}$  of asymptotically flat spacetimes, a rich structure exists. For instance, there is an asymptotic symmetry group, called the BMS group, that leaves the asymptotic structure invariant. In addition, one can define the Bondi news tensor that describes gravitational radiation in a gauge invariant manner in full, non-linear general relativity. A key difference between asymptotically flat spacetimes and asymptotically de Sitter spacetimes is the nature of  $\mathcal{I}$ . As a consequence of Einstein's equations,  $\mathcal{I}$  is a null surface when with  $\Lambda = 0$ , while space-like when  $\Lambda > 0$ . Many conceptual difficulties arise as a result, as we elaborated upon in Chapter 1. For instance, we do not yet have an analog in asymptotically de Sitter spacetimes of the Bondi news tensor. Nor is there an analog of the BMS group that allows for an interpretation of energy-momentum or angular momentum emitted in the form of gravitational radiation.

These issues were circumvented by studying linearized gravitational fields on a de Sitter background. The results obtained by studying the linearized fields serve as important checks in the final construction of the framework that allows the study of gravitational radiation in full non-linear general relativity when  $\Lambda > 0$ . In addition, they are interesting on their own since already at the linearized level subtleties arise.

First of all, in asymptotically flat spacetimes the properties of gravitational waves are best understood in the region far away from the sources that create them. Therefore, one often employs an 1/r expansion to study gravitational waves. However, when  $\Lambda \neq 0$  this expansion is not physically relevant. Instead a late time expansion is needed because  $\mathcal{I}$  is no longer a null surface but is space-like. Second, while wavelengths of fields propagating on a flat spacetime are constant, on a de Sitter spacetime they increase and even exceed the curvature radius in the asymptotic region. Consequently, the commonly used high-frequency approximation is not valid near de Sitter  $\mathcal{I}$ . The breakdown of the high-frequency limit near  $\mathcal I$  is further illustrated by the appearance of a hereditary term in the expression for gravitational wave perturbations. This term vanishes in the high-frequency limit but its value near  $\mathcal{I}$  is comparable to the sharply propagating term and thus should not be neglected. Another interesting lesson learned from the study of linearized fields on a de Sitter background is that the  $\Lambda \to 0$  can be discontinuous. A worrisome example is the discontinuity in energy: for gravitational perturbations in the presence of a positive  $\Lambda$  the energy is unbounded below and thus can be arbitrarily negative, whereas for perturbations in flat spacetime the energy is always positive because of the positive mass theorem [94,95]. Nevertheless, we showed that the energy of gravitational waves emitted by physical sources cannot be negative. For *non-linear* gravitational wave theory, this is still an important open question and can only be addressed after the development of the framework that addresses gravitational radiation in full general relativity for spacetimes with  $\Lambda > 0$ .

Furthermore, many subtleties arise in the generalization from Einstein's celebrated quadrupole formula describing the power emitted in the form of gravitational radiation on a flat spacetime to de Sitter spacetime. This is described in Chapter 2. This generalization occurred exactly a 100 years after Einstein's initial formula and the long time span between these results highlights the conceptual subtleness and technical difficulty of this generalization. At the technical level, standard techniques to study gravitational waves on flat spacetimes such as the 1/r expansion, the high-frequency approximation and the algebraic projection operator to extract the radiative degrees of freedom do not apply to gravitational waves on a de Sitter background. At the conceptual level, we found that power radiated introduces new features. Although the power radiated is still quadrupolar in nature within our post-de Sitter, first order post-Newtonian approximation, it receives contributions from both mass quadrupole moments as well as pressure quadrupole moments. From cosmology, it is well known that pressure gravitates. This result shows that it also directly sources gravitational waves — already at this leading order approximation. In addition, not only third time derivatives of the quadrupole moments contribute to the power radiated but also lower order time derivatives contribute. This is in
contrast to the result on a Minkowski background that at this order depends only on the third time derivative of the mass quadrupole moment. The lower order time derivatives and pressure quadrupole moments are all accompanied by factors of  $\sqrt{\Lambda}$  so that in the limit  $\Lambda \rightarrow 0$  the expression for power radiated on a Minkowski background is recovered. Moreover, despite the fact that the gravitational wave itself has a tail term, the power at any given time only depends on the dynamics of the source at the corresponding retarded time. This is due to the fact that the energy radiated depends not on the gravitational perturbation directly but on its derivatives and the derivatives of the tail term propagate sharply. As a result, the tail term does not explicitly appear in the power radiated. (This should not be mistaken to mean that the tail term itself does not contribute to the energy radiated on  $\mathcal{I}$ , it certainly does.) Thus, while even a small cosmological constant requires entirely new techniques and introduces qualitatively new features to the power radiated, in the end, the corrections to Einstein's formula due to  $\Lambda$  are negligible for current gravitational wave observatories.

There are situations in which the differences between the  $\Lambda > 0$  and  $\Lambda = 0$  case could be significant. For instance, one of the most powerful sources of gravitational waves is the interaction of two supermassive black holes following the merger of their host galaxies. The time scales associated with this system are cosmological and thus one may hope to detect effects due to  $\Lambda > 0$ . Therefore, in Chapter 3, we applied the formula for power radiated by an arbitrary source on a de Sitter background to a binary system in a circular orbit. The dynamics of the binary could only reliably be determined up to  $\mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda}\Omega^{-1})$  with  $\Omega$  the angular velocity of the binary. Consequently, the resulting power could also only be reliably determined up to  $\mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda}\Omega^{-1})$  and the power radiated in terms of the reduced mass and angular velocity is identical to the standard expression for power radiated by the same system on a Minkowski background (up to constant factor of the scale factor at the time of emission). By construction, no corrections due to  $\Lambda$  appear. From a physical perspective, this result is as expected: the effect of  $\Lambda$  is small due to a natural separation of scales. However, from a mathematical perspective, the final answer is rather surprising given that the limit  $\Lambda \to 0$  can be discontinuous and the different (physical) approximations made and calculational tools used.

One of the key difference in the calculational tools is the 1/r expansion versus the late time expansion. Another important difference between gravitational waves

on a Minkowski and de Sitter background is how the radiative degrees of freedom are extracted. When  $\Lambda = 0$ , one extracts the radiative degrees of freedom of the gravitational waves in the wave zone using an algebraic projection operator. This algebraic projection operator projects the spatial part of the gravitational perturbation onto the two-sphere orthogonal to the radial direction. This has become standard in gravitational wave theory. When  $\Lambda > 0$ , however, one needs to extract the transverse-traceless part of the spatial components of the linearized potential. In Chapter 4, we studied the relation between the two methods for extracting the radiative modes in the context of asymptotically flat spacetimes. We showed that the radiative degrees of freedom extracted by the two methods generically do not agree; not even at  $\mathcal{I}$ . Their difference is, however, not physically important as it can be completely encoded by a function of the two angular coordinates  $f(\theta, \varphi)$ and does not contain any dynamical information. The difference  $f(\theta, \varphi)$  disappears from physical observable quantities typically considered such as energy carried by the gravitational waves. Hence, for questions for which only the radiative degrees of freedom are relevant, both methods yield the same result. The difference between the two methods becomes important when one is also interested in 'Coulombic' information. This information is not available to the algebraic projection method, whereas it is to  $h_{ab}^{\rm TT}$ . For instance, angular momentum carried by gravitational waves cannot be calculated from  $h_{ab}^{tt}$  alone. We also showed that the algebraic projection operator does not extract the radiative degrees of freedom for (asymptotically) de Sitter spacetimes, since the algebraic projection method is tailored to Bondi-Sachs type expansions and behavior of fields near  $\mathcal{I}$  in asymptotically flat spacetimes and does not generalize to cases for which  $\mathcal{I}$  is space-like.

#### 5.2 Looking forward

The primary goal of this dissertation was conceptual. Given the observed smallness of the cosmological constant, it is natural to expect that the observational consequences of  $\Lambda$  on gravitational radiation will also be small. However, without a framework to calculate the corrections induced by  $\Lambda$  one cannot say with confidence how small these corrections are. The formula for power radiated in the presence of  $\Lambda > 0$  derived in Chapter 2 is a first step towards answering this question. The expression shows explicitly that the effects of  $\Lambda$  are suppressed by the characteristic time scale associated with the source. This result is non-trivial given the fact that the limit  $\Lambda \to 0$  can be discontinuous.

Nonetheless, much is still to be understood both with regard to calculational tools as well as fundamental questions. In particular, all results at the linearized level so far have been for a de Sitter background. To be directly relevant for observations, these results need to be extended to more realistic cosmological spacetimes such as FLRW models with positive  $\Lambda$  that include matter. Tied to this generalization to spacetimes with matter, is the question what the origin of the  $\mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda}t_c)$  corrections is. The cosmological constant is a measure of curvature that plays two roles: it is present at the time of generation of the gravitational waves and it influences their propagation. Is one of these a dominating factor in giving rise to the  $\mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda t_c})$  terms in power radiated? Given that in the formula for power radiated all terms are to be evaluated at the retarded instant of time, it is plausible that the curvature at the time of the wave generation is the key player. If this is indeed the case and one assumes that the result for power radiated generalizes in a straightforward manner to spacetimes with matter and  $\Lambda > 0$ , then it seems plausible that the value of  $\sqrt{\Lambda}$  in the power radiated should be replaced by that of  $\sqrt{3}H$  at the moment the waves are generated. The value of  $\sqrt{3}H$  was much larger in the past than the value of  $\sqrt{\Lambda}$ . This could make the corrections to the power radiated due to the expansion of the Universe larger and easier to observe. We will conclude by providing some estimates.

Let us suppose that one percent corrections to the power radiated could be readily observed and focus on a binary formed at  $z \sim 100$ , the epoch when the first stars and black holes were formed. When the period of the orbital motion is  $\sim 10^7$  years, the corrections due to the curvature are then observable. For a binary black hole system with a total mass of about two solar masses, this implies, in the Newtonian approximation, a physical separation between the two bodies of 0.4 pc (and a velocity of the individual black holes of  $\sim 150 \text{ m s}^{-1}$ ). A binary black hole system with total mass  $\sim 10^6 M_{\odot}$  has to be separated by 30 pc (and the internal velocity is approximately  $10^4 \text{ m s}^{-1}$ ). Such systems should exist among the first stars and black holes, but we do not know how abundant they would be. To measure these effects, we would need gravitational wave detectors sensitive to wavelengths  $\lambda \sim 5$  Mpc. For comparison, the pulsar timing array is sensitive to  $\lambda \sim 3 \text{ pc } [96]$ .

On the other hand, if the terms containing  $\Lambda$  in the power radiated are mainly due to the waves propagating on a curved background and again one assumes that the result for power radiated generalizes trivially to expanding spacetimes with matter, it will be more difficult to observe the effect of  $\Lambda$  on gravitational radiation. Concretely, if one assumes again that one can resolve the power to a precision of one percent then the period of a binary system has to be roughly  $10^{10}$  years. The black holes making up a binary with total mass equaling  $\sim 2M_{\odot}$  are now separated by 26 pc (and  $v \sim 18 \text{ m s}^{-1}$ ), while for a binary with total mass  $10^6 M_{\odot}$  the separation is 10 kpc (and  $v \sim 10^3 \text{ m s}^{-1}$ ). Our current methods that focus on  $\mathcal{I}$  do not address what the dominating factor is: the curvature at the source or during propagation. New tools may be needed to satisfactorily answer this question. In addition, if the terms of  $\mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda t_c})$  in the radiated power can be attributed to the wave propagation effect, it is critical to gain a better understanding of the source dynamics on longer time scales. In Chapter 3, the source dynamics could only reliably be determined in the approximation that the scale factor is constant during the time of interest. This assumption will then need to be relaxed. If the effects due to  $\Lambda$  have their origin in the wave generation process, the source dynamics on long time scales is not pivotal in understanding the corrections due to the cosmological background on the power radiated.

From a more practical point of view, it is worthwhile to investigate whether there is an efficient way to extract the radiative degrees of freedom from a gravitational wave perturbation. As mentioned before, in Minkowski spacetime, one can extract the radiative modes on  $\mathcal{I}$  using the algebraic projection operator. This projection operator is remarkably simple from a computational perspective and avoids solving a cumbersome set of differential equations otherwise needed to obtain the radiative modes. Applying this algebraic projection operator to gravitational perturbations on a de Sitter background, however, does *not* yield the radiative degrees of freedom. Are there other methods that allow a simple extraction of the radiative modes of the gravitational perturbations on a de Sitter spacetime?

A more fundamental issue is related to the gravitational memory effect. This effect is well understood in asymptotically flat spacetimes and describes the phenomenon that a passing gravitational wave displaces test masses permanently. Several authors have also studied this effect in cosmological spacetimes with a positive  $\Lambda$  and found an enhancement of this effect as compared to flat space-

times [77,78]. In addition, since already at the lowest order in the approximations for gravitational waves on de Sitter spacetime a tail term appears — which is absent for flat spacetime — it has been argued that also a new type of linear memory exists [59,76]. These studies have some important limitations as they employ a 1/rexpansion which is not appropriate. The connection between these ideas and how they may relate to the further development of the framework of asymptotically de Sitter spacetimes in full, non-linear general relativity is interesting.

Finally, it is important to understand gravitational radiation in non-linear general relativity especially given the historical confusion on the reality of gravitational waves.

### Appendix A Transverse-traceless decomposition of the quadrupole moment

In this appendix,<sup>1</sup> we first briefly recall the decomposition of a spatial tensor into its irreducible parts and outline a generic prescription to extract the transverse-traceless part of this decomposition. In addition, we discuss some important properties of this decomposition. Next, we apply this method to calculate the transverse-traceless part of the quadrupole moment in eq. (3.9) and comment on the calculation of the transverse-traceless part of the radiation field  $\mathcal{R}_{ab}$ . For this calculation, the algebraic computing software *Maple* was used extensively for solving the differential equations and *Mathematica* for the tensor analysis.

#### A.1 General properties TT decomposition

As discussed in chapter 2 and 4, any spatial symmetric rank-2 tensor  $S_{ab}$  can be decomposed into its irreducible parts in the following form [53,97]:

$$S_{ab} = \frac{1}{3}q_{ab}S + \left(D_a D_b - \frac{1}{3}q_{ab}D^2\right)B + 2D_{(a}B_{b)}^T + S_{ab}^{TT}$$
(A.1)

where  $q_{ab}$  is the spatially flat metric and  $D_a$  is the covariant derivative compatible with  $q_{ab}$ .<sup>2</sup> S is the spatial trace of  $S_{ab}$  ( $S := q^{ab}S_{ab}$ ),  $B_a^T$  is a transverse vector so that  $D^a B_a^T = 0$ , and  $S_{ab}^{TT}$  is a transverse and traceless tensor.<sup>3</sup> In order to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>This appendix is an expanded version of appendix A in [39].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The transverse-traceless decomposition refers to the flat spatial metric and not to the spatial de Sitter metric. Since only the flat metric plays a role, this metric will be denoted by  $q_{ab}$  instead of  $\mathring{q}_{ab}$  in this appendix to avoid notational clutter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>York, [98], uses a similar decomposition using only the vector  $W_a$ , related to our components via  $W_a = B_a^T + \frac{1}{2}D_aB$ .

extract the radiative degrees of freedom of the gravitational field that are encoded in the transverse-traceless part of the spatial components, one often uses an algebraic projection operator in gravitational wave theory. However, as the above decomposition indicates, this generically will not extract the transverse-traceless part  $S_{ab}^{TT}$ . Instead one needs to solve a set of differential equations. The 'recipe' to obtain the TT part of a tensor  $S_{ab}$  is as follows:

1. First, by transvecting the above decomposition with two covariant derivatives, one obtains a Poisson equation for the Laplacian of one the longitudinal modes, i.e., for  $D^2B$ :

$$D^{2}(D^{2}B) = \frac{3}{2}D^{a}D^{b}S_{ab} - \frac{1}{2}D^{2}S$$
 (A.2)

Denote  $D^2B$  by A and solve for A.

- 2. Next, solve for the longitudinal mode B itself using  $D^2B = A$ .
- 3. Now, solve for the two independent transverse modes encoded in  $B_a^T$  satisfying

$$D^{2}B_{a}^{T} = D^{b}S_{ab} - \frac{1}{3}D_{a}S - \frac{2}{3}D^{2}D_{a}B, \qquad (A.3)$$

$$D^a B_a^T = 0, (A.4)$$

where the first equation was obtained by contracting eq. (A.1) with  $D^b$ .

4. Lastly, the transverse-traceless part of  $S_{ab}$  is simply obtained by subtracting the transverse and longitudinal modes from  $S_{ab}$  in the following way:  $S_{ab}^{TT} = S_{ab} - \frac{1}{3}q_{ab}S - \left(D_aD_b - \frac{1}{3}q_{ab}D^2\right)B - 2D_{(a}B_{b)}^T$ .

Note that the order of step 2 and 3 can be interchanged.

Before we use apply this algorithm, let us discuss some important properties of this decomposition that are used in the derivation of the expression for power on a de Sitter background in section 2.4.2 and in the explicit calculation of the transverse-traceless part of the radiation field of the binary system discussed in chapter 3. First, if a spatial transverse-traceless tensor  $S_{ab}^{TT}$  is contracted with a generic, symmetric spatial tensor  $X_{ab}$  and integrated over the proper volume element on a constant time slice, then only the transverse-traceless part of  $X_{ab}$  contributes to the integral. In other words,  $S_{ab}^{TT}$  extracts the transverse-traceless part of  $X_{ab}$  if integrated:

$$\int d^{3}V \ X^{ab} S^{TT}_{ab} = \int d^{3}V \ X^{ab}_{TT} S^{TT}_{ab}.$$
(A.5)

This equivalence is not true without the (proper) volume integral. The proof is rather straightforward:

$$\int d^{3}V \ X^{ab}S^{TT}_{ab} = \int d^{3}V \left[\frac{1}{3}q_{ab}X + \left(D_{a}D_{b} - \frac{1}{3}q_{ab}D^{2}\right)B_{X} + 2D_{(a}Y^{T}_{b)} + X^{TT}_{ab}\right]S^{ab}_{TT} = \int d^{3}V \left[D_{a}D_{b}B_{X} + 2D_{a}Y^{T}_{b} + S^{TT}_{ab}\right]S^{ab}_{TT} = \int d^{3}V \left[-D^{b}B_{X} \ D^{a}S^{TT}_{ab} - Y^{b}_{T}D^{a}S^{TT}_{ab} + X^{TT}_{ab}S^{ab}_{TT}\right] = \int d^{3}V \ X^{ab}_{TT}S^{TT}_{ab},$$

where notation is analogous to eq. (A.1) with X the spatial trace of  $X_{ab}$ ,  $B_X$  the other longitudinal mode and  $Y_a^T$  describing the transverse vector modes. In going from the first to the second line, the tracelessness of  $S_{ab}^{TT}$  automatically cancels two terms. In the next line, integration by parts is performed and the boundary terms are assumed to vanish (which is, for instance, the case if  $S_{ab}^{TT}$  has compact support). In the final line, we used that  $S_{ab}^{TT}$  is transverse.

Second, since the decomposition in eq. (A.1) is done on a spatial slice, it commutes with time derivatives so that  $(\partial_t S_{ab})^{TT} = \partial_t S_{ab}^{TT}$ , or equivalently  $(\partial_\eta S_{ab})^{TT} = \partial_\eta S_{ab}^{TT}$ . However, extracting the transverse-traceless part of a tensor generically does not commute with taking *spatial* derivatives. A notable exception to this is the derivative along the 'dilation' vector field,  $r\partial_r$ . The time translation vector field of de Sitter spacetime is composed of this dilation vector field and a time derivative (see chapter 1), consequently,  $(\mathcal{L}_T Q_{ab})^{TT} = \mathcal{L}_T Q_{ab}^{TT}$ . Using this property, one can easily obtain the transverse-traceless part of the radiation field  $\mathcal{R}_{ab}$  if one knows  $Q_{ab}^{TT}$  by simply calculating the appropriate Lie derivatives of  $Q_{ab}^{TT}$ . Given the importance of this property, let us elaborate upon its proof. We need to show that if  $S_{ab}^{TT}$  is transverse and traceless,  $\mathcal{L}_T S_{ab}^{TT}$  is also transverse and traceless. In other words,  $D^a \mathcal{L}_T S_{ab}^{TT}$  and  $q^{ab} \mathcal{L}_T S_{ab}^{TT}$  have to be zero. Rewriting both conditions, we obtain:

$$D^{a}\mathcal{L}_{T}S_{ab}^{TT} = D^{a}\left(T^{c}D_{c}S_{ab}^{TT} - 2HS_{ab}^{TT}\right) = D^{a}T^{c}D_{c}S_{ab}^{TT} + T^{c}D_{c}D_{a}S_{ab}^{TT} - 2HD^{a}S_{ab}^{TT}$$
$$q^{ab}\mathcal{L}_{T}S_{ab}^{TT} = \mathcal{L}_{T}\left(q^{ab}S_{ab}^{TT}\right) - S_{ab}^{TT}\mathcal{L}_{T}q^{ab}.$$

Using that  $D^a T^c = -Hq^{ac}$ , flat derivatives operators commute,  $\mathcal{L}_T q^{ab} = 2Hq^{ab}$ and the transverse-traceless property of  $S_{ab}^{TT}$ , it follows immediately that indeed  $D^a \mathcal{L}_T S_{ab}^{TT} = 0$  and  $q^{ab} \mathcal{L}_T S_{ab}^{TT} = 0$ .

Lastly, taking the limit to  $\mathcal{I}$  commutes with extracting the transverse-traceless part of any symmetric, spatial tensor. This is clear from the procedure to calculate the transverse-traceless part and we have also checked this explicitly for a simplified example.

### A.2 Transverse-traceless decomposition of the quadrupole moment

Now we apply the algorithm to calculate the transverse-traceless part of the quadrupole moment in eq. (3.9) evaluated at retarded time on  $\mathcal{I}$ . Using that the order of taking the limit to  $\mathcal{I}$  and extracting the transverse-traceless part is not important, we first take the limit to  $\mathcal{I}$  of the quadrupole moment. This simplifies the process of calculating the transverse-traceless part. In each step, we only keep the particular solutions to the Poisson equations as we are only interested in the solution due to the source of the gravitational waves. In the first and second step, normal techniques for solving the Poisson equation can be used. Since the source is quadrupolar finding solutions is straightforward and the solutions are

$$A(r,\theta,\varphi) = -\frac{6\mu R_*^2 \Omega^2 \sin^2 \theta}{18H^2 + 8\Omega^2} \Big[ \cos\left(2\Omega t_{\rm ret} + 2\varphi\right) - \frac{3}{2} \frac{H}{\Omega} \sin\left(2\Omega t_{\rm ret} + 2\varphi\right) \Big] \quad (A.6)$$
  
$$B(r,\theta,\varphi) = \frac{12\mu R_*^2 \Omega^2 H^2 r^2 \sin^2 \theta}{900H^4 + 544H^2 \Omega^2 + 64\Omega^4} \Big[ \Big(1 - \frac{15}{4} \frac{H^2}{\Omega^2}\Big) \cos\left(2\Omega t_{\rm ret} + 2\varphi\right) - \frac{4H}{\Omega} \sin\left(2\Omega t_{\rm ret} + 2\varphi\right) \Big], \quad (A.7)$$

where  $t_{\text{ret}}$  on  $\mathcal{I}$  is  $t_{\text{ret}} = -H^{-1} \ln Hr$ . Thus, these solutions do not dependent on time (as should be the case given that  $Q_{ab}$  is evaluated on  $\mathcal{I}$ ) and additional  $\ln Hr$ dependence hides in  $t_{\text{ret}}$ . In spherical coordinates the radial component of the vector-Poisson equation in eq. (A.3) is simplified by using the transverse condition to substitute out all but the radial components of the vector-Laplacian operator, giving an almost-standard scalar Helmholtz equation:

$$\left[D^{2} + \frac{2}{r}\partial_{r} + \frac{2}{r^{2}}\right]B_{r}^{T} = q^{ab}D_{a}Q_{br} - \frac{1}{3}\partial_{r}(q^{ab}Q_{ab}) - \frac{2}{3}\partial_{r}D^{2}B$$

where the explicit expression for the source term on the right hand side is  $\frac{2}{r}A$ . Here the index r refers to the orthonormal component of  $B_a^T$  in the direction of r. (Similary, we shall use  $\theta$  and  $\varphi$  indices on B to denote the orthonormal components proportional to  $\nabla_a \theta$  and  $\nabla_a \varphi$ , respectively.) Solving this equation for  $B_r^T$  yields the following solution:

$$B_r^T(r,\theta,\varphi) = \frac{2}{r}B(r,\theta,\varphi)$$
(A.8)

The  $\theta$ -component of the vector-Poisson equation is the most challenging, since the source term for the component that appears on the right hand side of eq. (A.3) is not purely quadrupolar:

$$\left[D^2 + \frac{2\cot\theta}{r^2}\partial_\theta + \frac{\cot^2\theta - 1}{r^2}\right]B^T_\theta = q^{ab}D_aQ_{b\theta} - \frac{1}{3r}\partial_\theta(q^{ab}Q_{ab}) - \frac{2}{3r}\partial_\theta D^2B \quad (A.9)$$

as is clear from the  $\theta$  dependence in the explicit expression for the right hand side:

$$RHS = \frac{\mu R_*^2 \Omega \sin(2\theta)}{2Hr} \left[ \sin\left(2\Omega t_{ret} + 2\varphi\right) + \frac{H}{\Omega} \cos\left(2\Omega t_{ret} + 2\varphi\right) \right].$$
(A.10)

Fortunately, the angular dependence of the solution follows from the source term and using an ansatz of the form

$$B_{\theta}^{T} = \mu R_{*}^{2} \sin 2\theta \left[ f_{1}(r) \sin \left( 2\Omega t_{\text{ret}} + 2\varphi \right) + f_{2}(r) \cos \left( 2\Omega t_{\text{ret}} + 2\varphi \right) \right]$$
(A.11)

allows one to solve for the two functions of the radial coordinate,  $f_1(r)$  and  $f_2(r)$ .<sup>4</sup> This gives the following solution:

$$B_{\theta}^{T} = -\frac{\mu R_{*}^{2} \Omega H r \sin(2\theta)}{50H^{2} + 8\Omega^{2}} \left[ \sin\left(2\Omega t_{\text{ret}} + 2\varphi\right) + \frac{5}{2} \frac{H}{\Omega} \cos\left(2\Omega t_{\text{ret}} + 2\varphi\right) \right]$$
(A.12)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>In this case the functional form of  $f_1(r)$  and  $f_2(r)$  is rather simple, but this method generalizes nicely for similar, yet more complicated scenarios.

Once these two components of  $B_a^T$  are known, the transverse condition, eq. (A.4), can be integrated to find the third component,  $B_{\varphi}^T$ :

$$B_{\varphi}^{T} = -\frac{H\mu R_{*}^{2}\Omega r}{25H^{2} + 4\Omega^{2}} \left[ \cos\left(2\Omega t_{\rm ret} + 2\varphi\right) - \frac{5}{2}\frac{H}{\Omega}\sin\left(2\Omega t_{\rm ret} + 2\varphi\right) \right].$$

Using these results, we obtain the following transverse-traceless components of the quadrupole moment  $Q_{ab}$  evaluated at retarded time on de Sitter  $\mathcal{I}^+$  (again, written in an orthonormal frame):

$$Q_{rr}^{TT} = -\frac{3\mu R_*^2 H^2 \sin^2 \theta}{(9H^2 + 4\Omega^2) (25H^2 + 4\Omega^2)} \Big[ (15H^2 - 4\Omega^2) \cos (2\Omega t_{\text{ret}} + 2\varphi) + 16H\Omega \sin (2\Omega t_{\text{ret}} + 2\varphi) + (9H^2 + 4\Omega^2) (25H^2 + 4\Omega^2) + \cos(2\theta) (675H^4 + 408H^2\Omega^2 + 48\Omega^4) \Big]$$
(A.13)

$$Q_{r\theta}^{TT} = \frac{\mu R_*^2 \sin(2\theta)}{4 (25H^2 + 4\Omega^2)} \bigg[ -4H\Omega \sin(2\Omega t_{\text{ret}} + 2\varphi) - 10H^2 \cos(2\Omega t_{\text{ret}} + 2\varphi) + 25H^2 + 4\Omega^2 \bigg]$$
(A.14)

$$Q_{r\varphi}^{TT} \doteq \frac{\mu R_*^2 H \sin \theta}{25H^2 + 4\Omega^2} \left[ 5H \sin \left( 2\Omega t_{\text{ret}} + 2\varphi \right) - 2\Omega \cos \left( 2\Omega t_{\text{ret}} + 2\varphi \right) \right]$$
(A.15)

$$Q_{\theta\theta}^{TT} \doteq \frac{\mu R_*^2}{12 \left(9H^2 + 4\Omega^2\right) \left(25H^2 + 4\Omega^2\right)} \left[ -16\Omega^4 - 136H^2\Omega^2 - 225H^4 + \cos(2\theta) \left(675H^4 + 408H^2\Omega^2 + 48\Omega^4\right) - 6 \left(45H^4 + 87H^2\Omega^2 + \cos(2\theta) \left(45H^4 + 21H^2\Omega^2 + 4\Omega^4\right) + 12\Omega^4\right) \cos(2\Omega t_{\rm ret} + 2\varphi) + 6H\Omega \left(\cos(2\theta) \left(4\Omega^2 - 3H^2\right) + 87H^2 + 12\Omega^2\right) \sin(2\Omega t_{\rm ret} + 2\varphi) \right]$$
(A.16)  
$$u R^2 \cos(\theta) = \left[ -16\Omega^4 - 136H^2\Omega^2 - 225H^4 + \cos(2\theta) \left(4\Omega^2 - 3H^2\right) + 87H^2 + 12\Omega^2 \right] = 0$$

$$Q_{\theta\varphi}^{TT} = \frac{\mu R_*^2 \cos(\theta)}{225H^4 + 136H^2\Omega^2 + 16\Omega^4} \Big[ \left( 42H^3\Omega + 8H\Omega^3 \right) \cos\left( 2\Omega t_{\text{ret}} + 2\varphi \right) \\ + \left( 45H^4 + 54H^2\Omega^2 + 8\Omega^4 \right) \sin\left( 2\Omega t_{\text{ret}} + 2\varphi \right) \Big]$$
(A.17)

$$\begin{aligned} Q_{\varphi\varphi}^{TT} &\doteq \frac{\mu R_*^2}{12 \left(9H^2 + 4\Omega^2\right) \left(25H^2 + 4\Omega^2\right)} \Bigg[ 450H^4 + 272H^2\Omega^2 + 32\Omega^4 \\ &- 6H\Omega \left(\cos(2\theta) \left(45H^2 + 4\Omega^2\right) + 39H^2 + 12\Omega^2\right) \sin\left(2\Omega t_{\rm ret} + 2\varphi\right) \Bigg) \end{aligned}$$

$$6 \left(90H^{4} + \Omega^{2}\cos(2\theta) \left(33H^{2} + 4\Omega^{2}\right) + 75H^{2}\Omega^{2} + 12\Omega^{4} \cos(2\Omega t_{\rm ret} + 2\varphi)\right]$$
(A.18)

Let us comment on a few properties of the above expressions. First, recall that the quadrupole moment is evaluated on  $\mathcal{I}^+$  and that  $t_{\text{ret}} = -\frac{1}{H} \ln(Hr)$ . Second, although in chapter 3, we are interested in the high-frequency limit of  $Q_{ab}^{TT}$ , the above expressions are true to all order in  $\frac{H}{\Omega}$  (assuming  $\frac{dR_*}{dt} = 0$ , not just  $\frac{dR_*}{dt} = \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\Lambda}t_c)$ ). The differential equations mix powers of  $\frac{H}{\Omega}$ . This mixing is responsible for the complicated form of  $Q_{ab}^{TT}$  as compared to  $Q_{ab}$  itself. To obtain the high-frequency limit, we truncate the result in the end. As shown in eq. (3.14), taking the highfrequency limit of  $Q_{ab}^{TT}$  does not reduce  $Q_{ab}^{TT}$  to  $Q_{ab}^{tt}$ .

### Appendix B Point charges and dipoles

In chapter 4, the asymptotic behavior of the vector potential  $A_a$  in Maxwell theory was investigated. We showed that for retarded solutions to Maxwell's equations in the Coulomb gauge with sources confined to a spatially compact world tube, the Cartesian components of  $A_a$  fall-off as  $\mathcal{O}(r^{-1})$  in the limit to  $\mathcal{I}^+$ . This fall-off behavior in the Coulomb gauge was used as motivation to restrict ourselves to gauges for which the vector potential has this fall-off behavior. Here, we show the leading order behavior of the vector potential in the Coulomb gauge for several physical examples including a static charge and oscillating dipole. We discuss the oscillating dipole also in the Lorenz gauge. It also exhibits the desired fall-off behavior in that gauge, thereby illustrating that the asymptotic conditions satisfied by the vector potential in the Coulomb gauge also accommodates other often chosen gauges.

The simplest example in the Coulomb gauge is provided by a point charge  $\mathfrak{q}$  moving along the origin of the rest-frame in which the Coulomb gauge is imposed. In other words, consider a source described by  $j_a = -\mathfrak{q}\,\delta^{(3)}(\vec{r})\,\nabla_a t$ . Then the only non-zero component of the retarded solution for the vector potential  $A_a$  is  $\underline{\phi}^0 = \mathfrak{q}$ . A slightly more interesting case is obtained by boosting this charge with respect to the rest-frame in which the Coulomb gauge is imposed [85]. For instance, boosting  $\mathfrak{q}$  in the x-direction with velocity v is described by a source with charge density  $\rho = \mathfrak{q}\,\delta^{(3)}(\vec{r} - vt\,\hat{x})$  with  $\hat{x}$  the unit vector in the x-direction. This yields the following leading order behavior for the parts of  $A_a$  containing 'Coulombic information':

$$\underline{\phi}^0 = \frac{\mathbf{q}}{\sqrt{1 - 2v\sin\theta\cos\phi + v^2}}$$

$$\underline{A}_{1}^{0} = -\mathfrak{q} + \frac{\mathfrak{q}}{\sqrt{1 - 2v\sin\theta\cos\phi + v^{2}}}$$

The radiative modes vanish, that is,  $\underline{A}_2^0 = \underline{\bar{A}}_2^0 = 0$ , as this source does not radiate. Instead of boosting the charge, one can oscillate the charge around the origin along the *x*-axis of the reference frame in which the Coulomb gauge is imposed [85]. When the charge is oscillates harmonically with amplitude *a* and angular frequency  $\omega$ , the charge density is given by  $\rho = \mathbf{q} \, \delta^{(3)}(\vec{r} - a \, \sin(\omega t) \hat{x})$ . The only non-vanishing leading order potential in this case is  $\underline{\phi}^0 = \mathbf{q}$ .

Dipole sources are also physically interesting sources and we will show for a particular example that they exhibit the desired fall-off behavior in both the Coulomb and Lorenz gauge. Take, for example, an oscillating dipole situated at the origin with strength  $\mathbf{p}$  and angular frequency  $\omega$  so that the source is  $j_a = \frac{\mathbf{p}}{4\pi} \left( \cos \omega t \, \delta(x) \delta(y) \delta'(z) \nabla_a t - \omega \sin \omega t \, \delta^{(3)}(\vec{x}) \nabla_a z \right)$ . If the Coulomb gauge is implemented on any of the constant *t*-slices, the scalar potential  $\phi$  is obtained by solving the Poisson equation with the charge density  $\rho$  as a source:

$$\vec{\nabla}^2 \underline{\phi} = -4\pi\rho = -\mathfrak{p}\,\cos(\omega t)\delta(x)\delta(y)\delta'(z).\tag{B.1}$$

The Green's function for the Laplace equation satisfies

$$\vec{\nabla}^2 G^3(\vec{x}, \vec{x}') = \delta^{(3)}(\vec{x}, \vec{x}')$$

and is given by

$$G^{3}(\vec{x}, \vec{x}') = -\frac{1}{4\pi |\vec{x} - \vec{x}'|}$$

Therefore,  $\underline{\phi}$  in the Coulomb gauge is

$$\underline{\phi} = \int d^3 \vec{x}' \frac{\mathfrak{p} \, \cos \omega t}{4\pi} \frac{\delta(x')\delta(y')\delta'(z')}{|\vec{x} - \vec{x}'|} \tag{B.2}$$

$$= -\frac{\mathfrak{p}\,\cos\omega t}{4\pi} \int dz' \,\frac{\partial}{\partial z'} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{x^2 + y^2 + (z - z')^2}}\right) \delta(z') \tag{B.3}$$

$$= -\frac{\mathfrak{p}\,\cos\omega t}{4\pi}\frac{\cos\theta}{r^2}.\tag{B.4}$$

The solution for the 3-vector potential in the Coulomb gauge to leading order is [99]

$$\underline{\vec{A}}_{a} = \frac{\mathfrak{p}\,\omega}{4\pi r} \left(-\sin\omega t\,\cos\omega r + \cos\omega t\,\sin\omega r\right) \left[\nabla_{a}z - \hat{r}^{b}\nabla_{b}z\,\nabla_{a}r\right] + \mathcal{O}(r^{-2}) \quad (B.5)$$

$$= \frac{\mathfrak{p}\,\omega}{4\sqrt{2}\pi r}\sin\omega(t-r)\,\sin\theta\left[m_{a} + \bar{m}_{a}\right] + \mathcal{O}(r^{-2}). \quad (B.6)$$

Hence, the leading order potentials are given by

$$\underline{\phi}^{0} = 0 \qquad \underline{A}_{1}^{0} = 0$$
$$\underline{A}_{2}^{0} = \underline{\bar{A}}_{2}^{0} = \frac{\mathfrak{p}\,\omega}{4\sqrt{2}\pi}\sin\theta\,\sin\omega u\,.$$

Now let us compare the potentials of this physical system in the Coulomb gauge with those in the Lorenz gauge. In this case, the scalar vector potential satisfies the inhomogeneous wave equation:

$$\Box \phi = \left(-\partial_t^2 + \vec{\nabla}^2\right) \phi = -4\pi\rho = \mathfrak{p} \cos(\omega t)\delta(x)\delta(y)\delta'(z).$$

Since the Green's function in Minkowski spacetime satisfies

$$\left(-\partial_t^2 + \vec{\nabla}^2\right) G(x, x') = \delta^{(4)}(x, x')$$

and has the following retarded solution

$$G_{\rm ret}(x,x') = -\frac{\delta(t-t'-|\vec{x}-\vec{x}'|)}{4\pi|\vec{x}-\vec{x}'|},\tag{B.7}$$

the scalar potential  $\phi$  in the Lorenz gauge is

$$\phi(t,\vec{x}) = -\mathfrak{p} \int dt' \int d^3 \vec{x}' \, \frac{\delta(t-t'-|\vec{x}-\vec{x}'|)}{4\pi |\vec{x}-\vec{x}'|} \cos(\omega t') \delta(x') \delta(y') \delta'(z') \tag{B.8}$$

$$= -\frac{\mathfrak{p}\,\omega\,\cos\theta\,\sin(\omega u)}{4\pi r} + \frac{\cos\theta\,\mathfrak{p}\,\cos(\omega u)}{4\pi r^2}\,.\tag{B.9}$$

The retarded solution for the spatial part of the vector potential is [99]

$$\vec{\mathcal{A}}_{a} = -\frac{\mathfrak{p}\,\omega}{4\pi r}\sin(\omega(t-r))\,\nabla_{a}z\tag{B.10}$$

$$= -\frac{\mathfrak{p}\,\omega}{4\pi}\sin(\omega u)\,\left(\cos\theta\nabla_a r - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\sin\theta\,m_a - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\sin\theta\,\bar{m}_a\right).\tag{B.11}$$

Thus, in the Lorenz gauge the leading order potentials are

$$\begin{split} \phi_{-}^{0} &= -\frac{\mathfrak{p}\,\omega\cos\theta\,\sin\omega u}{4\pi} \\ \mathcal{A}_{1}^{0} &= -\frac{\mathfrak{p}\,\omega\cos\theta\,\sin\omega u}{4\pi} \\ \mathcal{A}_{2}^{0} &= \bar{A}_{2}^{0} = \frac{\mathfrak{p}\,\omega}{4\sqrt{2}\pi}\sin\theta\,\sin\omega u \end{split}$$

The examples in this appendix nicely illustrate three general properties discussed in chapter 4. First, the 4-vector potential does not always have a well-defined limit to  $\mathcal{I}$ . Specifically, whenever  $A_1^0 \neq 0$ ,  $A_a$  does not have a limit. Second, Peeling (which follows from Maxwell's equations) implies that  $\phi^0 - A_1^0 = \text{const.}$  This is true for all of the above examples while there are several cases in which neither  $\phi^0$ nor  $A_1^0$  is independently constant. Third, the radiative modes in the Coulomb and Lorenz gauge, respectively, encoded in  $\underline{A}_2^0$  and  $\underline{A}_2^0$ , differ only by a function on the two-sphere  $f(\theta, \varphi)$ . For the oscillating dipole, this function is trivial:  $f(\theta, \varphi) = 0$ .

## Appendix C Various investigations in early Universe cosmology

Inflation is the leading paradigm of the early Universe, according to which the tiny temperature fluctuations observed in the cosmic microwave background (CMB) originate from quantum vacuum fluctuations at very early times [100–106]. Specifically, starting with generic initial conditions, inflation produces a nearly scale-invariant primordial spectrum for scalar and tensor fluctuations at the end of inflation. Evolving these primordial power spectra with Boltzmann equations in conjunction with Einstein's equations to the time of last scattering reproduces the temperature power spectrum observed in the CMB remarkably well. However, several unexpected features have been observed at large angular scales by both WMAP and *Planck*. For instance, an amplitude deficit for the temperature anisotropies in the spherical harmonics decomposition has been observed for  $\ell \lesssim 30$  as well as a hemispherical power asymmetry [107]. Although each of these anomalies by itself has low statistical significance (less than  $3\sigma$ ), taken together these anomalies imply a violation of statistical isotropy and scale invariance of the inflationary perturbations. There are several possible explanations for these anomalies: (i) They may be due to foreground residuals and/or systematic effects, (ii) They are merely are a statistical fluctuation, or (iii) They are a result of primordial physics yet to be understood. Hence, understanding their origin is fundamental to either validate the standard model of cosmology or to explore new physics.

During my PhD, I have studied two different extensions to the standard vanilla slow-roll single field model of inflation that may (partially) explain at least one of the observed anomalies, that is, the power suppression anomaly. In particular, in collaboration with Dr. Brajesh Gupt and Dr. Nelson Yokomizo, we have studied

the effect of positive spatial curvature on the primordial scalar and tensor power spectra and its effects on the temperature anisotropy spectrum  $C_{\ell\ell}^{TT}$  and the B-mode polarization spectrum [108, 109]. Spatial curvature introduces a length scale that breaks scale invariance in a natural way. Previously, the effect of positive spatial curvature during inflation had only been studied at the level of the background evolution and in a simplified setting for the primordial fluctuations in which the inflationary background was replaced with an exact de Sitter background [110–112]. We carried out the first systematic study of the effect of spatial curvature on the temperature anisotropies observed in the CMB by performing a detailed analysis of the inflationary evolution of gauge-invariant perturbations in a closed FLRW Universe. The results are summarized in section C.1 and show that spatial curvature might partially explain the observed power suppression. Together with Dr. Gupt, we also studied an extension of the standard inflationary paradigm to the preinflationary era in the context of loop quantum cosmology [113, 114]. Earlier work had used the framework of quantum fields on quantum spacetimes to extend the inflationary phase all the way to the Planck scale and study the observational imprints of the quantum gravity dominated regime on the inflationary perturbations [115]. Interestingly, the ultraviolet modifications of the background dynamics that resolve the big bang singularity influence the infrared modes of the perturbations: The infrared modes are not in a Bunch-Davies vacuum at the onset of inflation. As a result, the primordial power spectrum deviates from the nearly scale-invariant power spectrum predicted by inflation. Depending on the initial state chosen in the deep quantum gravity regime, the resulting primordial power spectrum shows either enhancement or suppression on large scales that subsequently leads to power enhancement or suppression on large angular scales in the temperature anisotropies observed in the CMB. Thus, this opens up the possibility that quantum gravity effects may account for the power suppression anomaly. These results, however, were only obtained for single field inflation with a quadratic potential. We showed that the type of observable modifications due to the pre-inflationary phase are similar for the Starobinsky potential and argued that in general these modifications are robust under the change of the inflationary potential. This work is summarized in section C.2.

Both scenarios discussed above only leave observable imprints on the CMB if the number of *e*-folds is not much larger than  $\sim 70$ , the minimum number

of e-folds required for inflation to successfully explain the nearly scale invariant primordial spectra. When the number of e-folds is larger than this minimum, our observable Universe is only part of the entire Universe and new effects need to be accounted for. This is the third project I worked on that I will describe in this appendix. This is joint work with Dr. Suddhasattwa Brahma, Anne-Sylvie Deutsch and Prof. Sarah Shandera. Specifically, if there is coupling between modes of different wavelengths, the local statistics in our observable Universe is generically different from the global statistics. Depending on the realization of the long wavelength modes in the observable patch and the type of mode-mode coupling, the amplitude of the locally observed power spectrum can be shifted and an additional scale dependence can be introduced thereby modifying the spectral index [116]. Thus, even if one in principle would be able to observe all n-point correlation functions, one would only be able to uniquely construct a Langrangian for the fluctuations in our observable Universe but *not* for the global Universe. Nonetheless, we showed that the mass of one of the inflationary fields in quasi-single field inflation can be reliably determined from measurements of the scaling of the bispectrum despite mode-mode coupling due to non-derivative self-interactions [117]. In addition, we showed that while the spectral index  $n_s$  in the locally observed volume is generically shifted away from the global mean, this shift is small. This is in contrast to the tensor-to-scalar ratio r that can be significantly different in the locally observed volume as compared to the global volume. Our results are discussed in section C.3.

#### C.1 Spatially closed Universe

One of the compelling features of the inflationary scenario is that it leads to an almost flat, homogeneous and isotropic Universe today starting from generic initial conditions. In particular, inflation 'dilutes' away any effects of spatial curvature and the spacetime is extremely well approximated by a spatially flat FLRW model at the end of inflation. In other words, even though spatial curvature effects are subdominant today, they could have been important in the early phases of inflation. Modes of metric perturbations exiting the Hubble horizon at these early times during which spatial curvature could be non-negligible can carry imprints of this in their primordial power spectra. Specifcally, spatial curvature can affect observations in two ways: (i) by affecting the background spacetime evolution in the post-inflationary era [118]; (ii) by introducing corrections to the primordial power spectrum at the end of inflation [110, 111, 119–122].

Recent cosmological observations determine the density parameter due to the spatial curvature to be  $\Omega_{\rm k}=-0.005^{+0.016}_{-0.017}$  from *Planck* data alone and  $\Omega_{\rm k}=$  $0.000^{+0.005}_{-0.005}$  by combining *Planck* measurements with BAO data [123]. While these values for  $\Omega_k$  are compatible with a flat FLRW model, they allow the possibility that our Universe is spatially closed with spatial topology of a 3-sphere. For  $\Omega_{\rm k} = -0.005$ (which is the value we shall work with throughout), the physical radius of this 3-sphere today is approximately 64 Gpc, which is  $\sim 4.5$  times the physical radius of the CMB sphere. This indicates that the effects of spatial curvature, if present, would be most prominent for length scales similar to or larger than that of the CMB sphere. A detailed analysis shows that this is indeed the case. The evolution of the background geometry and gauge-invariant scalar and tensor perturbations in a spatially closed FLRW universe where inflation is driven by a single scalar field in the presence of an inflationary potential (taken to be either quadratic or Starobinsky potential) show that effects of the non-zero spatial curvature become important at the early phases of inflation ( $\sim 60$  *e*-folds before the end of inflation). The resulting *scalar* power spectrum is different from the almost scale invariant power spectrum obtained in a spatially flat inflationary FLRW spacetime for long wavelength modes. The ratio of the scalar power spectrum in the spatially closed and spatialy flat model is shown in the left panel of figure C.1. The power spectrum in the closed model shows oscillatory behavior that is most prominent for the long wavelength modes. In addition, when these oscillations are averaged out, there is suppression of power at such scales as compared to the flat model. For  $\Omega_k = -0.005$ , the power deficit in the primordial power spectrum leads to suppression of power in the temperature anisotropy spectrum  $C_{\ell}^{\text{TT}}$  at  $\ell < 20$  [108]. For small wavelength modes, the power spectrum approaches the nearly scale invariant power spectrum and the resulting  $C_{\ell}^{\text{TT}}$  agrees extremely well with that in the flat model for  $\ell \gtrsim 20$ . Similarly to the scalar perturbations, the tensor power spectrum also shows power suppression for long wavelength modes (see right panel of figure C.1). However, we find that the relative suppression for tensor modes is smaller than that for the scalar modes. The suppression in the tensor power spectrum is weak and limited to very long wavelength modes, which correspond to super-horizon modes. Consequently,



Figure C.1. Left panel: Ratio of the scalar power spectrum in the closed FLRW model with  $\Omega_{\rm k} = -0.005$  to that in the flat model as a function of the spherical wavenumber n. Right panel: Ratio of the tensor power spectrum in the closed FLRW model with  $\Omega_{\rm k} = -0.005$  to that in the flat model. Both spectra show suppression of power at small n. However, the scalar modes are significantly more suppressed in the closed Universe as compared to the tensor modes. The two curves in each figure correspond to two different initial conditions for the background geometry: 'cond<sub>1</sub>' corresponds to initial conditions matching the best fit values for the amplitude of the scalar power spectrum  $A_{\rm s}$  and its running  $n_{\rm s}$  as measured by Planck and 'cond<sub>2</sub>' is chosen to generate maximal suppression while still being consistent with the measured allowed range in  $A_{\rm s}$  and  $n_{\rm s}$ . In both figures the spectra are discrete in n (for the clarity of presentation discrete points are shown only for n < 20).

the resulting observable polarization anisotropy spectrum  $C_{\ell}^{BB}$  in closed FLRW model differs less than a percent from the flat FLRW model.

Since the tensor and scalar spectra are modified differently by the spatial curvature, the tensor-to-scalar ratio at the long wavelength modes acquires scale dependent corrections which further leads to the violation of the standard slow-roll consistency relation obtained for the flat FLRW model. This is shown in figure C.2. Hence, although the modifications in the tensor spectrum due to positive spatial curvature do not have a direct observable imprint in the B-mode polarization signal, they lead to violation of the standard slow-roll consistency relation for long wavelength modes. This deviation from the standard relation, if observed, can be used to further refine the constraints on spatial curvature of the Universe.

In our work, we focused on the analysis of *geometric* effects due to the presence of spatial curvature, but our framework can also be applied to study observational signatures of spatial topology in locally spherical universes. We restricted ourselves to spacetimes with spatial sections isometric to the three-sphere, the simplest global geometry compatible with a constant positive spatial curvature, but solutions for the equations of motion for perturbations on nontrivial topologies with positive



Figure C.2. The deviation from the consistency relation  $(r + 8n_t = 0)$  for  $\Omega_k = -0.005$ plotted with respect to the spherical wavenumber n. It is evident that for small ndeviation from  $r + 8n_t = 0$  is more prominent. These deviations approach zero as nincreases. Similar to figure C.1, cond<sub>1</sub> and cond<sub>2</sub> correspond to two different choices for the background initial conditions.

curvature can always be written as linear superpositions of normal modes on the three-sphere. Consequently, the evolution of the inflationary perturbations and the primordial power spectrum for arbitrary topologies with positive curvature can be determined from our results for the dynamics of the perturbations on the three-sphere.

# C.2 Robustness of predictions of a quantum gravity extension to inflation

The inflationary scenario is highly successful in explaining, with minimal assumptions, the primordial origin of structure formation and small inhomogeneities observed in the cosmic microwave background (CMB). However, the standard inflationary models are based on general relativity and therefore inherit the big bang singularity and cannot be extended too far into the past. Using techniques from loop quantum gravity, it was shown that there is a self-consistent pre-inflationary extension all the way to the Planck scale [115, 124, 125]. This extension has a finite quantum gravity regime and confronts the problem of a past singularity. At the background level, the underlying quantum geometric effects of loop quantum cosmology (LQC) modify the Planck scale physics leading to the resolution of classical singularities in a variety of homogeneous and inhomogeneous cosmological settings [126, 127] (see, e.g., [128] for a review). In all these models, the big bang is replaced by a quantum bounce, evolution is deterministic and all curvature scalars remain finite throughout the evolution.<sup>1</sup> Perturbations propagating on these quantum cosmological spacetimes can inherit potentially observable imprints of the quantum gravity regime. This had been studied in great detail for single field inflation with a quadratic potential [124,125,134]. Although the quadratic potential is attractive due to its simplicity, recent data from Planck show that, for single field inflation, the Starobinsky potential is favored [135]. We studied the predictions of the pre-inflationary dynamics of single field inflation with a Starobinsky potential and the robustness of the observational predictions of LQC under a change of inflationary potential.

To understand the evolution of quantum perturbations, we used the formalism of quantum fields on a *quantum* cosmological spacetime. Within the test field approximation (that is, the backreaction of the perturbations on the background quantum geometry is negligible), the dynamics of the perturbations on the quantum FLRW geometry is remarkably simple: It is completely equivalent to that of perturbations evolving on a 'dressed' FLRW metric, where 'dressing' refers to quantum corrections [124, 134]. Interestingly, for sharply peaked states, the dressed metric is extremely well described by the effective description of LQC, given by the following modified Friedmann and Raychaudhuri equations [136–138]:

$$H^2 := \left(\frac{\dot{a}}{a}\right)^2 = \frac{8\pi G}{3}\rho\left(1 - \frac{\rho}{\rho_{\max}}\right), \qquad (C.1)$$

$$\dot{H} = -4\pi G \left(\rho + P\right) \left(1 - 2\frac{\rho}{\rho_{\text{max}}}\right), \qquad (C.2)$$

where *H* is the Hubble rate, *a* is the scale factor,  $\rho_{\text{max}} = 18\pi/\Delta_o^3 \rho_{\text{Pl}} \approx 0.41 \rho_{\text{Pl}}$  is the universal maximum of the energy density and  $\Delta_o \approx 5.17$  is the minimum eigenvalue of the area operator, whose value is fixed via black hole entropy calculations in loop quantum gravity [139, 140]. Note that the LQC modifications are dominant only in the quantum gravity regime, where the energy density of the matter field is Planckian. When the spacetime curvature is sub-Planckian ( $\rho \ll \rho_{\text{max}}$ ), equations (C.1) and (C.2) reduce to the classical Friedmann and Raychaudhuri equations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>For other approaches to bouncing models see, e.g. [129-132]. Also see [133] (and references therein) for a recent review.

The evolution of the Fourier transform of the gauge invariant Mukhanov-Sasaki scalar mode  $q_k$  and two tensor modes  $e_k$  on the dressed quantum geometry is given by [124, 125]:

$$q_k''(\tilde{\eta}) + 2\frac{\tilde{a}'}{\tilde{a}}q_k'(\tilde{\eta}) + \left(k^2 + \tilde{\mathcal{U}}(\tilde{\eta})\right)q_k(\tilde{\eta}) = 0, \qquad (C.3)$$

$$e_k''(\tilde{\eta}) + 2\frac{\tilde{a}'}{\tilde{a}}e_k'(\tilde{\eta}) + k^2 e_k(\tilde{\eta}) = 0, \qquad (C.4)$$

where the prime denotes the derivative with respect to the dressed conformal time  $\tilde{\eta}$  and  $\tilde{\mathcal{U}}$  is the dressed effective scalar potential that is completely determined by background quantities [124, 125].

Given this set-up, a priori there is no reason to believe that the pre-inflationary dynamics of the Starobinsky potential and quadratic potential are similar because: (i) already their inflationary dynamics is quite different; and (ii) the evolution equation for the scalar perturbations depends explicitly on the potential. Despite these differences, we found that the observationally relevant initial conditions are all kinetic energy dominated in the quantum gravity regime and therefore the inflaton behaves essentially as a massless scalar field during this regime. In other words, the inflaton evolves as a free particle in the deep quantum gravity dominated regime. Thus, the details of the potential do not affect the quantum gravity dominated phase significantly. Consequently, the occurrence of desired inflationary phase and corrections to the primordial power spectrum are robust features of LQC.

In particular, we showed that for the Starobinsky potential there are natural initial conditions for both the background spacetime and perturbations that lead to the desired slow-roll phase compatible with observations. In fact, almost all initial conditions starting at the bounce lead to the desired slow-roll phase. The quantum gravity phase excites the modes of the perturbations and as a result they carry excitations over the Bunch-Davies state at the onset of inflation, giving corrections to the standard inflationary power spectrum. There exist initial conditions for which these LQC induced corrections to the standard inflationary predictions at large angular scales are observable while being in complete agreement with observations at small angular scales!

Furthermore, just as in the standard inflationary paradigm, evolution of the scalar and tensor modes is different due to the presence of the effective potential  $\tilde{\mathcal{U}}$  for the scalar evolution equation. Therefore, the particle density for scalar and



Figure C.3. Comparison of LQC corrections to tensor-to-scalar ratio between the Starobinsky and quadratic potential. Since the pre-inflationary dynamics extends to the deep Planck regime where the spacetime metric cannot be approximated by a de Sitter metric, it is not meaningful to require the modes to be in the Bunch-Davies vacuum at the bounce. Here, we choose the quantum perturbations to be in a 4th order adiabatic 'vacuum' that respects the symmetry of the background spacetime and whose expectation value of the renormalized energy density of the perturbations is negligible with respect to the background energy density at the bounce. In addition, we required the state to give maximum power suppression in the primordial power spectrum.

tensor modes should be different from each other for  $k^2 \leq \tilde{\mathcal{U}}$ . It turns out that the numerical value of  $\tilde{\mathcal{U}}$  is typically very small compared to even the smallest observable wavenumber  $k_{\min}$  and consequently negligible. However, a small subset of the initial data surface exists for which the effect of  $\mathcal{U}$  on the scalar modes is no longer negligible. The tensor and scalar particle densities are therefore different for these modes and  $r_{LQC} \neq r_{BD}$ , where r is the tensor-to-scalar ratio and the subscript 'BD' refers to the predictions from the standard inflationary paradigm. This is distinct from the quadratic potential, where this difference is negligible for all  $k \gtrsim 10^{-5} k_{\rm min}$ . This is shown in figure C.3, where  $r_{\rm LQC}/r_{\rm BD}$  is plotted for the Starobinsky and the quadratic potential. The quantum gravity induced deviations from  $r_{\rm BD}$  are not directly relevant for observational modes, but the altered behavior of these super horizon modes can change the observed three-point functions (and higher order correlation functions) through mode-mode coupling as well as play an important role for tensor fossils. This difference between the scalar and tensor modes as compared to the standard picture, could thus lead to signatures in the non-Gaussian modulation of the power spectrum due to super horizon modes [141,142]. It is noteworthy that the set of initial conditions for these

effects is very small. Nonetheless, it is interesting as these initial conditions fall nicely into the regime for which the LQC corrections to the power spectrum are in the observable window. Thus, if these LQC corrections are observed, there is also hope to observe this effect. Furthermore, these initial conditions fall on the exponential side of the potential and not on the plateau side. Therefore, they are very likely to be present for potentials which have exponential walls such as the Higgs potential. This potentially opens new avenues to explore the origin of CMB anomalies in quantum gravity.

### C.3 Cosmic variance in quasi-single field inflation

In the previous two sections, the focus was the primordial power spectra and the resulting power spectrum of the temperature anisotropies. However, the statistics of the (primordial) fluctuations beyond the power spectrum contain a wealth of information beyond what one could learn from the power spectrum alone and are collectively known as non-Gaussianities. For instance, these higher order correlations functions could inform us of the particles present during inflation and their interactions. Although the *Planck* satellite bounds on non-Gaussianity are excellent ( $\sigma(f_{\rm NL}) \sim \mathcal{O}(10)$  [143]), they do not yet cross even the highest theoretically interesting (and roughly shape-independent [144]) threshold to rule out  $f_{\rm NL} \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$ . Future data will help probe the remaining parameter space, and either stronger constraints or detection of non-Gaussianity would provide an important clue about physics at the inflationary scale.

When the primordial fluctuations are entirely or partly sourced by a light field other than the inflaton, the correlation functions can have the interesting property that locally measured statistics depend on the long wavelength modes. For example, this occurs in curvaton scenarios in which the "local" bispectrum correlates the amplitude of short wavelength fluctuations with the amplitudes of much longer wavelength modes [145–150].

More generally, in the presence of a local ansatz non-Gaussianity, the power spectrum measured in sub-volumes will vary depending on how much the background fluctuations deviate from the mean [151–154]. While the bispectrum (three-point function) can cause the power spectrum to vary in sub-volumes, the trispectrum (four-point correlation function) can also generate shifts to the bispectrum and the

power spectrum in biased sub-volumes (that is, sub-volumes whose long wavelength background is not the mean). More generally, long wavelength modes in the *n*-point correlation function can shift any lower order correlation function [151, 155]. Since nearly all sub-volumes will have a long wavelength background that is not zero, statistics measured in any small region are likely to be biased compared to the mean statistics of the larger volume. Schematically, the shift to the power spectrum of a non-Gaussian field  $\zeta$  in a sub-volume due to the long wavelength background can be written as:

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \zeta(\vec{k}_1)\zeta(\vec{k}_2) \rangle_{V_S} &= \langle \zeta^G(\vec{k}_1)\zeta^G(\vec{k}_2) \rangle_{V_S} + \langle \zeta^G(\vec{k}_1)\zeta^G(\vec{k}_2) \rangle_{V_S} \ \langle \zeta^G(\vec{k}_L) \rangle_{V_S} + \dots \\ &= \langle \zeta^G(\vec{k}_1)\zeta^G(\vec{k}_2) \rangle_{V_S} \rangle \left(1 + \zeta_L + \dots\right) \end{aligned}$$

where  $\zeta^G$  is a Gaussian field,  $V_S$  is the sub-volume, and the averages are performed with respect to the sub-volume. The wave number  $\vec{k}_1$  and  $\vec{k}_2$  correspond to wavelengths within the sub-volume. The Gaussian field averaged over the total volume  $V_L$  vanishes, i.e.  $\langle \zeta^G(\vec{k}_L) \rangle_{V_L} = 0$ , but its average over the sub-volume is non-zero and denoted by  $\langle \zeta^G(\vec{k}_L) \rangle_{V_S} := \zeta_L$ .<sup>2</sup> In the limit that the sub-volume covers the entire volume  $V_L$  the terms proportional to  $\zeta_L$  vanish.

This correlation between local statistics and the long wavelength background can be used to detect non-Gaussianity (e.g., through the non-Gaussian halo bias [156]) when applied to sub-volumes where at least some long wavelength modes are observable. But it may also be relevant to the conclusions we can draw about inflationary physics: our entire observable universe is possibly a sub-volume of a larger, unobservable space. This is a true for any scenario for which the number of *e*-folds during inflation is larger than the minimum number required. If the perturbations we observe turn out to have any form of long-short mode coupling, we must assume there is a 'super cosmic variance' uncertainty in comparing observations in our Hubble volume with the mean predictions of inflationary models with more than the minimum number of *e*-folds [116, 151–155, 157–159]. In that case, there is not necessarily a one-to-one map between properties of the correlation functions we measure and parameters in an inflationary Lagrangian. We studied an explicit model where some, but not all, of the parameters of the Lagrangian are obscured

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Note, the definition of  $\zeta_L$  here differs from the one used in [117] that is defined in momentumspace.

by this cosmic variance.

An interesting example that naturally interpolates between the single-clock inflationary models in which there is no significant coupling between modes of very different wavelengths [160–164] and curvaton inflationary models is quasi-single field inflation [165]. Quasi-single field inflation has an additional scalar field that is coupled to the inflaton during inflation. This additional field does not contribute to the background expansion and its self-interactions are not restricted by the approximate shift symmetry that the inflaton is subject to. Observational evidence for this 'hidden sector' field would be found in the non-Gaussianity it indirectly sources in the adiabatic mode. Previous studies have shown that when the hidden sector field has a cubic self-interaction, the degree of long-short coupling in the observed bispectrum is determined by the mass of the second field (with the strongest coupling coming from a massless field). The coupling between modes of very different wavelengths is captured by the squeezed limit of the bispectrum, where all momenta have wavelengths that are within the local sub-volume but with one momenta having a much longer wavelength than the others (e.g.,  $k_1 \ll k_2 \approx k_3$ ). Measuring the dependence on the long wavelength mode  $(k_1)$  in the squeezed limit of the bispectrum would reveal the mass of this spectator field [165–168]. We investigated how robust the quasi-single field bispectrum shape is to cosmic variance when higher order correlations are included in the model. We performed the calculations in two different ways. The conceptually straightforward, but calculationally more difficult method is to take soft limits of the full in-in calculations. Our newly developed techniques allowed a more straightforward calculation by performing a long-short wavelength split in the late-time correlation functions. Both methods are in perfect agreement with each other.

When the hidden sector field is sufficiently light, any additional correlations may bias the statistics observed in sub-volumes. Here, we considered correlations generated by additional (i.e., quartic and beyond) non-derivative self-interactions of the hidden sector fluctuations. Any degree of long-short mode coupling causes statistics in sub-volumes to differ from the global mean statistics by an amount that depends on the amplitude of fluctuations with wavelengths larger than sub-volume size. Specifically, by computing the power spectrum and bispectrum in sub-volumes with non-zero long wavelength background modes we showed that (similarly to the local model), *any* non-derivative self-interaction of the spectator field leads to the same pattern/shape of correlation functions in sufficiently biased sub-volumes. In particular, the spectral index observed in sub-volumes is generically shifted away from the mean, but the shift is small. The tensor-to-scalar ratio r can be significantly different in the locally observed volume as compared to the global volume. When the hidden sector field is light and the number of e-folds before the largest observable mode today excited the horizon is large, the effect is the largest. This can in fact change the value of r by two orders of magnitude! In addition, non-zero long wavelength fluctuations induce a tree-level bispectrum locally even if the mean theory does not contain one. Furthermore, the squeezed limit scaling of the bispectrum is the same in all sub-volumes, while the local amplitude of fluctuations and amplitude of non-Gaussianity are subject to cosmic variance. So, although the details of a light hidden sector field's potential can be obscured by cosmic variance, its mass can be robustly determined by any post-inflationary observer.

It is important to note that these long wavelength effects are distinct from those that *do* affect the mass of a light scalar in de Sitter space. For example, the loop diagrams for a light scalar with a quartic self-interaction have a naive infrared dependence that can be re-summed into a correction to the mass of the field [169–171]. The mass of the light scalar is corrected everywhere, not just in some sub-volumes, and it is the shifted mass that will be observed in the squeezed limit of the bispectrum. This type of mass correction is a dynamical effect of field theory in (quasi-)de Sitter space; the sub-sampling of non-Gaussian statistics in the post-inflationary world is not sensitive to the dynamics that generated the primordial fluctuations.

Our results are a concrete example of an initial conditions problem for inflation: when cosmological data is only good enough to measure some properties of some correlation functions (e.g., the bispectrum averaged over the full sky), that data only allows us to uniquely construct a Lagrangian for the fluctuations in our observed volume. The local Lagrangian is consistent with a larger set of possible "global" Lagrangians sourcing additional inflation and which may share some features (here the mass of the spectator field) but differ in others (here the spectator field's potential). Of course, in the absence of cosmic variance this is also true, but there is a straightforward order by order map between the dimension of terms in the fluctuation Lagrangian and the order of correlation function measured. Cosmic variance from long-short mode coupling breaks that mapping. Making additional measurements such as any position-dependence of the observed bispectrum or a detection of a trispectrum would remove some degeneracies, but not all. It would be interesting to extend our results to other multi-field scenarios to understand more generally which properties of the particle content and dynamics can be determined regardless of cosmic variance and which cannot.

### Bibliography

- [1] DE SITTER, W. (1932) Kosmos, A Course of Six Lectures on the Development of Our Insight Into the Structure of the Universe, Harvard University Press, Cambridge, USA.
- [2] ABBOTT, B. P. ET AL. (2016) "Observation of Gravitational Waves from a Binary Black Hole Merger," Phys. Rev. Lett., 116(6), p. 061102, 1602.03837.
- [3] —— (2016) "GW151226: Observation of Gravitational Waves from a 22-Solar-Mass Binary Black Hole Coalescence," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, **116**(24), p. 241103, **1606.04855**.
- [4] (2017) "GW170104: Observation of a 50-Solar-Mass Binary Black Hole Coalescence at Redshift 0.2," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, **118**, p. 221101.
   URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.118.221101
- [5] NARAYAN, R. and J. E. MCCLINTOCK (2013) "Observational Evidence for Black Holes," 1312.6698.
- [6] GEROSA, D. and E. BERTI (2017) "First or second generation? Black hole census with gravitational wave observations," 1703.06223.
- [7] FISHBACH, M., D. HOLZ, and B. FARR (2017) "Are LIGO's Black Holes Made From Smaller Black Holes?" 1703.06869.
- [8] LACKEY, B. D. and L. WADE (2015) "Reconstructing the neutron-star equation of state with gravitational-wave detectors from a realistic population of inspiralling binary neutron stars," *Phys. Rev.*, D91(4), p. 043002, 1410.8866.
- [9] READ, J. S., L. BAIOTTI, J. D. E. CREIGHTON, J. L. FRIEDMAN, B. GI-ACOMAZZO, K. KYUTOKU, C. MARKAKIS, L. REZZOLLA, M. SHIBATA, and K. TANIGUCHI (2013) "Matter effects on binary neutron star waveforms," *Phys. Rev.*, D88, p. 044042, 1306.4065.
- [10] LACKEY, B. D., K. KYUTOKU, M. SHIBATA, P. R. BRADY, and J. L. FRIEDMAN (2012) "Extracting equation of state parameters from black holeneutron star mergers. I. Nonspinning black holes," *Phys. Rev.*, D85, p. 044061, 1109.3402.

- [11] CLARK, J. A., A. BAUSWEIN, N. STERGIOULAS, and D. SHOEMAKER "Observing gravitational waves from the post-merger phase of binary neutron star coalescence," *Classical and Quantum Gravity*, **33**(8), p. 085003.
- [12] OZEL, F. and P. FREIRE (2016) "Masses, Radii, and Equation of State of Neutron Stars," Annual Review of Astronomy and Astrophysics, 54, 1603.02698.
- [13] EINSTEIN, A. "Die Feldgleichungen der Gravitation," Sitzungsberichte der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften.
- [14] (1916) "Näherungsweise Integration der Feldgleichungen der Gravitation," Sitzungsberichte der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften.
- [15] KENNEFICK, D. (2007) Traveling at the speed of thought: Einstein and the quest for gravitational waves.
- [16] (1971) The Einstein Born Letters, chap. 7, Macmillan Press.
- [17] BONDI, H. (1960) "Gravitational waves in general relativity." *Nature*, **186**.
- [18] BONDI, H., M. G. J. VAN DER BURG, and A. W. K. METZNER (1962) "Gravitational waves in general relativity. VII. Waves from axisymmetric isolated systems," *Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond.*, A269, pp. 21–52.
- [19] SACHS, R. (1961) "Gravitational Waves in General Relativity. VI. The Outgoing Radiation Condition," 264(1318), pp. 309–338.
- [20] SACHS, R. K. (1962) "Gravitational waves in general relativity. VIII. Waves in asymptotically flat space-times," Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond., A270, pp. 103–126.
- [21] SACHS, R. (1962) "Asymptotic Symmetries in Gravitational Theory," Phys. Rev., 128, pp. 2851–2864.
- [22] TAYLOR, J. H. and J. M. WEISBERG (1982) "A new test of general relativity: Gravitational radiation and the binary pulsar PS R 1913+16," Astrophys. J., 253, pp. 908–920.
- [23] DAMOUR, T. (2015) "1974: the discovery of the first binary pulsar," Class. Quant. Grav., 32(12), p. 124009, 1411.3930.
- [24] PERLMUTTER, S. ET AL. (1999) "Measurements of Omega and Lambda from 42 high redshift supernovae," Astrophys. J., 517, pp. 565–586, astro-ph/9812133.
- [25] RIESS, A. G. ET AL. (1998) "Observational evidence from supernovae for an accelerating universe and a cosmological constant," *Astron.J.*, **116**, pp. 1009–1038, astro-ph/9805201.

- [26] ADE, P. A. R. ET AL. (2014) "Planck 2013 results. XVI. Cosmological parameters," Astron. Astrophys., 571, p. A16, 1303.5076.
- [27] BONDI, H. (1964) "Radiation from an isolated system," in *Proceedings on theory of gravitation* (L. Infeld, ed.), Gauthier-Villars, Paris, PWN Editions Scientific de Pologne, Warszawa and Press.
- [28] ASHTEKAR, A. (1981) "Radiative Degrees of Freedom of the Gravitational Field in Exact General Relativity," J. Math. Phys., 22, pp. 2885–2895.
- [29] (2015) "Geometry and physics of null infinity," in One hundred years of general relativity (L. Bieri and S. T. Yau, eds.), International Press, Boston, pp. 99–122.
- [30] PENROSE, R. (2011) "On cosmological mass with positive Lambda," Gen. Rel. Grav., 43, pp. 3355–3366.
- [31] ASHTEKAR, A., B. BONGA, and A. KESAVAN (2015) "Asymptotics with a positive cosmological constant: I. Basic framework," *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 32(2), p. 025004, 1409.3816.
- [32] PENROSE, R. (1965) "Zero rest mass fields including gravitation: Asymptotic behavior," Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond., A284, p. 159.
- [33] PENROSE, R. and W. RINDLER (1988) Spinors and space-time. Vol 2: Spinor and twistor methods in space-time geometry, Cambridge University Press.
- [34] KRTOUS, P. and J. PODOLSKY (2004) "Asymptotic directional structure of radiative fields in spacetimes with a cosmological constant," *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 21, pp. R233–R273, gr-qc/0502095.
- [35] ASHTEKAR, A., B. BONGA, and A. KESAVAN (2015) "Asymptotics with a positive cosmological constant. II. Linear fields on de Sitter spacetime," *Phys. Rev.*, **D92**(4), p. 044011, 1506.06152.
- [36] (2015) "Asymptotics with a positive cosmological constant: III. The quadrupole formula," *Phys. Rev.*, **D92**(10), p. 104032, 1510.05593.
- [37] (2016) "Gravitational waves from isolated systems: Surprising consequences of a positive cosmological constant," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, **116**(5), p. 051101, **1510.04990**.
- [38] KESAVAN, A. (2016) Asymptotic structure of space-time with a positive cosmological constant, Ph.D. thesis, The Pennsylvania State University.
- [39] BONGA, B. and J. S. HAZBOUN "Power radiated by a binary system in a de Sitter Universe," In preparation.

- [40] ASHTEKAR, A. and B. BONGA "On the conceptual confusion in the notion of transverse-traceless modes," In preparation.
- [41] ASHTEKAR, A., G. T. HOROWITZ, and A. MAGNON-ASHTEKAR (1982) "A generalization of tensor calculus and its applications to physics," *Gen. Rel. Grav.*, 14, pp. 411–428.
- [42] HE, X. and Z. CAO (2015) "New Bondi-type outgoing boundary condition for the Einstein equations with cosmological constant," Int. J. Mod. Phys., D24(10), p. 1550081.
- [43] PENROSE, R. (1965) "Zero rest mass fields including gravitation: Asymptotic behavior," Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond., A284, p. 159.
- [44] CAMPANELLI, M., C. O. LOUSTO, Y. ZLOCHOWER, and D. MERRITT (2007) "Maximum gravitational recoil," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, **98**, p. 231102, gr-qc/0702133.
- [45] BAKER, J. G., W. D. BOGGS, J. CENTRELLA, B. J. KELLY, S. T. MCWILLIAMS, M. C. MILLER, and J. R. VAN METER (2008) "Modeling kicks from the merger of generic black-hole binaries," *Astrophys. J.*, 682, pp. L29–L32, 0802.0416.
- [46] ASHTEKAR, A. "Implications of a positive cosmological constant for general relativity," *Reports on Progress in Physics*, to appear.
- [47] ASHTEKAR, A. and M. STREUBEL (1981) "Symplectic Geometry of Radiative Modes and Conserved Quantities at Null Infinity," *Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond.*, A376, pp. 585–607.
- [48] EINSTEIN, A. (1918) "Über Gravitationswellen," Sitzungsberichte der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften.
- [49] EDDINGTON, A. S. (1923) *The Mathematical theory of Relativity*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- [50] LANDAU, L. D. and E. M. LIFSHITZ (1951) Classical Theory of Fields, Addison-Wesley Press, Cambridge.
- [51] FOCK, V. A. (1959) Theory of Space Time and Gravitation, Pergamon Press, New York.
- [52] BLANCHET, L. and T. DAMOUR (1989) "Post-Newtonian generation of gravitational waves," Ann. Henri Poincaré A, 50, pp. 377–408.
- [53] POISSON, E. and C. WILL (2014) chap. 5.1 and 11, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

- [54] STRAUMANN, N. (2004) General Relativity with Applications to Astrophysics, chap. 4, Springer, Berlin.
- [55] C. W. MISNER, K. S. T. and J. A. WHEELER (1973) chap. 35-37, W. H. Freeman, San Fransisco.
- [56] CHRISTODOULOU, D. (1991) "Nonlinear nature of gravitation and gravitational wave experiments," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 67, pp. 1486–1489.
- [57] BIERI, L. and D. GARFINKLE (2014) "Perturbative and gauge invariant treatment of gravitational wave memory," *Phys. Rev.*, D89(8), p. 084039, 1312.6871.
- [58] DE VEGA, H. J., J. RAMIREZ, and N. G. SANCHEZ (1999) "Generation of gravitational waves by generic sources in de Sitter space-time," *Phys. Rev.*, D60, p. 044007, astro-ph/9812465.
- [59] CHU, Y.-Z. (2015) "Transverse traceless gravitational waves in a spatially flat FLRW universe: Causal structure from dimensional reduction," *Phys. Rev.*, **D92**(12), p. 124038, 1504.06337.
- [60] SCHMIDT, F. and L. HUI (2013) "Cosmic Microwave Background Power Asymmetry from Non-Gaussian Modulation," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, **110**, p. 011301, [Erratum: Phys. Rev. Lett.110,059902(2013)], **1210.2965**.
- [61] AGULLO, I. (2015) "Loop quantum cosmology, non-Gaussianity, and CMB power asymmetry," Phys. Rev., D92, p. 064038, 1507.04703.
- [62] ASHTEKAR, A., C. BEETLE, O. DREYER, S. FAIRHURST, B. KRISHNAN, J. LEWANDOWSKI, and J. WISNIEWSKI (2000) "Isolated horizons and their applications," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 85, pp. 3564–3567, gr-qc/0006006.
- [63] ASHTEKAR, A., C. BEETLE, and J. LEWANDOWSKI (2002) "Geometry of generic isolated horizons," *Class. Quant. Grav.*, **19**, pp. 1195–1225, gr-qc/0111067.
- [64] ASHTEKAR, A. and B. KRISHNAN (2004) "Isolated and dynamical horizons and their applications," *Living Rev. Rel.*, 7, p. 10, gr-qc/0407042.
- [65] KASTOR, D. and J. TRASCHEN "A positive energy theorem for asymptotically de Sitter spacetimes," *Classical and Quantum Gravity*, **19**(23), p. 5901.
- [66] SZABADOS, L. B. and P. TOD "A positive Bondi-type mass in asymptotically de Sitter spacetimes," *Classical and Quantum Gravity*, **32**(20), p. 205011.
- [67] HULSE, R. A. and J. H. TAYLOR (1975) "Discovery of a pulsar in a binary system," Astrophys. J., 195, pp. L51–L53.

- [68] TAYLOR, J. H. and J. M. WEISBERG (1982) "A new test of general relativity: Gravitational radiation and the binary pulsar PS R 1913+16," Astrophys. J., 253, pp. 908–920.
- [69] PETERS, P. C. and J. MATHEWS (1963) "Gravitational radiation from point masses in a Keplerian orbit," *Phys. Rev.*, 131, pp. 435–439.
- [70] HUGHES, S. A., S. DRASCO, E. E. FLANAGAN, and J. FRANKLIN (2005) "Gravitational Radiation Reaction and Inspiral Waveforms in the Adiabatic Limit," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, **94**, p. 221101.
- [71] THORNE, K. S. (1983) Gravitational Radiation, chap. Gravitational Radiation: An Introductory Review, North-Holland, Amsterdam.
- [72] MAGGIORE, M. (2007) Gravitational Waves. Vol. 1: Theory and Experiments, Oxford Master Series in Physics, Oxford University Press.
   URL http://www.oup.com/uk/catalogue/?ci=9780198570745
- [73] ISAACSON, R. A. (1968) "Gravitational Radiation in the Limit of High Frequency. I. The Linear Approximation and Geometrical Optics," *Phys. Rev.*, 166, pp. 1263-1271.
   URL http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.166.1263
- [74] PETERS, P. C. (1964) "Gravitational Radiation and the Motion of Two Point Masses," *Phys. Rev.*, **136**, pp. B1224-B1232.
   URL http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.136.B1224
- [75] HINDER, I., B. VAISHNAV, F. HERRMANN, D. SHOEMAKER, and P. LAGUNA (2008) "Universality and final spin in eccentric binary black hole inspirals," *Phys. Rev.*, **D77**, p. 081502, 0710.5167.
- [76] CHU, Y.-Z. (2017) "Gravitational Wave Memory In dS<sub>4+2n</sub> and 4D Cosmology," Class. Quant. Grav., 34(3), p. 035009, 1603.00151.
- [77] BIERI, L., D. GARFINKLE, and S.-T. YAU (2016) "Gravitational wave memory in de Sitter spacetime," *Phys. Rev.*, D94(6), p. 064040, 1509.01296.
- [78] TOLISH, A. and R. M. WALD (2016) "Cosmological memory effect," Phys. Rev., D94(4), p. 044009, 1606.04894.
- [79] DATE, G. and S. J. HOQUE (2016) "Cosmological Horizon and the Quadrupole Formula in de Sitter Background," 1612.09511.
- [80] ABAZAJIAN, K. N. ET AL. (2016) "CMB-S4 Science Book, First Edition," 1610.02743.
- [81] AUDLEY, H. ET AL. (2017) "Laser Interferometer Space Antenna," 1702.00786.
- [82] SETO, N., S. KAWAMURA, and T. NAKAMURA (2001) "Possibility of direct measurement of the acceleration of the universe using 0.1-Hz band laser interferometer gravitational wave antenna in space," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 87, p. 221103, astro-ph/0108011.
- [83] HUGHES, S. A. "Probing strong-field gravity and black holes with gravitational waves,".
- [84] ASHTEKAR, A. and M. STREUBEL (1981) "Symplectic Geometry of Radiative Modes and Conserved Quantities at Null Infinity," *Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond.*, A376, pp. 585–607.
- [85] RACZ, I. (2009) "Gravitational radiation and isotropic change of the spatial geometry," 0912.0128.
- [86] NEWMAN, E. T. and R. PENROSE (1968) "New conservation laws for zero rest-mass fields in asymptotically flat space-time," *Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond.*, A305, pp. 175–204.
- [87] CHRISTODOULOU, D. and S. KLAINERMAN (1993) "The Global nonlinear stability of the Minkowski space,".
- [88] STROMINGER, A. "How to grow hair on a black hole," Plenary talk at the GR21 conference, New York, July 14th 2016.
- [89] CHRUSCIEL, P. T. and E. DELAY (2002) "Existence of nontrivial, vacuum, asymptotically simple space-times," *Class. Quant. Grav.*, **19**, p. L71, gr-qc/0203053.
- [90] ASHTEKAR, A. (1987) Asymptotic Quantization, Bibliopolis, Naples.
- [91] DRAY, T. and M. STREUBEL (1984) "Angular momentum at null infinity," Class. Quant. Grav., 1(1), pp. 15–26.
- [92] BIERI, L. and D. GARFINKLE (2013) "An electromagnetic analogue of gravitational wave memory," Class. Quant. Grav., 30, p. 195009, 1307.5098.
- [93] ASHTEKAR, A. and A. MAGNON-ASHTEKAR (1982) "On the symplectic structure of general relativity," *Communications in Mathematical Physics*, 86(1), pp. 55–68.
- [94] SCHOEN, R. and S.-T. YAU (1981) "Proof of the positive mass theorem. 2." Commun. Math. Phys., 79, pp. 231–260.

- [95] (1982) "Proof that the Bondi mass is positive," Phys. Rev. Lett., 48, pp. 369–371.
- [96] MCLAUGHLIN, M. (2015) "Pulsar Timing Arrays," International Astronomical Union. Proceedings of the International Astronomical Union, 11, pp. 321–328.
- [97] COOK, G. B. "Initial Data for Numerical Relativity," Living Reviews in Relativity, (1), p. 5.
- [98] YORK, J. W., JR. (1973) "Conformally invariant orthogonal decomposition of symmetric tensors on Riemannian manifolds and the initial value problem of general relativity," J. Math. Phys., 14, pp. 456–464.
- [99] POISSON, E., Personal correspondence.
- [100] GUTH, A. H. (1981) "The Inflationary Universe: A Possible Solution to the Horizon and Flatness Problems," *Phys. Rev.*, **D23**, pp. 347–356.
- [101] ALBRECHT, A. and P. J. STEINHARDT (1982) "Cosmology for Grand Unified Theories with Radiatively Induced Symmetry Breaking," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 48, pp. 1220–1223.
- [102] LINDE, A. D. (1982) "A New Inflationary Universe Scenario: A Possible Solution of the Horizon, Flatness, Homogeneity, Isotropy and Primordial Monopole Problems," *Phys. Lett.*, **B108**, pp. 389–393.
- [103] (1983) "Chaotic Inflation," *Phys. Lett.*, **B129**, pp. 177–181.
- [104] LIDDLE, A. R. and D. H. LYTH (2000) Cosmological inflation and large scale structure.
- [105] MUKHANOV, V. (2005) Physical Foundations of Cosmology, Cambridge University Press, Oxford.
- [106] WEINBERG, S. (2008) Cosmology, Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- [107] SCHWARZ, D. J., C. J. COPI, D. HUTERER, and G. D. STARKMAN (2016)
  "CMB Anomalies after Planck," *Class. Quant. Grav.*, **33**(18), p. 184001, 1510.07929.
- [108] BONGA, B., B. GUPT, and N. YOKOMIZO (2016) "Inflation in the closed FLRW model and the CMB," JCAP, 1610(10), p. 031, 1605.07556.
- $[109] \longrightarrow (2017)$  "Tensor perturbations during inflation in a spatially closed Universe," *JCAP*, **1705**(05), p. 021, **1612.07281**.

- [110] ELLIS, G. F. R., S. J. STOEGER, WILLIAM R., P. MCEWAN, and P. DUNSBY (2002) "Dynamics of inflationary universes with positive spatial curvature," *Gen. Rel. Grav.*, **34**, pp. 1445–1459, gr-qc/0109023.
- [111] ELLIS, G. F. R., P. MCEWAN, S. J. STOEGER, WILLIAM R., and P. DUNSBY (2002) "Causality in inflationary universes with positive spatial curvature," *Gen. Rel. Grav.*, **34**, pp. 1461–1481, gr-qc/0109024.
- [112] MASSO, E., S. MOHANTY, A. NAUTIYAL, and G. ZSEMBINSZKI (2008)
  "Imprint of spatial curvature on inflation power spectrum," *Phys. Rev.*, D78, p. 043534, astro-ph/0609349.
- [113] BONGA, B. and B. GUPT (2016) "Inflation with the Starobinsky potential in Loop Quantum Cosmology," *Gen. Rel. Grav.*, **48**(6), p. 71, **1510.00680**.
- [114] —— (2016) "Phenomenological investigation of a quantum gravity extension of inflation with the Starobinsky potential," *Phys. Rev.*, D93(6), p. 063513, 1510.04896.
- [115] AGULLO, I., A. ASHTEKAR, and W. NELSON (2012) "A Quantum Gravity Extension of the Inflationary Scenario," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, **109**, p. 251301, 1209.1609.
- [116] BRAMANTE, J., J. KUMAR, E. NELSON, and S. SHANDERA "Cosmic variance of the spectral index from mode coupling," *JCAP*, (11), pp. 021–021, 1307.5083.
- [117] BONGA, B., S. BRAHMA, A.-S. DEUTSCH, and S. SHANDERA (2016) "Cosmic variance in inflation with two light scalars," *JCAP*, **1605**(05), p. 018, 1512.05365.
- [118] LEWIS, A., A. CHALLINOR, and A. LASENBY (2000) "Efficient computation of CMB anisotropies in closed FRW models," *Astrophys. J.*, **538**, pp. 473–476, astro-ph/9911177.
- [119] UZAN, J.-P., U. KIRCHNER, and G. F. R. ELLIS (2003) "WMAP data and the curvature of space," Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 344, p. L65, astro-ph/0302597.
- [120] EFSTATHIOU, G. (2003) "Is the low CMB quadrupole a signature of spatial curvature?" Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 343, p. L95, astro-ph/0303127.
- [121] LASENBY, A. and C. DORAN (2005) "Closed universes, de Sitter space and inflation," Phys. Rev., D71, p. 063502, astro-ph/0307311.

- [122] LUMINET, J. P., J. WEEKS, A. RIAZUELO, R. LEHOUCQ, and J. P. UZAN (2003) "Dodecahedral space topology as an explanation for weak wide - angle temperature correlations in the cosmic microwave background," *Nature*, 425, p. 593, astro-ph/0310253.
- [123] ADE, P. A. R. ET AL. (2016) "Planck 2015 results. XIII. Cosmological parameters," Astron. Astrophys., 594, p. A13, 1502.01589.
- [124] AGULLO, I., A. ASHTEKAR, and W. NELSON (2013) "Extension of the quantum theory of cosmological perturbations to the Planck era," *Phys. Rev.*, D87(4), p. 043507, 1211.1354.
- [125] —— (2013) "The pre-inflationary dynamics of loop quantum cosmology: Confronting quantum gravity with observations," *Class. Quant. Grav.*, **30**, p. 085014, 1302.0254.
- [126] ASHTEKAR, A., T. PAWLOWSKI, and P. SINGH (2006) "Quantum nature of the big bang," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, **96**, p. 141301, gr-qc/0602086.
- [127] (2006) "Quantum Nature of the Big Bang: Improved dynamics," Phys. Rev., D74, p. 084003, gr-qc/0607039.
- [128] ASHTEKAR, A. and P. SINGH (2011) "Loop Quantum Cosmology: A Status Report," Class. Quant. Grav., 28, p. 213001, 1108.0893.
- [129] KHOURY, J., B. A. OVRUT, P. J. STEINHARDT, and N. TUROK (2001) "The Ekpyrotic universe: Colliding branes and the origin of the hot big bang," *Phys. Rev.*, D64, p. 123522, hep-th/0103239.
- [130] GASPERINI, M. and G. VENEZIANO (2003) "The Pre big bang scenario in string cosmology," *Phys. Rept.*, 373, pp. 1–212, hep-th/0207130.
- [131] KHOURY, J., B. A. OVRUT, N. SEIBERG, P. J. STEINHARDT, and N. TUROK (2002) "From big crunch to big bang," *Phys. Rev.*, D65, p. 086007, hep-th/0108187.
- [132] KALLOSH, R., L. KOFMAN, A. D. LINDE, and A. A. TSEYTLIN (2001)
  "BPS branes in cosmology," *Phys. Rev.*, D64, p. 123524, hep-th/0106241.
- [133] BATTEFELD, D. and P. PETER (2015) "A Critical Review of Classical Bouncing Cosmologies," Phys. Rept., 571, pp. 1–66, 1406.2790.
- [134] ASHTEKAR, A., W. KAMINSKI, and J. LEWANDOWSKI (2009) "Quantum field theory on a cosmological, quantum space-time," *Phys. Rev.*, D79, p. 064030, 0901.0933.

- [135] ADE, P. A. R. ET AL. (2016) "Planck 2015 results. XX. Constraints on inflation," Astron. Astrophys., 594, p. A20, 1502.02114.
- [136] TAVERAS, V. (2008) "Corrections to the Friedmann Equations from LQG for a Universe with a Free Scalar Field," Phys. Rev., D78, p. 064072, 0807.3325.
- [137] SINGH, P. (2009) "Are loop quantum cosmos never singular?" Class. Quant. Grav., 26, p. 125005, 0901.2750.
- [138] ASHTEKAR, A. and B. GUPT (2015) "Generalized effective description of loop quantum cosmology," *Phys. Rev.*, D92(8), p. 084060, 1509.08899.
- [139] MEISSNER, K. A. (2004) "Black hole entropy in loop quantum gravity," *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 21, pp. 5245–5252, gr-qc/0407052.
- [140] DOMAGALA, M. and J. LEWANDOWSKI (2004) "Black hole entropy from quantum geometry," Class. Quant. Grav., 21, pp. 5233–5244, gr-qc/0407051.
- [141] SCHMIDT, F. and L. HUI (2013) "Cosmic Microwave Background Power Asymmetry from Non-Gaussian Modulation," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, **110**, p. 011301, [Erratum: Phys. Rev. Lett.110,059902(2013)], **1210.2965**.
- [142] AGULLO, I. (2015) "Loop quantum cosmology, non-Gaussianity, and CMB power asymmetry," Phys. Rev., D92, p. 064038, 1507.04703.
- [143] ADE, P. A. R. ET AL. (2015) "Planck 2015 results. XVII. Constraints on primordial non-Gaussianity," 1502.01592.
- [144] ALVAREZ, M. ET AL. (2014) "Testing Inflation with Large Scale Structure: Connecting Hopes with Reality," 1412.4671.
- [145] LINDE, A. D. and V. F. MUKHANOV (1997) "Nongaussian isocurvature perturbations from inflation," *Phys. Rev. D*, 56, pp. 535–539, astro-ph/9610219.
- [146] MOROI, T. and T. TAKAHASHI (2001) "Effects of cosmological moduli fields on cosmic microwave background," *Phys.Lett.*, B522, pp. 215–221, hep-ph/0110096.
- [147] LYTH, D. H. and D. WANDS (2002) "Generating the curvature perturbation without an inflaton," *Phys.Lett.*, B524, pp. 5–14, hep-ph/0110002.
- [148] ENQVIST, K. and M. S. SLOTH (2002) "Adiabatic CMB perturbations in prebig bang string cosmology," Nucl. Phys., B626, pp. 395–409, hep-ph/0109214.
- [149] DVALI, G., A. GRUZINOV, and M. ZALDARRIAGA (2004) "A new mechanism for generating density perturbations from inflation," *Phys. Rev. D*, 69, p. 023505, astro-ph/0303591.

- [150] ZALDARRIAGA, M. (2004) "Non-Gaussianities in models with a varying inflaton decay rate," Phys. Rev. D, 69, p. 043508, astro-ph/0306006.
- [151] NELSON, E. and S. SHANDERA (2013) "Statistical Naturalness and non-Gaussianity in a Finite Universe," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, **110**(13), p. 131301, 1212.4550.
- [152] NURMI, S., C. T. BYRNES, and G. TASINATO (2013) "A non-Gaussian landscape," *JCAP*, **1306**, p. 004, **1301.3128**.
- [153] LOVERDE, M., E. NELSON, and S. SHANDERA (2013) "Non-Gaussian Mode Coupling and the Statistical Cosmological Principle," *JCAP 06*, 024, 1303.3549.
- [154] LOVERDE, M. (2014) "Super cosmic variance from mode-coupling: A worked example," *Phys. Rev. D*, 89(2), p. 023505, 1310.5739.
- [155] BYRNES, C. T., S. NURMI, G. TASINATO, and D. WANDS (2013) "Implications of the Planck bispectrum constraints for the primordial trispectrum," *Europhys. Lett.*, **103**, p. 19001, 1306.2370.
- [156] DALAL, N., O. DORE, D. HUTERER, and A. SHIROKOV (2008) "The imprints of primordial non-gaussianities on large-scale structure: scale dependent bias and abundance of virialized objects," *Phys. Rev. D*, 77, p. 123514, 0710.4560.
- [157] BARTOLO, N., S. MATARRESE, M. PELOSO, and A. RICCIARDONE (2013) "Anisotropic power spectrum and bispectrum in the  $f(\phi)F^2$  mechanism," *Phys. Rev.*, **D87**, p. 023504, 1210.3257.
- [158] THORSRUD, M., D. F. MOTA, and F. R. URBAN (2014) "Local Observables in a Landscape of Infrared Gauge Modes," *Phys.Lett.*, **B733**, pp. 140–143, 1311.3302.
- [159] THORSRUD, M., F. R. URBAN, and D. F. MOTA (2014) "Statistics of Anisotropies in Inflation with Spectator Vector Fields," *JCAP*, **1404**, p. 010, **1312.7491**.
- [160] MALDACENA, J. M. (2003) "Non-Gaussian features of primordial fluctuations in single field inflationary models," JHEP, 0305, p. 013, astro-ph/0210603.
- [161] CREMINELLI, P. and M. ZALDARRIAGA (2004) "Single field consistency relation for the 3-point function," *JCAP*, **0410**, p. 006, astro-ph/0407059.
- [162] HINTERBICHLER, K., L. HUI, and J. KHOURY (2014) "An Infinite Set of Ward Identities for Adiabatic Modes in Cosmology," *JCAP*, **1401**, p. 039, 1304.5527.

- [163] JOYCE, A., J. KHOURY, and M. SIMONOVIĆ (2015) "Multiple Soft Limits of Cosmological Correlation Functions," JCAP, 01, p. 012, 1409.6318.
- [164] MIRBABAYI, M. and M. ZALDARRIAGA (2015) "Double Soft Limits of Cosmological Correlations," JCAP, 1503(03), p. 025, 1409.6317.
- [165] CHEN, X. and Y. WANG (2010) "Quasi-Single Field Inflation and Non-Gaussianities," JCAP, 1004, p. 027, 0911.3380.
- [166] (2010) "Large non-Gaussianities with intermediate shapes from quasisingle-field inflation," Phys. Rev. D, 81(6), pp. 1–5, 0909.0496.
- [167] SEFUSATTI, E., J. R. FERGUSSON, X. CHEN, and E. P. S. SHELLARD (2012) "Effects and Detectability of Quasi-Single Field Inflation in the Large-Scale Structure and Cosmic Microwave Background," *JCAP*, **1208**, p. 033, **1204.6318**.
- [168] NORENA, J., L. VERDE, G. BARENBOIM, and C. BOSCH (2012) "Prospects for constraining the shape of non-Gaussianity with the scale-dependent bias," *JCAP*, **1208**, p. 019, 1204.6324.
- [169] STAROBINSKY, A. A. and J. YOKOYAMA (1994) "Equilibrium state of a selfinteracting scalar field in the De Sitter background," *Phys. Rev. D*, 50, pp. 6357–6368, astro-ph/9407016.
- [170] PETRI, G. (2008) "A Diagrammatic Approach to Scalar Field Correlators during Inflation," 0810.3330.
- [171] BURGESS, C. P., L. LEBLOND, R. HOLMAN, and S. SHANDERA (2010)
  "Super-Hubble de Sitter Fluctuations and the Dynamical RG," *JCAP*, 1003, p. 033, 0912.1608.

## Vita Béatrice Bonga

Béatrice Bonga received her Bachelor of Arts degree in Psychology and Bachelor of Science degree in Physics, both summa cum laude, from Utrecht University in The Netherlands in 2010. During these studies, she also spent a semester at the University of California at Berkeley. Her passion for physics led her to pursue a masters in Theoretical Physics at Utrecht University, during which she conducted research on linearized quantum gravity under the supervision of Dr. Igor Khavkine and Prof. Renate Loll.

After obtaining her masters degree cum laude in 2012, she started her PhD at the Pennsylvania State University under the supervision of Prof. Abhay Ashtekar. She has worked on various topics including asymptotics with a positive cosmological constant in the context of gravitational radiation and topics in early universe cosmology.

Béatrice has received the Professor Stanley Shepherd Graduate Teaching Assistant Award in 2017 as well as the Graduate Teaching Assistant Award in 2014 from the Physics Department at Penn State. She has been invited to give seminars at various universities including Cambridge and Caltech and has been an invited speaker at two conferences. Her presentations have been recognized with several awards including the Hartle Award for best talk by a student during the GR21 conference in 2016 and the Peter Eklund Memorial Lectureship in 2015. Being passionate about physics outreach and communication, Béatrice co-founded the Physics Outreach Program at Penn State, gave talks at the local high school and nearby colleges and was selected to participate in ComSciCon (a conference about science communication) at Harvard University in 2015.

## List of publications

A. Ashtekar, B. Bonga, A. Kesavan, "Asymptotics with a positive cosmological constant. I. Basic framework" (*Class. Quantum Grav.* 32, 2015)

—, "Asymptotics with a positive cosmological constant: II. Linear fields on de Sitter space-time" (*Phys. Rev. D* 92, 2015)

—, "Asymptotics with a positive cosmological constant. III. The quadrupole formula" (*Phys. Rev. D* 92, 2015)

—, "Gravitational waves from isolated systems: Surprising consequences of a positive cosmological constant" (*Phys. Rev. Lett.* 116, 2016)

B. Bonga and B. Gupt, "Phenomenological investigation of a quantum gravity extension of inflation with the Starobinsky potential" (*Phys. Rev. D* 93, 2016)

—, "Inflation with the Starobinsky potential in Loop Quantum Cosmology" (*GRG* 48, 2016) B. Bonga, S. Brahma, A.-S. Deutsch and S. Shandera, "Cosmic variance in inflation with two light scalars" (*JCAP* 05, 2016)

B. Bonga, B. Gupt and N. Yokomizo, "Inflation in the closed FLRW model and the CMB" (*JCAP* 10, 2016)

—, "Tensor perturbations during inflation in a spatially closed Universe" (JCAP 05, 2017)

B. Bonga and J. Hazboun, "Power radiated by a binary system in a de Sitter Universe" (in preparation)

A. Ashtekar and B. Bonga, "On the conceptual confusion in the notion of transverse-traceless modes" (in preparation)